THE UNIVERSITY OF HULL

Minimally Invasive Treatment of Venous Insufficiency using Endovenous Laser Ablation

being a Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Medicine

in the University of Hull

by

Daniel Carradice MBChB MRCS (Eng) PG Cert Med US (Distⁿ) PGD Health Econ

September 2011

Prizes

Royal Society of Medicine Venous Forum / Vascular Society of Great Britain and Ireland – First Prize November 2008

Royal Society of Medicine Venous Forum – Third Prize April 2010

Royal Society of Medicine Venous Forum / Vascular Society of Great Britain and Ireland – First Prize November 2010

Publications

Carradice D, Chetter I. Endovenous laser ablation in the management of varicose veins. In: *Vascular and Endovascular Consensus Update* 2008. Ed Greenhalgh. BIBA Publishing. ISBN 978-0954468750

Carradice D, Chetter I. Laser venous interventions. *Vascular Disease Management* 2008; 6(2):13-18

Carradice D, Mekako A, Hatfield J, Chetter I. Randomized clinical trial of concomitant or sequential phlebectomy after endovenous laser therapy for varicose veins. *British Journal of Surgery* 2009; 96:369-375

Carradice D, Mazari FAK, Hatfield J, Mekako AI, Allgar V, Chetter I. Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of varicose veins and post-procedural morbidity. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery* 2010; 40(3):393-8

Carradice D, Mekako AI, Mazari FA, Samuel N, Hatfield J, Chetter IC. Randomized clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation compared with conventional surgery for great saphenous varicose veins. *British Journal of Surgery* 2011; 98:501-510

Carradice D, Mekako AI, Mazari FAK, Samuel N, Hatfield J, Chetter IC. Clinical and technical outcomes from a randomized clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation compared with conventional surgery for great saphenous varicose veins. *British Journal of Surgery* 2011; 98:1117-1123

Samuel N, Carradice D, Chetter I. Debate: Concomitant phlebectomy is essential following truncal endovenous ablation. In: *Vascular and Endovascular Challenges Update* 2010. Ed Greenhalgh. BIBA Publishing. ISBN 978-0-9544687-7-4

Carradice D, Mekako A, McCollum P, Chetter I. (Abstract) Endovenous laser therapy with concomitant or sequential phlebectomy: A randomised controlled trial (Early results). *British Journal of Surgery* 2008; 95(S6):6

Carradice D, Mekako A, McCollum P, Chetter I. (Abstract) Endovenous laser therapy with concomitant or sequential phlebectomy: A randomised controlled trial (3 month results). *International Angiology* 2008; 27(S1):8

Carradice D, Mekako A, McCollum P, Chetter I. (Abstract) Endovenous laser therapy with concomitant or sequential phlebectomy: A randomised controlled trial (1 year results). *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery* 2008.

Carradice D, Mekako A, Chetter I. (Abstract) A randomised trial of EVLT Vs surgery for varicose veins - Interim analysis. *British Journal of Surgery* 2009; 96(S1):14

Carradice D, Chetter I. (Abstract) Does increasing energy delivery during endovenous laser therapy affect complication rates or post procedural morbidity? *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery 2009; 8(S1):15*

Carradice D, Chetter I. (Abstract) A randomised trial of EVLT Vs surgery for varicose veins - Interim analysis. *British Journal of Surgery* 2009; 96(S5):45-46

Carradice D, Chetter I. (Abstract) Recurrent Varicose veins are more common following surgery than EVLT – Results of a randomised controlled trial: Hull Endovenous Laser Project (HELP-1). *British Journal of Surgery* 2010; 97(S1):13

Abstract

Background

Venous insufficiency is very common and causes significant quality of life (QoL) impairment. Conventional open surgery featuring junction ligation, stripping of the axial vein and phlebectomy is known to offer significant benefits over conservative management; resulting in improved QoL. Additionally this treatment has been shown to be highly cost-effective. Despite these advantages, surgery is associated with significant post-operative morbidity; in the form of pain and immobility, even in the absence of complications. Additionally, in the long term; high recurrence rates have marred these promising early results, eventually returning patients to their pre-operative state. Unsurprisingly recurrence is unpopular with patients and patient satisfaction has been observed to be disappointingly low.

At the end of the 20th century, new minimally invasive endovenous interventions were developed. Rapidly gaining popularity; it was hoped that they could address some of the limitations of surgery. Following initial cases series; the endothermal technique of endovenous laser ablation (EVLA) appeared to have the highest technical efficacy with a good safety record.

Objectives

Three studies were performed with the aim of perfecting the ablative procedure and evaluating it against the gold standard of conventional surgery. Study 1 was designed to establish the optimal management of saphenous tributaries and perforators following ablation of the saphenous axis.

Study 2 was designed to directly compare the outcomes of EVLA with surgery to establish whether EVLA can match the effectiveness of surgery, whilst addressing its limitations.

Study 3 was designed to explore the association between the magnitude of energy delivered during EVLA, procedural safety and periprocedural morbidity; in the context of evidence suggesting lower recanalisation rates following more aggressive use of laser energy.

Methods

Studies 1 and 2 were randomised clinical trials. Participants had primary, symptomatic, unilateral venous insufficiency, with isolated saphenofemoral junction incompetence, leading to reflux into the great saphenous vein (GSV). Study 1 randomised 50 patients to EVLA alone (Control) or EVLA with concomitant ambulatory phlebectomies (EVLTAP). Study 2 randomised 280 patients equally into groups receiving either surgery or EVLA. Outcomes were: QoL, Venous Clinical Severity Score (VCSS), technical success, requirement for secondary procedures, pain scores, time taken to return to normal function, recurrent varicose veins on clinical examination, patterns of reflux on duplex ultrasound examination, and the effect of recurrence on quality of life. Assessments were at 1, 6, 12 and 52 weeks after the procedure.

Study 3 used linear and logistic regression models to study the effect of energy delivery on outcome. The models controlled for age, gender, BMI, pre-operative QoL and vein dimension. The outcomes were QoL, complications, recovery time, pain scores and analgesia requirements. The sample size calculation established that 115 patients would be required to detect any significant relationship.

Results

Study 1: EVLTAP took longer, but significantly decreased the requirement for subsequent interventions. There was no impairment in immediate post-procedural pain or QoL with EVLTAP. Median (IQR) Venous Clinical Severity Score (VCSS) at 3 months was lower (better) for EVLTAP than for Control (0 (0-1) versus 2 (0-2); P < 0.001), with lower (better) disease specific QoL (Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire (AVVQ) scores) at 6 weeks (7.9 (4.1-10.7) versus 13.5 (10.9-18.1); P < 0.001) and 3 months (2.0 (0.4-7.7) versus 9.6 (2.2-13.8); P = 0.015). At 1 year, there were no differences in VCSS or AVVQ scores.

Study 2: Both groups had significant improvements in VCSS after treatment (P < 0.001), which resulted in improved disease-specific QoL (AVVQ, P < 0.001) and quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gain (P < 0.001). The pain and disability following surgery impaired normal function, with a significant decline in five of eight SF-36 domains (P < 0.001 to P = 0.029). Periprocedural QoL was relatively preserved following EVLA, leading to a significant difference between the two treatments in pain scores (P < 0.001), six of eight SF-36 domains (P = 0.029). As a result, surgical patients took longer to return to work and

normal activity (14 versus 3 days; P < 0.001). Complications were rare. Initial technical success was greater following EVLA: 99.3 versus 92.4% (P = 0.005). Surgical failures related mainly to an inability to strip the above-knee GSV. The clinical recurrence rate at 1 year was lower after EVLA: 4.0 versus 20.4% (P < 0.001). The number of patients needed to treat with EVLA rather than surgery to avoid one recurrence at 1 year was 6.3 (95 per cent confidence interval 4.0 to 12.5). 12 of 23 surgical recurrences were related to an incompetent below-knee GSV and ten to neovascularisation. Of five recurrences after EVLA, two were related to neoreflux in the groin tributaries and one to recanalisation. Clinical recurrence was associated with worse QoL (AVVQ scores) (P < 0.001).

Study 3: 232 patients were included. The mean (range) age was 50 (18-83) years. 63% were women. The mean (range) energy delivery was 89.8 (44.5-158.4) Jcm⁻¹. There was no significant effect on any outcome related to increasing energy delivery.

Conclusions

Concomitant phlebectomy with EVLA prolonged the procedure, but reduced the need for secondary procedures and significantly improved quality of life and the severity of venous disease. This supports a recommendation that phlebectomy is performed routinely in conjunction with EVLA.

EVLA was as effective as surgery for varicose veins, but importantly had lower periprocedural morbidity as evidenced by less negative impact on early postintervention QoL and furthermore clinical recurrence rates were also significantly lower than observed following conventional surgery. This suggests that EVLA with phlebectomy is superior to conventional surgery in the management of primary superficial venous insufficiency.

Study 3 clearly confirms that EVLA is a safe procedure and that for the range of energies studied, there was no evidence demonstrating an increase in complication rates or the periprocedural morbidity of EVLA.

These findings support the adoption of EVLA and concomitant phlebectomy as the gold standard treatment for primary superficial venous insufficiency.

Contents

Prizes	2
Publications	2
Abstract	5
List of Figures	16
List of Tables	20
Glossary of Abbreviations	22
Acknowledgements	24

Chapter 1 - Introduction	26
Opening Statement	26

1.1	The Venous System	26
His	story	26
An	natomy and Physiology	28

1.	2 Venous Insufficiency	.32
	Definition	.32
	The Scale of the Problem	.33
	Clinical Features	.33
	Patterns of Reflux	.36
	Quality of Life Impairment	.40
	Pathophysiology	.48
	The Pathogenesis of Primary Venous Insufficiency	.49
	The Pathogenesis of Chronic Venous Insufficiency	.55
	Epidemiology	.58
	Prevalence	.58
	Risk Factors and Associations	.62
	Age	.63
	Gender/Pregnancy	.68

Heredity	73
Geography/Race	75
Body Mass Index	77
Lifestyle	

1.3	The Management of Superficial Venous Insufficiency	79
As	ssessment	79
	The Clinical Assessment of Patients with Superficial Venous Insu	ıfficiency79
	Assessing the Quality of life Impairment Associated with Super- Insufficiency	
	Assessing Anatomical and Haemodynamic Dysfunction	
The	Treatment of Venous Insufficiency	
	Conservative Treatment	
	Medical Treatment	114
	Interventional Treatment	115

Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency 135

Study 3; Procedure refinement – Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of superficial venous insufficiency and post-procedural morbidity135

apter 2 – Patients and Methods137

Exclusion Criteria13	9
2.2 Randomisation14	0
Control Group14	0
EVLTAP Group14	0
Sample Size14	1
2.3 Interventions14	1
2.4 Outcomes	13
Clinical Outcomes14	13
Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes14	15
Duplex Assessment14	15
Patient Satisfaction14	8
Data Analysis14	19

Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency....149

2.5 Patients	149
Inclusion Criteria	150
Exclusion Criteria	151

2.6 Randomisation	152
Conventional Surgery Group	
EVLA Group	
Sample Size	

2.7 Interventions	154
Conventional Surgery Group	154
EVLA Group	155

2.8 Outcomes	157
Clinical Outcomes	157
Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes	160
Duplex Assessment	160
Patient Satisfaction	161
Data Analysis	161

162
164
165

2.10 Interventions......165

2.11	Outcomes	167
Clinic	al Outcomes	167
Healt	h Related Quality of Life Outcomes	168
Data An	alysis	169

2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis	170
Continuous data	170
Categorical data	172
Linear regression analysis (Study 3)	173
Logistic regression analysis (Study 3)	176

2.13	Ethics				177
------	--------	--	--	--	-----

Chapter 3 – Results	182
---------------------	-----

Study 1; Procedure Refinement – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser
ablation with concomitant versus selected sequential phlebectomy in the
treatment of venous insufficiency182
3.1 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis182
3.2 Clinical Outcomes185
Peri-procedural Outcomes185
Late Outcomes188
3.3 Quality of Life Outcomes190
Disease Specific Quality of Life190
Generic Quality of Life191
3.4 Patient Satisfaction197
Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser
ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency197
3.5 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis197
3.6 Clinical Outcomes201
Peri-procedural Outcomes201
Late Outcomes206
3.7 Quality of Life Outcomes211
Generic Quality of Life211
Disease Specific Quality of Life219
3.8 Patient Satisfaction222

Study 3; Procedure refinement – Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of superficial venous insufficiency and post-procedural morbidity223
3.9 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis223
3.10 Clinical Outcomes225
3.11 Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes228

Chapter 4 - Discussion	230
4.1 Effectiveness	231
4.2 Post-procedural Morbidity	235
4.3 Recurrence	236
4.4 Additional Findings	241
4.5 Critique	242
4.6 Further Avenues of Research	244
4.7 Conclusions	248

References	0
------------	---

List of Figures

Figure 1: Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire (AVVQ) scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade
Figure 2: Physical function scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic(CEAP) clinical grade43
Figure 3: Role limitation due to physical disability scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade
Figure 4: Bodily pain scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade
Figure 5: General health scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade
Figure 6: Vitality scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade
Figure 7: Euroqol index (QALY) scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade46
Figure 8: The Vicious Cycle of the pathophysiology of primary venous insufficiency
Figure 9: The revised CEAP classification 80
Figure 10: The Venous Clinical Severity Score 83
Figure 11: Scoring grid for question 1 of the Aberdeen varicose vein questionnaire
Figure 12: Questions 2-15 of the Aberdeen varicose veins questionnaire
Figure 13: The Short Form 36 Questionnaire (UK V2)
Figure 14: The Standard Gamble96
Figure 15: The Time Trade Off97

Figure 16: The EuroQol Time Trade Off Questionnaire
<i>Figure 17:</i> The right saphenofemoral junction (SFJ) in transverse section102
<i>Figure 18:</i> Duplex ultrasound: colour Doppler is superimposed upon the B-mode image
<i>Figure 19:</i> Pulse wave spectral Doppler demonstrating saphenofemoral incompetence (in longitudinal section)105
Figure 20: LASER – A narrow "beam" of photons, emitted "in phase" and of a single wavelength
Figure 21: CONSORT diagram showing flow of patients through the trial (Study 1)
Figure 22: Post-procedural pain scores from the day of the procedure (day 0) until day 6 (Study 1)
Figure 23: Clinical Severity of Venous Disease, using the Venous Clinical severity score, over time, by group (Study 1)
Figure 24: Disease Specific Quality of Life Impairment using the Aberdeen Varicose Veins Questionnaire, over time, by group (Study 1)191
Figure 25: SF-36 Physical Function, over time, by group (Study 1)192
Figure 26: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Physical Disability, over time, by group (Study 1)
Figure 27: SF-36 Bodily Pain, over time, by group (Study 1)193
Figure 28: SF-36 General Health, over time, by group (Study 1)194
Figure 29: SF-36 Vitality, over time, by group (Study 1)194
Figure 30: SF-36 Social Function, over time, by group (Study 1)195
Figure 31: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Emotional Problems, over time, by group (Study 1)

Figure 32: SF-36 Mental Health, over time, by group (Study 1)196
Figure 33: Euroqol Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 1)196
Figure 34: CONSORT diagram showing flow of patients through the trial (Study 2)
Figure 35: Post-procedural pain scores from the day of the procedure (day 0) until day 6 (Study 2)203
Figure 36: The proportion of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to control their pain in the first post-procedural week <i>(Study 2)</i> 204
Figure 37: Time taken to return to work and normal activities post procedure (Study 2)
Figure 38: Clinical Severity of Venous Disease, using the Venous Clinical severity score, over time, by group (Study 2)207
Figure 39: SF-36 Physical Function, over time, by group (Study 2)213
Figure 40: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Physical Disability, over time, by group (Study 2)
Figure 41: SF-36 Bodily Pain, over time, by group (Study 2)214
Figure 42: SF-36 General Health, over time, by group (Study 2)214
Figure 43: SF-36 Vitality, over time, by group (Study 2)215
Figure 44: SF-36 Social Function, over time, by group (Study 2)215
Figure 45: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Emotional Problems, over time, by group (Study 2)216
Figure 46: SF-36 Mental Health, over time, by group (Study 2)216
Figure 47: Euroqol Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 2)218
Figure 48: SF6D Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 2)219
18

Figure 49: Disease Specific Quality of Life Impairment using the Aberdeen Varicose
Veins Questionnaire, over time, by group (Study 2)220

Figure 52: Patient reported satisfaction with the cosmetic outcome and the overall treatment in those with and without clinical recurrence at 1 year (Study 2)223

List of Tables

Table 1 : The association between venous insufficiency and severity of venousdisease by venous system and individual vein.37
Table 2 : The association of venous insufficiency with severity of disease by systemand then each system by vein
Table 3 : The association of the extent of isolated great saphenous vein reflux with the symptoms and signs of venous insufficiency
Table 4 : Summary of studies of the estimated prevalence of varicose veins60
Table 5 : The prevalence of venous reflux >0.5s on DUS by age, gender and venoussegment
Table 6 : The prevalence of saphenous varicose veins by age and gender in theEdinburgh vein study64
Table 7 : The prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency by age and gender in theEdinburgh vein study
Table 8 : Independent Odds ratios for the association of proposed risk factors with varicose veins
Table 9 : Independent Odds ratios for the association of proposed risk factors withvaricose veins and chronic venous insufficiency66
Table 10 : The proportion of variance in the prevalence of varicose veins explainedby risk factor66
Table 11 : Independent Odds ratios for the association of proposed risk factorscomparing controls with varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency68
Table 12 : The prevalence of venous reflux >0.5s on DUS by gender and venoussegment in the Bonn Vein Study
Table 13 : The prevalence of varicose veins by gender and distribution71
Table 14 : The age standardised prevalence of varicose veins by people and locationin the South Pacific.7620

Table 15 : Baseline comparison of the groups (Study 1)185
Table 16: Post-procedural pain scores (Study 1) 187
Table 17 : Venous Clinical severity scores, over time by group (Study 1). 188
Table 18 : Baseline comparison of the groups (Study 2)
Table 19 : Post-procedural pain scores (Study 2)
Table 20 : The percentage of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to controltheir pain over the first post-procedural week, by group (Study 2)
Table 21 : Complications following Treatment (Study 2)205
Table 22 : The proportion of patients by group with clinical recurrence at 1 year(Study 2)
Table 23 : The association of patterns of reflux on DUS with clinical recurrence(Study 2)
Table 24 : Observed health related quality of life (Study 2) 217
Table 25 : Clinical and quality of life measures at baseline, 1 week and 6 weeks post-procedure (Study 3)
Table 26 : Results of a linear regression model analysing the effect of linear energydelivery on patient reported post-procedural pain scores (Study 3)
Table 27 : Results of a logistic regression model analysing the effect of linear energydelivery on the proportion of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to controltheir pain (Study 3)226
Table 28 : Results of a linear regression model analysing the effect of linear energy delivery on the time taken by patients to return to work and return to normal activities (Study 3)
Table 29 : Percentage of patients with complications (Study 3)

Glossary of Abbreviations

95% CI	95% confidence interval (See <i>p170</i>)
ASV	Anterior saphenous vein (See <i>p28</i>)
AVVQ	Aberdeen varicose veins questionnaire - disease specific quality of life instrument (See <i>p85</i>)
BMI	Body mass index
CVI	Chronic venous insufficiency (See <i>p33</i>)
DUS	Duplex ultrasound (See p100)
DVI	Deep venous insufficiency (See p36)
EQ5D	Euroqol utility index - generic quality of life instrument (See p90)
EVLA	Endovenous laser ablation
F-A	Friedman ANOVA - statistical test (See p170)
FET	Fisher's Exact Test - statistical test (See <i>p170</i>)
g	gram - unit of weight (may be prefixed by k - kilo, m - milli)
GA	General anaesthetic
GSV	Great saphenous vein (See <i>p28</i>)
IQR	Inter-quartile range (See <i>p170</i>)
J	Joule - unit of energy
I	litre - unit of volume (may be prefixed by m - milli)
m	metre - unit of length (may be prefixed by c - centi, m - milli, n - nano)
MWU	Mann Whitney U Test - statistical test (See p170)

NNT	Number needed to treat (See <i>p170</i>)
OR	Odds ratio (See <i>p170</i>)
qds	quater die sumendus (4 times per day)
QoL	Health related quality of life
RCT	Randomised clinical trial
RD	Risk difference (See <i>p170</i>)
RR	Relative risk (See p170)
S	second - unit of time
SF-36	Short form 36 UK version 1 profile - generic quality of life instrument (See <i>p90</i>)
SF6D	Single utility index (derived from SF-36) - generic quality of life instrument (See <i>p90</i>)
SFJ	Saphenofemoral junction (See <i>p28</i>)
SSV	Small saphenous vein (See <i>p28</i>)
SVI	Superficial venous insufficiency (See p36)
SW	Shapiro-Wilk - statistical test (See p170)
tds	ter die sumendus (3 times per day)
W	Watt - unit of power
WSR	Wilcoxon Signed Rank - statistical test (See <i>p170</i>)

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank my supervisor; Professor Chetter, for his ongoing support, advice and training, and additionally for believing in me; trusting me with this programme of research. I am also grateful to Anthony Mekako for all of his hard work in the early days of the venous research programme.

I would like to thank the whole of the Academic Vascular Research Unit in Hull for their kind support and friendship, particularly; Josie Hatfield for her support with duplex lists, Jenny Bryce for the outstanding tutelage in vascular ultrasound, Professor McCollum for his ongoing support and advice and Barbara McCloy for her help with the database. I would also like to thank my research fellow colleagues Hisham Abdulrahman, Risha Gohil, Junaid Khan, Fayyaz Mazari, Katherine Mockford, Nehemiah Samuel and George Smith for their ongoing support during my time in the Academic Vascular Surgical Unit.

I am indebted to the vascular clinical team for all of the great teaching, experience and support over the years: Mr Renwick, Professor Chetter, Professor McCollum, Mr Johnson and Mr Akomolafe. I am especially grateful to Mr Renwick and Professor Chetter for their extraordinary efforts to support my on-going surgical career, despite all of the hurdles of MMC; I can only hope that they are happy that my progress was worth their investment.

I would like to thank my family and friends for their support and for not forgetting me during these years of research. I would especially like to thank my Grandad; who at 95 still remains an inspiration, my Dad; who is always in my thoughts; with a smile, Mum; who was the first to put a book in my hands, Angela; my big Sister; always leading the way and always right! and Gary; for all the great food, drink, company, laughs and patience! I would like to remember those whom I have particularly neglected in recent months especially my fiancé; Vicki, whom I love more than I can say and my friends: Ruth, Tess, Paul and little Henry, Sarah, Alex, Alyson, Liz, Rory, Kate, Hannah, Lisa and Tab; I miss you all and look forward to catching up.

In addition, thank you to Diomed[®] / Angiodynamics[®] (Cambridge, UK), who provided 50% of a research nurse's salary over a 12 month period to facilitate these studies. This support was unconditional and the company had no involvement or influence in the design, data collection, data analysis, or dissemination of this research. In addition the company had no access to any of the documentation, data or analysis that is not available in the public domain. This relationship has been made clear whenever this work has been disseminated.

... "the only thing that is permanent is change"

Dr Charles Horace Mayo

Chapter 1 - Introduction

Opening Statement

The venous system itself, along with its associated diseases; is by its very nature variable and inconsistent. This chapter draws from over half a century of detailed research, but in many regards a clear understanding remains elusive. The aim of this introduction is to discuss the highest quality of evidence available, analysing for points of consensus and contradiction, in order to set the scene for three new studies. Each of these studies aims to answer a specific management question, with the intention of improving the care received by current and future suffers of venous disease.

1.1 The Venous System

History

An awareness of the importance of the circulatory system can be traced back as early as prehistoric times; where cave paintings of bison and mammoth display an indication of the anatomical position of the heart. A useful target for hunters; haemorrhage was quickly linked to death and as time passed, the flow of blood became linked to the fundamental concepts of life, spirituality and medicine¹.

The early writing on the circulation, present in the Ebers Papyrus (written around 1550BC; thought to be a transcription of a documents from around 3400BC), were

developed over time by giants such as Hippocrates and Galen, before the 17th Century science of William Harvey and Marcelo Malpighi established the basic structure of the circulatory system known today.

The first documented attempts at the treatment of varicose veins also come in the Ebers papyrus and noted that surgery upon "leg serpents" can result in fatal bleeding. Ambulatory hook phlebectomy was performed by the Romans in the first century and a primitive form of ligation and stripping described by Albucasis of Cordova towards the end of the first millennium. This technique was developed and popularised by Friedrich Trendeleburg at the end of the 19th century, where saphenous ligation led to around five weeks hospitalisation. The first varicose vein operation to be performed under anaesthetic was done so in Finland in 1897². Invagination stripping was introduced and developed by Keller and Mayo 15 years later^{3,4}. With the exception of the introduction of modern anaesthetic techniques, the concepts surrounding surgery for superficial venous insufficiency (SVI) changed little until the end of the 20th century.

Sclerotherapy was described by Chassaignac in 1855, but did not become popular until the middle of the 20th century and this was relatively short lived, due to high recurrence rates and side-effects. There was a renaissance of this approach with the development of foam sclerotherapy at the turn of the 21st century.

The management of leg ulcers again has its origins in ancient times with bandaging known to have been used since at least 3500BC⁵. In the fourth century BC, Hippocrates recommended regular cleaning, debridement and removal of excess

granulation tissue and noted that excess moisture was detrimental. He also observed that incisions made into skin with the changes of chronic venous insufficiency may result in ulcer formation. Celsus is thought to be the first to recommend compression of ulcers in the first century and despite many subsequent attempts at surgical techniques and topical treatment, nothing beyond compression to date has been shown to improve venous ulcer healing rates other than the treatment of active infection.

Anatomy and Physiology

Blood delivers oxygen, nutrients and hormones to the tissues whilst passing through the capillary network. Following this, deoxygenated blood carrying metabolites, leaves the capillaries; entering into the systemic venous tree. The peripheral venous system can be divided anatomically into the superficial venous system, which is located within the superficial tissues and the deep venous system, which typically accompanies the arterial tree, beneath fascial planes, deep in the body. The superficial veins drain into the deep system, either at junctions or via fascial perforating veins, and the deep veins then return blood to the right atrium of the heart. Venous anatomy is characteristically variable. The terminology used below is consistent with international consensus⁶.

Considering the lower limb, the deep venous system commences with the medial and lateral plantar veins in the sole of the foot. These unite behind the medial malleolus to form the posterior tibial vein, which ascends the leg adjacent to the posterior tibial artery. A similar arrangement is seen with the anterior tibial and peroneal veins, which commence as a confluence of the venae comitantes of their accompanying nominate artery and also ascend with the arteries until the three vessels to unite around the level of the knee to form the popliteal vein, which continues to become the superficial femoral vein (SFV), ascending onwards in the thigh adjacent to its artery. The profunda femoris vein commences deep in the thigh and accompanies its artery to the groin where it unites in the groin with the SFV to become the common femoral vein (CFV) and onwards through the iliac veins to the inferior vena cava and then the right atrium of the heart.

Far more anatomical variations exist within the superficial veins of the lower limb, but it usually contains 2 systems or axes. As the sole of the foot is often placed under significant pressure, the majority of the venous drainage of the foot is into the dorsal venous arch, running in the subcutaneous tissues over the metatarsal heads. The medial end of this arch drains into the first axis: the great saphenous vein (GSV). This is the longest vein in the body and the most frequently affected by superficial insufficiency. The GSV passes anterior to the medial malleolus and ascends the leg accompanied by the saphenous nerve in the superficial tissues medial to the tibia, looping posteriorly at the level of the medial condyle of the femur and continuing in the medial thigh. In the groin, it unites with tributaries corresponding to the arterial branches of the common femoral artery, before piercing the cribiform facia covering the saphenous opening (approximately 3cm below and lateral to the pubic tubercle) and terminates by draining into the CFV at the saphenofemoral junction (SFJ). Throughout its course the GSV unites variably

with other superficial tributaries. The anterior (accessory) saphenous vein (ASV) is one of the most common. This is often seen originating around the lateral border of the knee, although sometimes originates as low as the lateral end of the dorsal venous arch. Occasionally this vein may also course down the medial aspect of the thigh, anterolateral to the GSV following its course. In this instance its origin is typically a confluence of small tributaries around the knee. There is usually an inline GSV axis passing uninterrupted from the foot (in some cases this may be hypoplastic), but this pattern of ASV is commonly mistaken for the GSV itself (Some surgeons will call this a duplex GSV; a true duplex GSV is rare). The ASV may drain into the GSV in the thigh at any point from the SFJ down, but is typically at or near the junction itself. Another variable tributary of note is the Giacomini vein, which is discussed below.

The small saphenous vein (SSV) originates from the lateral side of the dorsal venous arch and accompanies the sural nerve as it passes posterior to the lateral malleolus, then upwards in the posterior midline of the leg. Its termination commonly occurs by piercing the fascia of the popliteal fossa to drain into the popliteal vein at the saphenopopliteal junction (SPJ), however this junction is highly variable and the vein may terminate as low as the mid calf. The SSV may extend cranially beyond the SPJ; in which case it is known as either a cranial extension of the SSV which terminates by piercing the fascia in the posterior thigh to drain into the deep system or the Giacomini vein which communicates with the GSV system occasionally joining the GSV at or about the SFJ. In some cases, the

SSV doesn't terminate at or below the popliteal fossa (i.e there is no junction with the deep venous system), but continues on as described above.

The purpose of the systemic venous system is primarily to return blood back to the heart so that it can be delivered into the pulmonary circulation. The systemic venous system contains approximately 60% of the total blood volume with an average pressure of around 5-10 mmHg. Mechanical factors (discussed below), alongside the autonomic nervous and endocrine systems, control the rate at which blood is delivered to the right atrium. Through its effects upon myocardial contractility via the Starling mechanism; venous return is one of the factors responsible for determining cardiac output.

The mechanical factors at work are the muscle and respiratory "pumps." As most venous flow is against gravity; these pumps are necessary to allow successful antegrade flow towards the heart. The peripheral deep veins run in proximity to skeletal muscle. During standing without skeletal muscle activity, venous pressures in the legs are determined by the hydrostatic component and capillary flow, and they may reach 80 to 90 mm Hg⁷. Contraction of these muscles, compresses the relatively thin walled veins, resulting in flow within the vessel. Even very small leg movements can provide this important pumping action. Additionally during inspiration, expansion of the volume of the thorax results in a decrease in intra-thoracic pressure, also resulting in antegrade venous flow. Competent venous valves ensure that venous blood flows toward the heart, thereby emptying the deep and superficial venous systems and reducing venous pressure, usually to less than 30 mm Hg⁷.

The success of these mechanisms relies upon the valves found in healthy veins, preventing retrograde flow and these valves are variable in number and location. There are typically more valves in the lower limb than in the upper limb, which seems intuitive as there is a shorter column of blood below the heart upon which gravity will act; promoting retrograde flow. In the superficial system; the GSV has a median of 6 valves with a range of 4-25 in its full length⁸. 85% of people have a valve within 2-3cm of the SFJ⁸. The SSV has a median of 7 valves, with a range of 4-13⁹. In general the number of valves in the lower limb also tends to decrease above the knee and in the deep system; the CFV and external iliac veins have only one valve between them in about 63% of cases⁹, whilst in 17-37% there is no valve between the CFV and the heart¹⁰⁻¹².

1.2 Venous Insufficiency

Definition

Venous insufficiency, otherwise known as incompetence or reflux, occurs when the veins become diseased, interfering with the normal mechanisms of antegrade flow. This failure of efficient venous return, coupled with turbulent and retrograde flow within the vessels results in a relative venous hypertension.

Venous hypertension promotes the development of a spectrum of clinical syndromes from simple varicose veins to ulceration and these syndromes are

associated with symptoms, which impair a sufferer's health related quality of life (QoL).

The Scale of the Problem

Venous disease is one of the most common conditions facing western health care systems (See: *Prevalence p58*). This high prevalence along with the chronic nature of its complications, such as venous ulceration, leads to extremely high costs to society. The direct costs account for 1-3% of the entire healthcare budget¹³⁻¹⁵. In the USA alone, treatment of venous ulcers costs around \$3 billion per year¹⁶.

Clinical Features

Lower limb venous insufficiency causes a relative venous hypertension, which through the proposed mechanisms outlined below (see *Pathophysiology*, p48) results in pathological, clinically evident features. Clinical studies have clearly shown this association¹⁷⁻²³ and have related the number of incompetent venous systems to the clinical severity of disease^{19,21-23}.

The clinical features of venous insufficiency lie on a spectrum of severity, although this spectrum is by no means linear or continuous and clinical features may not be cumulative or additive; some patients may present with severe features in the absence of lesser findings²⁴. The following clinical features are commonly seen (these definitions are consistent with international consensus²⁵):

- **Telangectasia** (thread veins, spider veins, and hyphen webs) These represent tiny intradermal venules less than 1mm in diameter
- Reticular vein small dilated "bluish" subdermal vein between 1 and
 2.9mm in diameter, usually tortuous, can be difficult to distinguish this from a normal subdermal vein in someone white thin transparent skin
- Varicose vein subcutaneous dilated vein 3mm in diameter or larger. They are frequently elongated and tortuous, with intermittent "blowouts", but are defined by the presence of reflux and may be tubular in morphology
- Corona phlebectatica (malleolar flare) a fan shaped pattern of telangectasia on the ankle or foot. Thought to be an early sign of advanced venous disease
- Oedema increased volume of fluid in the skin and soft tissues of the leg.
 Commonly starts distally and moves more proximally with increasing venous dysfunction. Classically this is "pitting oedema", with firm digital pressure leaving an indentation in the soft tissues
- Eczema an erythematous dermatitis, often appears minor, although may be associated with significant itching and discomfort. In extreme cases it may progress to blistering and weeping

- Pigmentation (haemosiderosis) a brownish discolouration of the skin, usually permanent, this is usually seen around the ankle, but is also seen in proximity to varicose veins and incompetent perforators
- Lipodermatosclerosis (LDS) chronic inflammation and fibrosis of the skin and subcutaneous tissues, resulting in a tight, contracted, "woody" leg on examination. Occasionally results in significant contractures of the Achilles tendon. This is a sign of severe chronic venous disease
- Atrophy blanche localised areas of atrophic, white skin, often surrounded by telangectasia and pigmentation. Some authors distinguish this from the white scarring left by ulceration, others do not. Either way this is a sign of severe chronic venous disease
- Venous ulcer full-thickness skin loss, usually around the ankle, which fails to heal spontaneously and is propagated by continuing venous hypertension and the changes associated with chronic venous disease

Eczema, pigmentation, LDS and atrophy blanche are often referred to as trophic skin changes, whilst the presence of oedema, eczema, pigmentation, LDS, atrophy blanche and ulceration are usually implied by the use of the term chronic venous insufficiency (CVI).

Typically ulcers start with trivial wounds but tend to be stubborn, chronic wounds; difficult to heal and prone to relapse. In a UK based population study, the median duration of ulceration was 9 months, 20% of ulcers had not healed in 2 years, and 66 percent of patients had recurrent episodes of ulceration lasting longer than five years²⁶.

The clinical classification systems, alongside the symptoms and QoL impairment associated with venous insufficiency, will be discussed later (See: *Quality of Life Impairment, p40, The Clinical Assessment of Patients with Superficial Venous Insufficiency, p79 and* Assessing the Quality of life Impairment Associated with Superficial Venous Insufficiency, p84).

Patterns of Reflux

Venous insufficiency may involve the superficial venous system (superficial venous insufficiency – SVI), the deep venous system (deep venous insufficiency – DVI) or both causing mixed venous insufficiency.

It is clear that SVI is more common than DVI or mixed insufficiency and that when the superficial veins are considered, the GSV is affected in many more cases than either the SSV or non-saphenous veins.

In a study of women with uncomplicated varicose veins²⁷; of 590 limbs, 80% had GSV or SSV reflux. 77% had GSV reflux (in 60% this was isolated), 20% had SSV reflux (but only 3% were isolated) and 17% had combined reflux. Additionally non-saphenous reflux was noted in 20%. Deep venous reflux was only noted in 2% and perforating vein reflux in 23%.
This pattern was also demonstrated at a population level in the Bonn vein study²² (*Table 1*) and confirmed in a patient population by Myers et al²³ (*Table 2*).

	e of flux	No disease (n=290)	Thread veins (n=1777)	VV (n=432)	Oedema (n=407)	Trophic skin changes (n=86)	Ulcer (n=22)
System	Superficial	2.4 (1.0-4.9)	5.0 (4.1-6.2)	49.2 (44.3-54.1)	24.1 (19.9-28.6)	67.1 (55.8-77.1)	72.7 (49.8-89.3)
Sy	Deep	16.6 (12.5-21.3)	9.8 (8.4-11.2)	18.8 (15.2-22.8)	12.3 (9.3-15.9)	24.1 (15.4-34.7)	54.5 (32.2-75.6)
Superficial vein	GSV	2.1 (0.8-4.4)	3.4 (2.6-4.3)	32.2 (27.7-36.9)	16.5 (13.0-20.6)	41.7 (31.0-52.9)	57.1 (34.0-78.2)
Superfi	SSV	0.0 (0.0-2.5)	0.6 (0.3-1.1)	8.6 (6.2-11.7)	3.0 (1.5-5.1)	12.9 (6.6-22.0)	22.7 (7.8-45.4)
	FV	13.1 (9.4-17.5)	6.3 (5.2-7.5)	10.0 (7.3-13.2)	6.9 (4.6-9.8)	12.8 (6.6-21.7)	36.4 (17.2-59.3)
Deep vein	PV	3.8 (1.9-6.7)	3.5 (2.7-4.5)	9.7 (7.1-12.9)	6.6 (4.4-9.5)	12.9 (6.6-22.0)	36.4 (17.2-59.3)
	PTV	0.0 (0.0-1.3)	0.2 (0.1-0.6)	0.5 (0.1-1.7)	0.5 (0.1-1.8)	3.6 (0.7-10.1)	25.0 (8.7-49.1)

Table 1: The association between venous insufficiency and severity of venous disease by venous system and individual vein (as a percentage (95%CI))²². These figures are irrespective of the coexistence of insufficiency elsewhere. VV – uncomplicated varicose veins, GSV – great saphenous vein, SSV – small saphenous vein, FV – femoral vein, PV – popliteal vein, PTV – posterior tibial vein

S	ite of Reflux	Uncomplicated VV	LDS	Ulcer
	Superficial only	429 (55%)	27 (39%)	36 (38%)
System	Deep only	12 (2%)	5 (7%)	8 (8%)
	Superficial and deep	137 (18%)	24 (34%)	46 (48%)
Currentiaie I	GSV only	327 (58%)	29 (57%)	33 (40%)
Superficial vein	SSV only	104 (18%)	9 (18%)	21 (26%)
vem	GSV and SSV	135 (24%)	12 (25%)	28 (34%)
	CFV	95 (61%)	14 (48%)	30 (56%)
Deep vein	SFV	59 (38%)	11 (38%)	27 (50%)
Deep vein	PV	79 (51%)	12 (41%)	33 (61%)
	PTV	33 (21%)	12 (41%)	24 (44%)

Table 2: The association of venous insufficiency with severity of disease by system and then each system by vein²³ (as number of patients (percentage)). VV – varicose veins, LDS – lipodermatosclerosis, GSV – great saphenous vein, SSV – small saphenous vein, CFV – common femoral vein, SFV – superficial femoral vein, PV – popliteal vein, PTV – posterior tibial vein

The methodology of the second study was such that many patients with obvious GSV reflux on hand-held Doppler were excluded (as they did not go on to have DUS mapping prior to intervention) and therefore the authors believe that the true rates of GSV insufficiency will be higher with a smaller proportion attributable to the SSV.

Studies of isolated SVI have unsurprisingly shown the same patterns; with 67-86% of patients having GSV insufficiency (48-60% in isolation) and 3-33% having isolated SSV insufficiency^{19,21,27-32}. Currently, there is no explanation for why the GSV is affected more commonly than the SSV. Some authors suggest this may be due to the greater number of tributaries draining into the GSV and the higher number of valves in the SSV (per unit length; each vein contains a similar number of valves) may be responsible^{19,33,34}.

The degree of reflux influences the magnitude of venous hypertension and is therefore associated with a worsening in clinical severity. The Bonn vein study, the Edinburgh vein study and Myers et al all demonstrated that increasing numbers of insufficient trunks are associated with clinical severity^{17,22,23}. Increases in the diameter of the trunks themselves is also associated with increased severity²¹, as is the length of the incompetent segment within the vein¹⁹ (*Table 3*).

Reflux in particular segments of vein is especially important as demonstrated by the greater association of CVI with below knee GSV insufficiency¹⁹ (*Table 3*) and SFJ, SPJ and perforator incompetence^{21,23}.

Extent of reflux	Ache	Swelling	Skin Changes	Ulceration
Above knee only	11 (46%)	8 (33%)	1 (4%)	0
Below knee only	12 (57%)	13 (62%)	10 (48%)	0
Full Length	63 (81%)	71 (91%)	42 (58%)	6 (8%)
Total	86 (70%)	92 (75%)	53 (43%)	6 (5%)

 Table 3: The association of the extent of isolated great saphenous vein reflux with the symptoms

 and signs of venous insufficiency

Previously it was thought that venous ulceration was due to secondary DVI, but a meta-analysis of 13 studies of 1153 legs with venous ulceration found isolated SVI in 45%, isolated DVI in 12% and 43% had reflux in both, confirming that SVI has an important part to play in the pathogenesis³⁵. This has important implications when considering the treatment of venous ulceration, as SVI is eminently amenable to treatment (See *Interventional Treatment, p115*).

Quality of Life Impairment

Venous insufficiency rarely threatens a patient's life. The rationale for intervention therefore must be with the aim of improving QoL. Consequently it is of paramount importance that the QoL impairment associated with SVI is investigated to understand the nature of this association, whether this impairment is addressed by intervention, how to select which patients will benefit and whether such improvements are robust over time.

Patients with SVI complain of a range of symptoms; which are often fairly nonspecific and it can be challenging to delineate which of these symptoms are related specifically to their venous insufficiency. Similar symptoms are also common in the background population who do not have demonstrable insufficiency. This issue was highlighted and rationalised during population level studies. Early work was fairly crude and was undertaken prior to the widespread use of validated disease specific QoL analysis in this area. The focus of such studies was to link simple physical symptoms to venous disease, rather than a specific quantification of the strength of this association, or the contribution of individual elements to the overall morbidity and impact upon a sufferer's daily life and career. Functional and psychosocial issues were not addressed. Typically venous symptoms are worse when the legs are dependant, particularly when standing for long periods and are usually relieved on elevation. This clearly has occupational implications. The Edinburgh vein study studied patients randomly drawn from the general population³⁶. They found that symptoms typically associated with venous disease were common, increased with age and were significantly more prevalent in women. For example 44.9% of women with no evidence of varicose veins complained of aching legs. Nonetheless, symptoms were shown to be more common with worsening degrees of varicose veins, particularly aching, heaviness and itching. The strength of this association was weak, particularly in men and the authors concluded that history taking alone was no enough to gauge who would and would not benefit from treatment. This analysis relied upon very simple questionnaire outcomes; there was no detailed enquiry of the QoL impairment and no validated QoL assessment scores were used. Some of the patients without clinically obvious varicose veins may have had early subclinical disease with underlying insufficiency which had not yet manifested itself in varicose veins.

Another population based study found a stronger association and was able to quantify this; varicose veins were an independent risk factor for "venous symptoms" OR 2.37 (1.19-4.72) – men and 2.11 (1.43-3.13) – women³⁷. The extent of actual reflux seen on DUS has also been linked to the proportion of patients reporting symptoms (*Table 3*, p39)¹⁹.

Women are significantly more likely to report symptoms than men (51.3% of women compared with 20.4% of men)³⁷; which has also been noted on QoL modelling, where women reported a greater disease specific QoL impairment than men, controlling for the clinical severity of disease and other demographic and

anatomical factors³⁸. This is perhaps the motivation behind women presenting earlier and in greater numbers, for treatment.

Validated instruments designed to study QoL have been developed and have offered much more insight into the nature of the QoL impairment associated with venous disease. The instruments themselves will be discussed in detail in a later section (See *Assessing the Quality of life Impairment Associated with Superficial Venous Insufficiency p84*). Detailed study using such instruments has demonstrated not just the physical symptoms and disability, but also the emotional impact; leading in some cases to depression and social isolation, particularly in advanced disease³⁹⁻⁴¹.

Large studies have linked venous disease to a marked deterioration in QoL, which becomes more profound with increasing severity^{42,43}. A QoL modelling study of 561 patients⁴⁴ clearly demonstrated that increasing severity of disease had a greater impact upon a range of QoL measures (*Figure 1 - Figure 7*) (For details of these outcome measures and CEAP clinical grading see *The CEAP Classification p80 and Assessing the Quality of life Impairment Associated with Superficial Venous Insufficiency p84*)



Figure 1: Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire (AVVQ) scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade. *P < 0.001, †P = 0.006 (intergroup Mann–Whitney U testing with Bonferroni correction). Higher AVVQ scores represent worse disease specific QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 2: *Physical function scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade.* Lower physical function scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 3: Role limitation due to physical disability scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade. Lower role-physical scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 4: Bodily pain scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade. Lower bodily pain scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 5: *General health scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade.* Lower general health scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 6: *Vitality scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade.* Lower vitality scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.



Figure 7: Euroqol index (QALY) scores by Clinical aEtiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (CEAP) clinical grade. Lower EQ5D scores represent worse QoL⁴⁴.

Disease specific QoL measurement (in this case with the AVVQ) as the name implies, is the most sensitive to the direct QoL impairment associated with the disease itself. It is interesting to note that even with a sample size this large, there was no appreciable difference between patients with uncomplicated varicose veins (C2) and those with skin changes short of ulceration (C3 & C4). This was an important finding, as it decouples objective clinical severity from the impairment in QoL resulting from these grades of disease. Another study found similar results and also discovered that QoL impairment could not be predicted from haemodynamic outcomes such as venous refill times⁴⁵. This leads to the conclusion that patients cannot be selected for intervention based upon any clinician observed outcome in common use currently, but the decision must be made based upon the patient reported symptoms and their consequent impairment of health related QoL.

When considering the generic scores, the QoL impairment was observed in predominantly physical (rather than psychological) domains. Cosmetic concern is most closely associated with mental health⁴⁶, however this domain was not primarily affected in this and other studies⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. This domain was unaffected in this study. With regard to index utility scores (EQ5D), a patient with uncomplicated varicose veins will experience a loss of 0.7 (95% CI 0.3 to 1.2) QALYs over 10 years (undiscounted) compared with someone in full health, if left untreated. This rises to 1.0 (0.5 to 1.6) QALYs with skin changes and 2.0 (0.5 to 3.6) QALYs with venous ulceration. These results are of a clinically significant magnitude⁴⁹. The REACTIV trial⁵⁰ demonstrated a 1-year improvement in EQ-5D scores of 0.1 following surgery, suggesting that the estimated morbidity observed in the present analysis was indeed reversible. To contextualize these results, patients with symptomatic disease can have bodily pain scores comparable to those of reference patients with recent acute myocardial infarction; whilst those patients with venous ulceration can suffer physical function and role limitation comparable to those in patients with congestive cardiac failure or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease⁵¹. Such profound QoL impairment has also be noted by other authors⁵² and provides a clear mandate for the development and application of interventions to address this suffering and increase the health and well-being of the population.

Pathophysiology

A normal venous system depends on the integrity of the valves, vein wall and the haemodynamics of venous blood flow. These components are interdependent and the disruption of one affects the integrity of the others⁵³.

Insufficiency is the result of valvular dysfunction permitting retrograde venous flow in the leg. The aetiology may be congenital or secondary to thrombosis, but the vast majority of cases have no clear underlying cause and are said to be primary (at least 80% of cases⁵⁴). As disease severity increases, the aetiology and the pathophysiology become increasingly multifactorial, for instance in venous ulcer disease, the association of previous DVT may be as high as 32%³⁵.

Congenital causes include Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome (manifesting as varicose veins, limb hypertrophy and dermal capillary haemangioma). Such patients have a range of venous abnormalities including atresia, agenesis, valvular incompetence and venous aneurysms. Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome, along with other congenital disorders associated with venous insufficiency is rare⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷.

Whilst insufficiency is the most common cause of venous dysfunction, venous obstruction may also exist in isolation or in conjunction with it. Obstruction may be mechanical or functional (in the case of muscle pump failure). True mechanical obstruction is very rare, being involved in less than 0.2% of cases²³.

The Pathogenesis of Primary Venous Insufficiency

The descending theory is the classical hypothesis of the pathogenesis of primary venous insufficiency. This constitutes a mechanical failure of the junctional valvular structure, thought to be caused by back pressure acting on a background of years of battling against gravity in a bipedal gait, perhaps exacerbated by increased intra-abdominal pressure, secondary to constipation, pregnancy or chronic cough. After the proximal valves fail, increasing pressure is then propagated down the vein's axis causing dilatation and degradation of the vein and subsequent valves, which fail one after another. This appears to explain the most commonly seen patterns of SVI and is supported by pathological evidence of absence, deformity and distortion of the valves at a macroscopic level^{58,59}, in addition to structural changes and inflammatory infiltration^{60,61} at a cellular level.

The descending theory however, fails to explain some inconsistencies in the patterns of reflux observed. Although it is common to see incompetence at the SFJ with reflux going down the GSV, it is also common to observe contradictory patterns^{20,62}:

- Varicose veins with no incompetence in the trunk, junction or perforator
- Axial incompetence and dilatation below competent valves

In 1 study, 24% of 139 limbs with SVI had saphenous vein trunk or tributary reflux in the absence of an incompetent junction or perforator⁶³. In the Bonn vein study; a large population based epidemiological study, around half of those with uncomplicated varicose veins had no trunk insufficiency demonstrated²². If left,

such patterns can be seen to progress proximally as well as distally³⁰. The concept of insufficiency starting low in the leg and propagating proximally is known as the ascending theory of venous insufficiency.

This alternate theory cannot be explained by the proposed mechanism of a primary mechanical failure of the junctional valve and recent research has started to uncover a different, more intricate mechanism in action.

The acute effects of increased venous pressure have been studied in animal models. In rats, production of an arteriovenous fistula between the femoral artery and vein abruptly increased the pressure in the femoral vein to approximately 90 mm Hg. Although the valves were stretched immediately by the increased pressure, reflux did not occur until at least two days later and then increased with time in association with features of progressive inflammation. This process culminated in morphologic changes in the valves; there were reductions in leaflet height and width, and some valves disappeared. This suggests that valves can tolerate high pressures for limited periods, but when there is prolonged pressure-induced inflammation, valve remodelling, loss and reflux occur⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶.

Inflammation plays a key role in the pathogenesis of primary venous insufficiency. Rather than being a secondary change, it is possible that this may be a significant driver of the process.

A vicious cycle exists (*Figure 8*): inflammation results in structural changes in the valves and the veins wall; weakening them. This in turn causes incompetence, precipitating venous hypertension, which then drives further inflammation. This

cycle can be initiated at any point in the venous system, but is often multifocal, with gradual propagation over time.



Figure 8: The Vicious Cycle of the pathophysiology of primary venous insufficiency

Inflammation and Degradation of the Venous Structure

Prolonged high pressure on the venous endothelium causes an imbalance in its endogenous humoral control of venous tone, resulting in relaxation⁶⁷⁻⁷⁰. Over distension also causes endothelial cells to release inflammatory mediators and growth factors^{62,69,71,72}. Mast cells, macrophages and leukocytes are attracted to these areas of inflammation^{64-66,73-75}, releasing superoxide anions and proteases which act to break down the extracellular matrix^{62,72}, undermining the structural integrity of the vein wall. The growth factors initiate remodelling of the structure of the vein wall^{62,69,72,76}, which becomes stiffer and less elastic due to smooth muscle cell proliferation, collagen imbalance⁷⁷ (more type I, less type III) and a reduction in the elastin content of the media⁷⁸⁻⁸². This is compounded by fragmentation of the collagen and elastic laminae⁸²⁻⁸⁷. The smooth muscle cells themselves are also dysfunctional, with impaired contractile function, dedifferentiation and structural disorganisation^{88,89}. These processes may be mediated by dysfunctional apoptosis⁵³ and it is this patchy distribution of stiffened, inelastic media alternating with structurally compromised, fragmented media, prone to distension, which gives varicose veins their classical appearance.

Further damage to the extracellular matrix is mediated by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). In health, the structural matrix of the vein is modelled by the competing actions of MMPs and their tissue inhibitors (TIMPs)^{68,69,90,91}. MMPs break down the constituents of the extracellular matrix^{68,91} and reduce venous tone⁹². Normal homeostasis depends on balancing

the actions of MMPs and TIMPs, but inflammation and vein wall tension⁹²⁻⁹⁴ causes imbalance of this mechanism, resulting in varicose veins^{64-66,91}.

Triggering the Cycle

It is unclear what factors are responsible for the initiation of the pathological cycle of venous insufficiency, but it is possible that venous stasis and hypertension results in venous wall hypoxia, mechanical stress and changes in shear stress and mechanical load^{62,72}.

Venous stasis has 2 elements; increasing pressure and absence of normal flow. When a rat mesenteric venule was experimentally occluded, the effects of increased pressure could be separated from the effects of reduced flow by comparing regions on either side of the occlusion; flow was essentially zero at both sites, but only the upstream site had high pressure. Leukocyte rolling, adhesion, and migration, as well as micro-haemorrhage and cell death, were all increased at the high-pressure site⁹⁵, indicating that it may be pressure rather than absence of flow acting as an initiator.

Venous valves are operated by pressure⁹⁶. Venous flow is normally phasic, and whilst a person is standing, valves open and close approximately 20 times per minute. When the leaflets are fully open, they do not touch the sinus wall, causing flow to separate into an antegrade jet and a vortical flow into the sinus pocket behind the valve cusp. This vortical flow prevents stasis in the pocket and exerts a shear stress upon all surfaces of the valve⁹⁷. Valve closure occurs when the

pressure caused by the vortical flow exceeds the pressure on the luminal side of the valve leaflet because of the antegrade flow. This ensures that minimal reflux occurs and endothelial surfaces are not generally exposed to reverse blood flow. Pulsatile, laminar shear stress in the endothelium causes the release of factors that reduce inflammation and the formation of reactive free radicals. By contrast, low or zero shear stress, caused by disturbed, turbulent or retrograde flow promotes inflammation and thrombosis⁹⁸⁻¹⁰¹. These processes also operate in the arterial systems, where they may underlie the observation that atherosclerotic lesions occur preferentially in regions of low or reversing shear stress^{102,103}.

It is not known for sure what triggers initiate the inflammatory events in venous valves and walls, but plausible mechanisms are now known. Prolonged pooling of blood causes distension of lower limb veins. This initiates inflammation and distorts venous valves, allowing leakage and exposing endothelial cells to flow reversal. Venous stasis, even in the absence of reflux, produces regions of low or zero shear stress, whereas subsequent structural changes and irregularities in vessel walls may induce regions of disturbed and even turbulent flow. All of these events can initiate and propagate inflammatory reactions described above. Overall, it appears that inflammatory processes involving leukocyte-endothelial interactions and triggered largely in response to abnormal venous flow are important in causing the adverse changes within venous valves and vein walls. The extent and rate of progression of the different changes will depend on the interplay of many factors, producing wide variation among patients.

The Pathogenesis of Chronic Venous Insufficiency

The venous hypertension associated with CVI results in the oedema and skin changes which are apparent clinically. Higher post-exercise venous pressure is associated with a greater severity of skin damage¹⁰⁴. A study of 236 limbs found that post-exercise venous pressures of less than 30 mm Hg are not associated with venous ulceration, whereas 100% of those with pressures of more than 90mm Hg had venous ulcers¹⁰⁵.

Venous hypertension increases the capillary hydrostatic pressure causing an imbalance in the net hydrostatic pressure across the capillary wall. This increased net filtration pressure causes increased movement of protein-free plasma into the interstitium, resulting in oedema.

There is greater uncertainty regarding the mechanisms behind trophic skin changes and two main hypotheses exist: the fibrin cuff and leukocyte trapping with inflammation:

The Fibrin Cuff Hypothesis: Increased venous pressure transmitted to the capillaries results in elongation and widening of the pores between endothelial cells¹⁰⁶, allowing the exudation of fibrinogen into the tissues¹⁰⁷. This, along with defective fibrinolysis¹⁰⁸ causes fibrin cuffs to form around the capillaries. These cuffs are then purported to interfere with gas exchange, resulting in tissue ischaemia and cell death^{109,110}.

The Leukocyte Trapping Hypothesis: A more contemporary hypothesis is centred on inflammation and can be traced back to the observation that the blood returning from feet that have been passively dependent for 40 to 60 minutes is depleted of leukocytes, especially in patients with chronic venous disease^{111,112}. This finding suggests that leukocytes accumulate in the leg under conditions of high venous pressure. It is likely that this is largely due to leukocyte adhesion to the capillary endothelium mediated by decreased shear force¹¹³ and up-regulation of adhesion molecules in response to venous hypertension¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁶. Evidence for this theory shows that in the presence of venous hypertension, levels of adhesion molecules on circulating leukocytes decreases, reflecting the trapping of these cells in the microcirculation. Simultaneously, plasma levels of soluble adhesion molecules increases, demonstrating the shedding of these molecules from leukocyte surfaces during leukocyte-endothelial adhesion^{114,115}. Following trapping in the capillaries, the leukocytes then migrate into the tissues and are activated, initiating an intense inflammatory reaction, thought to be responsible for the skin changes¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁰.

During inflammation, tissue injury is mediated by increased expression and activity of MMPs (especially MMP-2) in LDS¹²¹ and in ulcers^{122,123}. In contrast, levels of TIMP-2 are lower in these conditions^{121,122}, resulting in unrestrained MMP activity breaking down the extracellular matrix. This process promotes ulcer formation and impairs healing.

Shoab et al¹²⁴ found that plasma levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) are increased in patients with chronic venous disease, compared to 56 controls during venous hypertension induced by 30 minutes of standing and are higher in patients with CVI than those with uncomplicated varicose veins¹²⁵. VEGF is thought to cause morphological changes in LDS, making the skin capillaries elongated and tortuous and inducing proliferation of the capillary endothelium in more advanced cases¹²⁶. VEGF also increases microvascular permeability¹²⁷.

Pappas et al¹²⁸ discovered elevated levels of active TGF- β_1 in skin taken from the lower calf of patients with CVI, compared to skin from their thigh region or skin from the calves of controls. This fibrogenic cytokine; stimulates collagen production by dermal fibroblasts, culminating in dermal fibrosis¹²⁸. Altered collagen synthesis by dermal fibroblasts in apparently healthy areas of skin in patients with varicose veins has also been reported¹²⁹.

Skin pigmentation is a product of capillary hyper-permeability; with extravasation of red cells leading to elevated levels of ferritin and ferric iron trapped inside phagocytes in affected skin^{130,131}. Rather than being a benign cosmetic problem, this process may cause oxidative stress, MMP activation, and the development of a microenvironment that exacerbates tissue damage and delays healing¹³². Supporting this view; the haemochromatosis C282Y mutation is associated with an increase in the risk of ulceration by a factor of nearly seven in patients with chronic venous disease¹³³.

Epidemiology

The only population based follow-up study to date, estimates the incidence of varicose veins to be 39 per 1000 years in men and 52 per 1000 years in women (between the ages of 40 and 89)¹³⁴. However, the chronic nature of venous disease escalates the prevalence; making it one of the most common ailments seen in developed countries. Some aspects of venous disease, such as thread veins are so common that they are considered by many to be "normal".

Prevalence

Much of the epidemiological data is old and estimates of the prevalence of clinical disease and the significance vary widely¹³⁵ (*Table 4*). There are a range of possible explanations for this: There are methodological differences in the studies, with some using self-reporting of disease status, others clinical examination and some imaging investigations such as duplex ultrasound (DUS) (See: Assessing Anatomical and Haemodynamic Dysfunction, p100). Early studies did not benefit from standardised classification systems such as the CEAP and venous clinical severity score (VCSS) (See: *The Clinical Assessment of Patients with Superficial Venous Insufficiency, p79*) and there was consequent disagreement regarding definitions^{135,136}. Additionally there were differences in sample selection methodology; with some using samples drawn from the general population and others using patient or occupational groups. There were inconsistencies in the age and gender distributions, which can have a marked effect, when not corrected for

as these are independent associative factors in their own right (See below). It is also plausible that a proportion of these differences may also be due to genuine geographical and ethnic differences in prevalence, along with lifestyle changes over the many years of research.

Year	Country	Sample	Prevaler	nce (%)
ieai	country	Size	Male	Female
1942	USA	536	40.7	73.2
1958	Denmark	1684	18.4	38.0
1966	Bohemia	15060	6.6	14.1
1000	England	504		32.1
1969	Egypt	467		5.8
1970	New Zealand	232	25.0	42.0
4072	N. India	354	6.8	
1972	S. India	323	25.1	
1973	USA	6389	12.9	25.9
1973	Switzerland	610		29.0
1974	Switzerland	4376	57.0	68.0
1975	New Guinea	728	5.0	0.1
	Tokelau Island	286	2.9	0.8
	Co ale Jaland	377	2.1	4.0
1975	Cook Island	417	15.6	14.9
	New Zeelend	721	33.4	43.7
	New Zealand	356	19.6	37.8
1977	Tanzania	1259	6.1	5.0
1978	Switzerland	4529	56.0	55.0
1981	France	7425	26.2	
1981	Czechoslovakia	696		60.5
1981	Israel	4802	10.4	29.5
1986	Brazil	1755	37.9	50.9
1988	Sicily	1122	19.3	46.2
1989	Germany	2821	14.5	29.0
1990	Japan	541		45.0
1992	England	1338	17.4	31.6
1993	Finland	5568	18.0	42.0
1994	Turkey	856	34.5	38.3
1995	Finland	8000	6.8	24.6
1998	Italy	1319	17.0	35.2
1999	Scotland	1566	39.7	32.2
2000	Croatia	1324	18.9	34.6
2003	USA	2211	15.0	27.7
2008	Germany / Lithuania	3072	31	.4

 Table 4: Summary of studies of the estimated prevalence of varicose veins

In order to obtain reliable estimates for societal prevalence, samples must be taken without bias, from the general population. Three high quality population based epidemiological studies, involving expert clinical assessment have been performed in recent years:

The Edinburgh vein study¹⁸ selected an age stratified random sample from 12 general practice registers. There was a response rate of 54% giving a sample size of 1556. It was found that minor stigmata of venous disease are incredibly common with 80% of subjects having evidence of thread veins. Adjusting for age, 39.7% of men and 32.3% of women had varicose veins, and 9.4% of men and 6.6% of women had evidence of CVI.

French population study³⁷ randomly drew household phone numbers from four geographical areas of France for inclusion in a study on Reynaud's phenomenon. Each household was invited to enrol aiming for a target sample size of 2000. In a subsequent offshoot study; 835 of these patients were examined for the presence of venous disease and analysis of risk factors. 30.1% of men and 50.5% of women were reported to have varicose veins, whilst 5.4% of men and 2.8% of women had evidence of CVI on clinical examination.

Finally the **Bonn vein study**²² was set in Germany and Latvia. Subjects were randomly selected from population registries. The response rate was 59% and 3072 people were examined. 90.4% had some clinical evidence of venous insufficiency; (59% - thread veins, 14.3% - varicose veins, 13.5% - oedema, 2.9% - trophic skin changes, 0.7% - ulcers).

All such studies carry the same possible biases in that response rates tend to be fairly low (not reported in the French study), leaving uncertainties around the degree to which this data can be generalised to the whole population. There is no way of knowing that there were no significant differences between the study population and the 41-46% of people choosing not to participate. Clearly with such a great proportion, even small differences will have a significant effect upon the estimated population value following extrapolation. Additionally if it is assumed that venous disease is progressive; when populations with different health care systems are studied, the relative timeliness, availability and quality of treatment may have an impact upon prevalence many years into the future.

Despite these issues; on the whole, the quality of these studies was high and many working within this field accept that the majority of the population carry minor evidence of venous disease, around a third suffer from varicose veins, 5-10% have trophic skin changes and around 1% suffer with venous ulcer disease^{137,138}.

Risk Factors and Associations

Many potential risk and / or associative factors have been identified and studied over the years and all have their proposed pathophysiological basis. Overall, as with the other epidemiological evidence, much of the data is very old, involving highly selected groups and fails to control for other potential confounding factors, such as age¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹, which has a strong association with venous insufficiency.

Age

There is strong evidence that the prevalence and severity of venous disease increases with age^{18,21,134,140-150}. Both the Edinburgh^{18,140,144} and Bonn vein studies²² establish a clear link between the prevalence of SVI and increasing age (*Table 5*).

Unsurprisingly this increase in pathological reflux, results in an increase in both the prevalence of varicose veins (*Table 6*) and CVI (*Table 7*).

Some of the best data on risk factor modelling comes from the Tampere varicose vein study in Finland. Questionnaires were sent to all 40, 50 and 60 year old people in a city and 5568 people responded (response rate 75% men and 86% women)¹⁴⁷. Both this data and that of the French population study³⁷ was used to perform multiple logistic regression analyses to estimate the independent effect of risk factors upon clinical disease (*Table 8 - Table 10*). Both studies confirm the significant association of age and clinical venous disease.

	Age	17	-39	40	-59	60	-80
Ver	nous System	Male (n=446)	Female (n=567)	Male (n=479)	Female (n=649)	Male (n=397)	Female (n=478)
	GSV Proximal	9.6	10.3	12.8	14.0	13.0	27.1
	Thigh	(7.1-12.8)	(7.9-13.1)	(9.9-16.1)	(11.4-16.9)	(9.8-16.7)	(23.1-31.3)
	GSV Distal	3.2	6.7	10.9	13.9	14.3	27.2
ficial	Thigh	(1.7-5.2)	(4.8-9.1)	(8.3-14.1)	(11.3-16.8)	(11.0-18.2)	(23.2-31.5)
Superficial		2.2	1.1	2.9	3.3	5.6	6.7
0,	SSV	(1.1-4.1)	(0.4-2.3)	(1.6-4.9)	(2.0-4.9)	(3.5-8.3)	(4.7-9.4)
		12.6	12.6	17.6	21.8	23.7	39.1
	Overall	(9.6-16.0)	(10.0-15.6)	(14.3-21.3)	(18.7-25.2)	(19.5-28.2)	(34.7-43.7)
		18.6	13.4	14.0	7.6	11.1	13.3
	SFV	(15.1-22.5)	(10.7-16.5)	(11.0-17.1)	(5.7-9.9)	(8.2-14.6)	(10.3-16.6)
		9.5	4.8	10.9	6.6	12.9	10.7
d	PV	(6.9-12.6)	(3.2-6.9)	(8.2-14.0)	(4.8-8.8)	(9.7-16.6)	(8.1-13.8)
Deep		0.4	0.2	0.6	0.6	2.0	0.8
	PTV	(0.1-1.6)	(0-1.0)	(0.1-1.8)	(0.2-1.6)	(0.9-4.0)	(0.2-2.2)
		26.1	17.9	22.4	13.9	20.7	22.3
	Overall	(22.1-30.5)	(14.8-21.3)	(18.7-26.4)	(11.3-16.8)	(16.8-25.0)	(18.6-26.3)

Table 5: The prevalence (as a percentage (95%Cl)) of venous reflux >0.5s on DUS by age, gender and venous segment²². GSV – Great saphenous vein, SSV – Small saphenous vein, SFV – Superficial femoral vein, PV – Popliteal vein, PTV – Posterior tibial vein. Figures in bold indicate a statistically significant difference between men and women ($\alpha \leq 0.050$)

Age	18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64
Male	20.0	15.5	36.1	42.0	61.4
Female	5.3	13.9	22.6	41.9	50.5
Total	11.5	14.6	28.8	41.9	55.7

Table 6: The prevalence of saphenous varicose veins (as a percentage) by age and gender in the Edinburgh vein study¹⁴⁴

Age	18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64
Male	0.0	0.0	2.53	7.73	25.25
			(0.69-6.28)	(4.31-12.74)	(19.25-31.62)
Female	1.32	1.25	3.76	7.93	12.27
	(0.03-7.11)	(0.15-4.44)	(1.48-7.48)	(4.87-12.52)	(8.17-17.20)

Table 7: The prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency (as a percentage (95% CI)) by age and gender in the Edinburgh vein study¹⁴⁴

F	Risk Factor		
Female		2.3 (1.8-2.9)	
Age (years)*	50	2.2 (1.9-2.6)	
	60	2.8 (2.4-3.3)	
Weight (Kg)	>65 (F), >80 (M)	1.2 (1.1-1.4)	
Height (m)	>1.65 (F), >1.75 (M)	1.4 (1.1-1.6)	
Mainly standing posture	at work	1.6 (1.4-1.8)	
FH (1st degree relative)		4.9 (4.2-5.7)	
Parity	1	1.2 (1.0-1.6)	
	2	1.7 (1.3-2.1)	
	3	1.9 (1.4-2.5)	
	4+	2.7 (1.9-3.9)	

Table 8: Independent Odds ratios (95%CI) for the association of proposed risk factors with varicose veins¹⁴⁷. *The baseline age comparator is 40 years

Despite this association with age; venous dysfunction has been demonstrated to commence early in life, for example; 2.5% of 518 school children aged 10-12 were found to have saphenous incompetence on ultrasound, increasing to 12.3% after 2 years and 19.8% by the age 18-20. This in turn was associated with 2.5% having visible varicose veins by 14-16 and 8.3% by the age of 18-20¹⁵¹.

	Men	Women		
Risk Factor	Varicose veins			
Age*	1.05 (1.02-1.07)	1.04 (1.02-1.05)		
FH	3.53 (1.91-6.54)	3.47 (2.38-5.07)		
Exercise+	1.97 (1.08-3.61)	NS		
Previous Pregnancy	NA	1.98 (1.20-3.25)		
Height >1.65m	NS	1.32 (1.08-1.62)		
	Chronic Venous Insufficiency			
Age*	1.08 (1.04-1.13)			
FH	2.81 (1.0	03-7.71)		

Table 9: Independent Odds ratios (95%CI) for the association of proposed risk factors with varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency³⁷. Controlling for activity, socioeconomic status, Body mass index, history of thromboembolic disease, geographical area, smoking status, alcohol consumption, level of education and oestrogen therapy in women. FH – Family history of a first degree relative, NS – no significant relationship, NA – not applicable. * - Odds ratio per year of age, + less than once per week

Risk factor	Proportion of Variance Explained (%)		
	Men	Women	
Age 50 years	23	12	
Age 60 years	21	18	
FH	38	31	
Weight*	12	12	
Height+	12	4	
Standing at work	12	15	
Parity	NA	24	

Table 10: The proportion of variance (as a percentage) in the prevalence of varicose veins explained by risk factor¹⁴⁷. (Derived from the multiple logistic regression models detailed in Table 8)

There is also evidence that aside from the prevalence of venous dysfunction in general, the severity of venous disease increases with age¹⁴⁰, indeed; venous ulcers are uncommon below the age of 60, but their prevalence then increases with age¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴.

Scott et al¹⁴¹ performed a case control study in an outpatient clinic setting. This compared 222 patients with varicose veins or CVI against 113 "general surgery patients" with no clinical evidence of venous disease. A multivariate logistic regression analysis was subsequently performed (*Table 11*). The results should be interpreted with caution; as the chosen controls are likely to be significantly different from the general population. This resulted in some discrepancies, such as the apparent "protective effect" of age in the development of varicose veins. However, when patients with varicose veins are compared with those suffering CVI, it is apparent that age is a risk factor in progression from uncomplicated to complicated disease.

This association of worsening disease severity with age seems to support the theory of the progressive overall deterioration in clinical condition of people with unaddressed venous incompetence over time.

	Risk Factor	OR (95%CI)	
/ith	Age	0.96 (0.93-0.99)*	
VV compared with Controls	Female Gender	5.00 (2.20-12.50)	
compa	History Phlebitis/DVT	6.30 (1.80-22.30)	
3	"Family History VV"	21.50 (10.00-46.30)	
/ith	Age	1.06 (1.03-1.09)*	
ared w rols	Male Gender	2.90 (1.30-6.40)	
CVI compared with controls	вмі	1.06 (1.01-1.10)+	
C	History Phlebitis/DVT	25.70 (7.60-86.50)	
ared /	Age	1.07 (1.04-1.10)*	
CVI compared with VV	Male Gender	8.00 (3.50-18.30)	
CVIC	вмі	1.07 (1.01-1.13)+	

Table 11: Independent Odds ratios (95%CI) for the association of proposed risk factors comparing controls with varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency¹⁴¹. DVT – Deep vein thrombosis, VV – varicose veins, BMI – Body mass index. * - Per year, + - Per Kgm⁻²

Gender/Pregnancy

It is a widely held belief, that venous insufficiency is more common in women than men. It is certainly true that women present more often for treatment^{142,145-}^{148,150,155,156} and there is evidence from population based studies that the prevalence of varicose veins is indeed higher^{21,22,37,143,147}, however on closer inspection of the evidence; a complicated relationship with gender becomes apparent. Firstly considering the findings of insufficiency upon venous duplex imaging: Women were observed to have a higher prevalence of SVI in the Bonn vein study²², but it is men who appear to have the highest prevalence of DVI (*Table 12*). In the Edinburgh vein study men also had higher rates of DVI, but there was no significant difference in the superficial venous duplex findings between genders¹⁸.

	Venous System	Male (n=1694)	Female (n=1322)
	GSV Proximal Thigh	11.8 (10.1-13.6)	16.4 (14.7-18.3)
ficial	GSV Distal Thigh	9.3 (7.8-11.0)	15.1 (13.5-17.0)
Superficia	SSV	3.5 (2.6-4.6)	3.5 (2.7-4.5)
••	Overall	17.7 (15.7-19.9)	23.5 (21.5-25.7)
	SFV	14.7 (12.8-16.7)	11.1 (9.7-12.7)
Deep	PV	11.0 (9.4-12.8)	7.2 (6.0-8.5)
	PTV	1.0 (0.5-1.7)	0.5 (0.2-1.0)
	Overall	23.1 (20.9-25.5)	17.6 (15.8-19.5)

Table 12: The prevalence (as a percentage (95%CI)) of venous reflux >0.5s on DUS by gender and venous segment in the Bonn Vein Study²². GSV – Great saphenous vein, SSV – Small saphenous vein, SFV – Superficial femoral vein, PV – Popliteal vein, PTV – Posterior tibial vein. Figures in bold indicate a statistically significant difference between men and women ($\alpha \le 0.050$)

These deep venous findings are based upon a definition of pathological reflux lasting more than 0.5 seconds; however, many believe that reverse flow of less than 1 second in deep veins, particularly in men; is physiological and that a cut off below this will erroneously label veins as incompetent (See *Assessing Anatomical and Haemodynamic Dysfunction, p100*). These gender-related differences in the

deep veins become less prominent when a cut off of 1 second is used, however, some difference is still evident and men judged to have no clinical evidence of venous disease have similar reflux durations to those seen in women.

There is disagreement in the literature as to whether women or men have a higher prevalence of varicose veins. Most studies find this to be higher in women^{21,22,37,143,147} (*Table 8*), but the Edinburgh vein study showed the opposite¹⁸ (See: *Prevalence*, p58). What does seem clear is that a greater proportion of men suffer with CVI^{18,21,37,141,143} and male gender may be a risk factor for progression from varicose veins to CVI (*Table 11*)¹⁴¹. It is uncertain as to whether this increased risk of CVI is an indication of a greater tendency to have venous disease treated at an earlier stage in women or differing pathophysiology between men and women, (perhaps seen in the differences in DVI rates discussed above).

Age may have a part to play in the disagreement in varicose vein prevalence: *Table 5* (*p64*) shows that there is no significant difference in the prevalence of SVI between men and women in those under the age of 60 years. *Table 6* and *Table 7* (*p64-65*) echo this; showing significant divergence in the prevalence of varicose veins and CVI after 55 years. Prevalence therefore increases with age in both genders, but this may be at a greater rate in women, causing a gradual divergence between the rates seen in men and women.

With higher rates of SVI seen in women, it seems probable that the prevalence of varicose veins will be higher and interestingly the pattern of the varicosities may be different. The French population study³⁷ supported the evidence that overall,

varicosities are more common in women (See *Prevalence*, *p58*), however these followed a different distributional pattern. Both sexes had the same proportion of varicose veins coming from saphenous axial incompetence, but women had significantly more non-saphenous varicosities (*Table 13*).

Source	Women	Men
GSV and main tributaries	14.8	14.3
SSV	4.8	3.4
Non-Saphenous	26.9	8.7

Table 13: The prevalence of varicose veins (as a percentage) by gender and distribution³⁷. GSV – great saphenous vein, SSV – Small saphenous vein. Figures in bold indicate a statistically significant difference between men and women ($\alpha \le 0.050$)

Women are significantly more likely to report symptoms than men (51.3% of women compared with 20.4% of men)³⁷; which has also been noted on QoL modelling, where women reported a greater disease specific QoL impairment than men, controlling for the clinical severity of disease and other demographic and anatomical factors³⁸. This is perhaps the motivation behind women presenting earlier and in greater numbers, for treatment.

Another interesting observation is that varicose veins from both saphenous and non-saphenous origins are associated similarly with the presence of symptoms (Saphenous - 70.1%, non-saphenous - 63.7% - women. Saphenous - 36.4%, non-saphenous - 34.0% - men), however saphenous varicosities had greater association with trophic skin changes (Saphenous 13.4%, non-saphenous 4.2%)³⁷.

To further complicate things, when CVI is looked at in detail, further inconsistencies are observed. Despite the higher rates of trophic skin changes in men, venous ulceration is 2 to 3 times more common in women¹⁴⁰. This has not been satisfactorily explained, but may indicate differing pathological mechanisms or additional factors are involved.

Pregnancy is a proposed explanation for the increased incidence of varicose veins in women, with multiparity being associated with a greater prevalence than nulliparity^{37,142,146,147,157-162} (*Table 8 - Table 10, p65-66*). There is even evidence of a "dose response" with incidence increasing with the number of full term pregnancies^{147,148,150,155,158,160,163}. This is not a unanimous view however and some of these studies may be biased by a failure to control for age^{139,140}.

There are several proposed mechanisms to explain the association of venous incompetence and pregnancy. The most obvious is that the increase in intra abdominal pressure associated with the enlarging uterus impedes venous return^{164,165}, however this is debateable as varicose veins often develop prior to significant uterine enlargement¹³⁵, suggesting that other factors are important. There is also clinical evidence that weight gain is not an independent risk factor for varicose veins in pregnancy¹⁵⁸.

During early pregnancy there is a significant increase in blood volume due to plasma expansion placing an increased strain upon the capacitance of the venous system¹⁶⁶. In addition to the increased demands upon the venous system, the
hormonal changes associated with pregnancy have a likely role. Relaxin causes softening of connective tissues. The primary function of this is in preparing the pelvic structures for delivery, but it also, works alongside oestrogen to mediate vasodilatation; which in turn results in increased venous stasis and valvular dysfunction¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁷¹. Another hormone; progesterone, is known to weaken the structural integrity of blood vessels^{167,169,171,172}. Concentrations of both oestrogen and progesterone increase rapidly in early pregnancy, but both are produced through a woman's reproductive life and it may be that even low levels have a cumulative deleterious effect upon venous integrity.

A further possible explanation of the increasing gender divergence with age is that there may be a differential weakness of the muscle pump with aging, due to the more rapid drop off in musculoskeletal mass in females.

Heredity

It is difficult to establish the role of genetics in venous insufficiency as venous disease is so common and most studies rely upon questionnaires to establish family histories rather than the independent objective verification of pedigrees. Subjects with venous disease are often more likely to be aware of others in the family, than those unaffected¹³⁵. There is also some evidence that the number of reported "false positives" of a family history may be higher in those with venous disease¹⁷³.

Accepting this, there appears to be reasonable evidence of a hereditary association with both varicose veins and CVI (*Table 8 - Table 10, p65-66*) ^{37,134,141,142,145,147,174,175}. Two large population based risk factor studies found that a family history of a first degree relative with venous insufficiency was the most powerful risk factor for developing the disease, increasing the risk by approximately 3.5 to 5 times^{37,147} (*Table 8 & Table 9*). Given the high rates of prevalence of venous insufficiency; it may be more correctly stated that an absence of family history is highly protective.

A detailed study of heritability was performed in Germany. 2701 patients with venous disease were recruited and a questionnaire based pedigree likelihood approach was applied. The heritability or proportion of phenotypic variance attributable to genetic inheritance was calculated to be around 17% and was stable throughout the clinical disease spectrum¹⁷⁵.

Hirai et al¹⁴⁶ studied 541 Japanese women, finding 42% of those with varicose veins had a positive family history compared with just 14% of women without disease. Importantly; this difference decreased with age, suggesting that genetic factors may be involved in the early development of disease.

There are known congenital syndromes associated with venous disease, but to date, no genotypes have been convincingly associated with the heritability of primary venous insufficiency⁵³.

74

Geography/Race

Once again, there is little contemporary data on this. Venous disease is not a research or health priority in the developing world as it cannot compete with other more pressing health and social issues in these areas. Previous work has suggested that venous insufficiency is less common in the developing world than in Europe and North America and it was suggested that this was mainly due to lifestyle issues¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁷⁸. Although there is little clear evidence, mechanisms such as reduced constipation; secondary to a high fibre diet, toilet habit, less time spent standing and less tight undergarments have been suggested, alongside the possibility of a genetic ethnic link¹⁶².

A classic study compared 358 female cotton workers in the north of England with 467 of their counterparts in Egypt¹⁴⁹. The prevalence of venous disease was higher in England (32% v 6%), when controlling for age.

Differences are noted between continents, even following immigration. In a community study in Jerusalem, Abramson et al¹⁴² found a lower prevalence of varicose veins in immigrants from North Africa (13.2% - men, 30.2% - women) compared with immigrants from Europe and America (26.9% - men, 48.8% - women) and from other parts of Asia (22.4% - men, 39.7% - women). However, a more recent paper studied UK Asian men as they attended a Mosque in Birmingham, finding similar rates of varicose veins and CVI as reported in the white British population¹⁷⁹.

75

The most detailed study to date on ethnicity within an immigrant population consisted of 2211 current and retired university employees in San Diego¹⁴³. The cohort was broken down into non-Hispanic white (58%), Hispanic (15%), African Americans (14%) and Asians (12%). There were no differences in the prevalence of varicose veins, trophic skin changes or venous ulcers. Hispanics were less likely to have oedema (OR 0.29), and Asians were less likely to have SVI on DUS (OR 0.65).

Beaglehole et al¹⁵⁵ studied 2301 people in New Zealand and the Pacific islands (*Table 14*). In New Zealand the western settlers (Pakeha) had a lower prevalence of varicose veins than the native Maori. There was an even a larger difference between the Rarotonga and the Pukapuka in the Cook Islands. As island communities tend to display greater genetic diversity between each other than those living on the great land masses, perhaps this gives more evidence as to the impact of genetic factors upon venous insufficiency.

Location	People	Male	Female
	Maori	33.4	43.7
New Zealand	Pakeha	19.6	37.8
Cook	Rarotonga	15.6	14.9
Islands	Pukapuka	2.1	4.0
Tokelau Island		2.9	0.8

Table 14: The age standardised prevalence (as a percentage) of varicose veins by people and location in the South Pacific¹⁵⁵.

Differences have also been noted within continents; Guberan et al¹⁸⁰ found the prevalence of varicosities was significantly lower among women from Southern Europe (Italy and Spain) than among women from Switzerland, France, and other Central European countries.

Other detailed studies have failed to attribute any significance to geographical variations within countries^{22,37}.

Body Mass Index

Evidence on the significance of body mass index is mixed and much of it is very weak. Amongst the most convincing evidence is seen in the Bonn vein study²², which found an increase in the prevalence of SVI associated with a BMI of greater than 30. Other studies also support a link^{22,141,142,150,155,161,163}, which may only be relevant in women^{134,144,157}. The reason for this differential relationship is speculation, but may be mediated by an increase in bioavailable circulating oestrogens in obese women¹³⁵. Further studies have failed to identify any link^{139,146,159,160,180}. Interestingly, obese women are more likely to report varicose veins¹⁸¹. It is possible that obesity may worsen the clinical severity or symptoms rather than having a direct effect upon prevalence, or perhaps obesity causes leg symptoms which are mistaken as venous in origin.

Lifestyle

Although lifestyle risk factors have long been blamed for variation in prevalence, there is little high quality evidence to support their role. Lifestyle factors are difficult to investigate as many studies rely on self reported data, which is difficult for the investigators to verify.

There is some support for the view that periods of protracted standing predisposes to venous insufficiency^{134,142,144,150,159,163,182}. The Edinburgh vein study found that sitting at work is protective in women (OR 0.75 (0.57-0.99))¹³⁹. This appears to be corroborated by the Israeli and Framingham epidemiological studies^{134,142} again mainly in women.

Constipation has been suggested as a potential cause, with a loaded colon compressing the pelvic veins and the effect of straining at stool on intra abdominal pressure as suggested mechanisms¹⁷⁶. There is currently little supportive evidence for this hypothesis and detailed analysis in the Edinburgh vein study failed to demonstrate an association¹³⁹.

The evidence to support any association between varicosities and other lifestyle factors such as social class, education, tight undergarments, toilet posture, chair sitting, oral contraceptives, hormone replacement therapy and smoking is also lacking^{37,135,144,162}.

78

1.3 The Management of Superficial Venous Insufficiency

Assessment

The Clinical Assessment of Patients with Superficial Venous Insufficiency

It is clearly important to be able to objectively evaluate the clinical severity of disease suffered by a patient in a manner which is standardised across the literature. As discussed earlier, many of the early studies into venous disease were hampered by a lack of consensus upon how to grade and classify its diverse spectrum. This was addressed in 1994 by an international ad hoc committee at the American Venous Forum annual meeting. The result was the CEAP classification system published in 1996 and revised in 2004^{25,183}.

The CEAP Classification

The C is for clinical severity and runs from 0 to 6. Each clinical subgroup may be followed by the subscript A (asymptomatic) or S (symptomatic). E is for aEtiologic and divided into the 3 main aetiological mechanisms. A is for anatomic, detailing which veins are involved and finally P is pathologic, representing the pathophysiological mechanism underlying the disease.

Figure 9 provides a detailed breakdown of the classification system.

Clinical	C0	No visible / palpable signs of venous disease
	C1	Telangectasia or reticular veins
	C2	Varicose veins
	C3	Oedema
	C4a	Pigmentation or eczema
	C4b	Lipodermatosclerosis or atrophy blanche
	C5	Healed venous ulcer
	C6	Active venous ulcer
aEtiologic	Ec	Congenital
	Ер	Primary
	Es	Secondary (post-thrombotic)
	En	No venous cause
Anatomy	As	Superficial Veins
	Ар	Perforator veins
	Ad	Deep veins
	An	No venous cause
Pathology	Pr	Reflux / insufficiency
	Ро	Obstruction
	Pn	No venous pathophysiology

Figure 9: The revised CEAP classification²⁵

Clearly full CEAP evaluation requires the use of objective clinical observation in conjunction with imaging and physiological assessment. Whilst the CEAP system offers descriptive precision; some criticise that it becomes too precise and complex in some cases; furthermore it is a poor outcome for clinical interventional studies for several reasons. There is no indication as to the severity within each of the clinical classes. A single 1cm long varicosity of 3mm diameter scores the same as severe tortuous veins covering 90% of the leg's surface area. This makes the C2 relatively resistant to change and in practise C4 is highly resistant to change and C5 permanent. This inherent resistance to clinically significant improvements makes this instrument insensitive to the variation observed in interventional studies¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁷.

The Venous Clinical Severity Score

In a bid to produce a clinical severity classification system which is responsive to changes a further ad-hoc committee of the American Venous Forum produced the Venous Clinical Severity Score (VCSS), which was designed to supplement the CEAP and provide a method for serial assessment^{184,186,188}. It was also designed to give additional weight to more severe manifestations of chronic venous disease (CEAP clinical class 4 and class 6). The VCSS has been shown to withstand differences in intra-observer and inter-observer reproducibility and to be responsive to change¹⁸⁵.

Figure 10 provides a detailed breakdown of the classification system.

The VCSS is not without its critics however with some criticising the inclusion of a observer assessed valuation of pain and discomfort and the use of compression therapy. The quality of life impairment associated with venous disease is clearly a critical issue; but one best left to assessment using validated patient reported quality of life assessment instruments, which will be discussed later. The use of compression is a multifactorial issue, relating to clinician, patient and societal preference as much as to the control of symptoms. In clinical studies, this is clearly open to bias as this factor is eminently under investigator control and differing compression practices may result in very different VCSS outcomes for clinically similar patients.

Component Score					
component	0	1	2	3	
Pain (or discomfort of presumed venous origin)	None	Occasional, not restricting ADL Few,	Daily, interfering with ADL	Daily, limiting most or preventing ADL	
Varicose veins (≥3mm)	None	scattered, corona phlebectatica	Confined to thigh or calf	Involves thigh and calf	
Oedema (of presumed venous origin)	None	Limited to foot and ankle	Extends above ankle, below knee	Extends to knee and above	
Skin pigmentation (of presumed venous origin)	None or focal over a varicose vein	Peri-malleolar	Diffuse over lower third calf	Wider distribution above lower third calf	
Inflammation	None	Peri-malleolar	Diffuse over lower third calf	Wider distribution above lower third calf	
Induration (including lipodermatosclerosis and atrophy blanche)	None	Peri-malleolar	Diffuse over lower third calf	Wider distribution above lower third calf	
Active ulcer(s)	0	1	2	>2	
Active ulcer duration	NA	<3 months	3 months - 1 year	>1 year	
Active ulcer diameter	NA	<2cm	2-6cm	>6cm	
Use of compression therapy	None	Intermittent	Most days	Every day	

Figure 10: The Venous Clinical Severity Score¹⁸⁸. ADL – activities of daily living

Assessing the Quality of life Impairment Associated with Superficial Venous Insufficiency

Venous insufficiency does not significantly alter the length of life, but can have a profound impact upon the quality of that life (See Quality of Life Impairment, p40). Therefore the principle aim of any treatment is the improvement of a patient's QoL. In the UK, the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) recommends the consideration of treatment for varicose veins that impact on QoL¹⁸⁹, irrespective of the coexistence of complications. This makes patient centred QoL assessment the primary outcome for any study on venous insufficiency and as such; must be studied in detail. Accurate information regarding the QoL value of the health states associated with venous disease is also essential for cost–utility analysis, the keystone of economic evaluation in the context of health technology assessment¹⁹⁰. In the UK, QoL analysis has evolved from this research role and it is now compulsory in the NHS to measure QoL before and after venous interventions^{191,192}.

Broadly speaking there are two categories of QoL instrument; those specific to a given disease and generic systems assessing the QoL impairment from any condition.

Disease Specific Quality of Life Assessment

At the time this research was commenced, most was known about the performance characteristics of the Aberdeen varicose vein questionnaire (AVVQ). This is a disease-specific instrument that measures the QoL impairment associated directly with venous disease and is the most widely used and stringently validated instrument in this role⁴⁷. Disease specific measures have potential advantages over generic instruments⁴⁷:

- It may be more sensitive to small yet clinically significant changes in health status
- It may have greater power to discriminate between patients whose health is only mildly affected by their varicose veins
- The questions will be familiar to patients, and the resulting questionnaire will be acceptable and present them with few difficulties

The questionnaire was based on questions commonly used in the clinical assessment of patients with varicose veins, as indicated by a review of the clinical literature. An "expert panel" of two consultant surgeons was convened to assess the content validity (whether the questions are representative of the disease). Each question was then independently scored by the surgeons. 0 was the score for responses considered to be normal and the other responses were given a score in proportion to what is believed to be the associated morbidity. The two sets of scores were then averaged and rescaled to yield total scores between 0 and 100; 0

is reserved for patients with no features or evidence of venous disease and 100 for patients ticking the most severe response to each question. A patient focus group was used to assess the wording of the questions for comprehension and ambiguity. Factor analysis was used to identify any questions which did not contribute significantly to the overall score. Such questions were removed; along with any where greater than 80% of respondents gave the same answer or gave all responses to a question; as these questions did not add to the questionnaire's ability to discriminate between different levels of morbidity. Finally the questionnaire was validated by a sample of patients and the general population. It was found that variation in the AVVQ was associated with variation in previously validated generic instruments such as the Short Form 36 (SF-36*; Medical Outcomes Trust, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA)⁴⁷.

Question 1 of the questionnaire invites the subject to draw the distribution of their varicose veins on an unmarked diagram of the front and rear aspects of the legs. The investigator then uses an acetate overlay with a grid pattern to score the number of affected segments (*Figure 11*).

Scoring Grid



Figure 11: Scoring grid for question 1 of the Aberdeen varicose vein questionnaire⁴⁷

The remaining 14 questions are in a tick box format (Figure 12).

2 In the past two weeks, for how many days did your varicose veins cause yo	u pain or ache?
(Please tick one box for each leg)	Right Left
	None at all
	Between 1 and 5 days
	Between 6 and 10 days
	For more than 10 days
3 In the past two weeks at what time of day were your varicose veins usually	most painful or aching?
(Please tick one box)	Not painful at all 🗌
	No particular time 🗌
	In the morning
	In the afternoon and/or evening
	At night
4 During the past two weeks, on how many days did you take painkilling tab	lets for your varicose veins?
(Please tick one box)	None at all
	Between 1 and 5 days 🗌
	Between 6 and 10 days 🗌
	For more than 10 days
5 In the past two weeks, how much ankle swelling have you had?	
(Please tick one box)	None at all
	Slight ankle swelling
Moderate ankle swelling (for example causing you to sit with Severe ankle swelling (for example causing you	

6 In the past two v	eeks, have you worn support stockings or tights?	
(Please tick one be	x for each leg)	Right Left
7 Do vou take "wa	Yes, those I bought myself without a doctor's prescription Yes, those my doctor prescribed for me, which I wear occasional Yes, those my doctor prescribed for me, which I wear every d ter tablets" for ankle swelling?	lly 🗌 🗍
(Please tick one bo		No 🗌 Yes 🗌
	eeks, have you had any itching in association with your varicose veins?	Dista Lafe
(Please tick one be 9 Do you have pur varicose veins?		ee
(Please tick one b	, C	Right Left No 🗌 🗍 les 🗌 🗍
(Please tick one be	Yes, but does not require any treatment from a doctor or district nurse Yes, and requires treatment from a doctor or district nurse	•
11 Do you have a sl (Please tick one be	in ulcer associated with your varicose veins? <i>x for each leg)</i> Ye	······································
12 Does the appeara (Please tick one bo	nce of your varicose veins cause you concern?	No concern concern
13 Does the appears (Please tick one b		No asionally Often Always
14 During the past t activities?	wo weeks have your varicose veins interfered with your work or housework or oth	er daily
	I have been able to work but my work has suffered to a sligh I have been able to work but my work has suffered to a moderate My veins have prevented me from working one day wo weeks have your varicose veins interfered with your leisure activities (including	e extent
hobbies and socia (Please tick one bo		e extent 📋

Figure 12: Questions 2-15 of the Aberdeen varicose veins questionnaire⁴⁷

For an instrument to be used as a measure of health outcome, it needs to be reliable (reproducible), valid (tests what it purports to measure), responsive (sensitive enough to recognise small but significant differences), and practical (ease of administration)^{51,193,194}. An external validation study⁴⁸ alongside a further study by the original author⁴⁶ confirmed that the AVVQ fulfilled these criteria and as intended; is more responsive than generic instruments. The AVVQ has since become an extremely popular outcome measure, although is not without its criticisms: from the very beginning it was not designed to be patient centred and was developed according to the views of experts rather than patient preferences. Consequently; there appears to be some cross over with the VCSS, including an assessment of clinical severity and the inclusion of compression treatment, both may be questionable features. Despite this, validation studies are favourable and a comparison with subsequent systems involving a more patient-centred approach development, found similar results⁴⁵ and perhaps the performance in characteristics of the AVVQ are superior. Furthermore an estimation of clinical severity by the patient themselves is important, irrespective of the actual severity; as it displays that patient's perceptions, as does their decision to comply with compression therapy.

In summary therefore, the AVVQ gives a measure of the patient perceived morbidity in association with their venous disease. It is an outcome measure which is sensitive to small, but meaningful changes in QoL and therefore can be used to show the effectiveness of treatment and the significance of disease recurrence. Other disease specific instruments exist such as the VEINES-Sym¹⁹⁵,

89

CIVIQ 2¹⁹⁶ and SQOR-V¹⁹⁷, but the AVVQ remains the most popular in the UK and USA and has undergone the most stringent validation to date.

It is recommended that a disease-specific measure should be used in conjunction with a generic instrument^{46,51,198-200}; disease-specific measures may be relatively insensitive to the morbidity associated with invasive procedures⁴⁸ and are difficult to map on to index utility scores, precluding detailed economic evaluation.

Generic Quality of Life Assessment

Health Profile

The generic SF-36 instrument^{201,202} was born of the Medical Outcomes Survey and the RAND health insurance experiment^{203,204} (*Figure 13*). The aim was to produce a standardised, comprehensive, psychometrically sound, practical instrument, which could replace long and time consuming health surveys, which prevailed up to this point; reducing the burden of research on both patients and research team. This has become the most widely used generic instrument in the world today²⁰⁵. It produces a comprehensive profile of eight domains covering the range of physical and psychological well-being: physical function, role limitation due to physical disability (role – physical), bodily pain, general health perception, vitality, social function, role limitation due to emotional problems (role – emotional) and mental health. Item scores for 36 questions are coded, summed and transformed on to a scale from 0 (worst health) to 100 (best health) in each domain. SF-36 has been extensively shown to be both valid and reliable^{46,47,193,206-209}, and used in many patient groups, including those with venous insufficiency. Its global popularity has resulted in its being translated into 130 languages and norm based scores produced for a range of populations based upon population responses, making it a patient centred questionnaire. 1) In general, would you say your health is:

Excellent	Very good	Good	Fair	Poor
	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	\odot

2) <u>Compared to one year ago</u>, how would you rate your health in general <u>now</u>?

Much better now than one year ago		About the same as one year ago	Somewhat worse now than one year ago	Much worse now than one year ago
\odot	\odot	0	\bigcirc	\odot

3) The following questions are about activities you might do during a typical day. Does <u>your health now limit you</u> in these activities? If so, how much?

		Yes, limited a lot	Yes, limited a little	No, not limited at all
a.	<u>Vigorous Activities</u> , such as running, lifting heavy objects, participating in strenuous sports	۲		0
b.	<u>Moderate Activities</u> , such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling, or playing golf		\odot	\odot
с.	Lifting or carrying groceries	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc
d.	Climbing <u>several</u> flights of stairs	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
e.	Climbing one flight of stairs	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
f.	Bending, kneeling, or stooping	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc
g.	Walking more than a mile	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
h.	Walking several hundred yards	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
i.	Walking one hundred yards	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc
j.	Bathing or dressing yourself	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc

4) During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, how much of the time have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a</u> result of your physical health?

	All of the time	Most of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
 a. Cut down on the <u>amount of</u> <u>time</u> you spent on work or other activities 			\bigcirc		O
b. <u>Accomplished less</u> than you would like	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	0
 c. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities 	\odot	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
 Had <u>difficulty</u> performing the work or other activities (for example, it took extra effort) 		0		0	0

5) During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, how much of the time have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a</u> <u>result of any emotional problems</u> (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

		All of the time			A little of the time	
a.	Cut down on the <u>amount of</u> <u>time</u> you spent on work or other activities		۲		۲	0
b.	<u>Accomplished less</u> than you would like	\odot	0	\odot	\odot	\odot
c.	Did work or activities <u>less</u> <u>carefully than usual</u>	\odot	0	\odot	\odot	0

6) During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, to what extent has your physical health or emotional problems interfered with your normal social activities with family, friends, neighbors, or groups?

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite a bit	Extremely
\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

7) How much bodily pain have you had during the past 4 weeks?

None	Very Mild	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very Severe
\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0

8) During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, how much did <u>pain</u> interfere with your normal work (including both work outside the home and housework)?

l	Not at all	A little bit	Moderately	Quite a bit	Extremely
l	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot

9) These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you <u>during the past 4 weeks</u>. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling. How much of the time during the <u>past 4 weeks</u>...

		All of the time	Most of the time	Some of the time		None of the time
a.	Did you feel full of life?	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
b.	Have you been very nervous?	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
c.	Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
d.	Have you felt calm and peaceful?	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
e.	Did you have a lot of energy?	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot
f.	Have you felt downhearted and depressed?	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
g.	Did you feel worn out?	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
h.	Have you been happy?	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc
i.	Did you feel tired?	\odot	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot

10) During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, how much of the time has your <u>physical health</u> <u>or emotional problems</u> interfered with your social activities (like visiting friends, relatives, etc.)?

All of the time	of the time Most of the time		A little of the time	None of the time	
0	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	

11) How TRUE or FALSE is each of the following statements for you?

	Definitely true	Mostly true	Don't know	Mostly false	Definitely false
 a. I seem to get sick a little easier than other people 	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
b. I am as healthy as anybody I know	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	۲	\odot
c. I expect my health to get worse	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
d. My health is excellent	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

Figure 13: The Short Form 36 Questionnaire (UK V2)

Index utility

Patient preference or utility scoring allows the production of a single generic index utility score, representing a patient's health status on a continuous interval scale from 0 to 1, where 0 represents dead or unconscious and 1; full health. With some scales; utilities of below 0 are possible for states such as intractable pain and disability, considered "worse than death." This index is used in the calculation of the quality adjusted life year (QALY) and this common currency is the bedrock of health utility analysis. This single common unit potentially allows the meaningful optimisation of the allocation of health resources, ensuring that these resources are invested in such a way as to maximise the health gained from healthcare programmes; addressing the full spectrum of human disease and disability.

In this context, the concept of an interval utility is applied to the measurement of patient or societal preference. That is the measurement of which health states are preferred to others, and by how much. The interval or the numerical difference relates to the magnitude of the difference in preference.

The philosophy of utility in this context was revolutionised in 1941 with the work of von Neumann and Morgenstern on a model of rational decision making under uncertainty; the expected utility theory²¹⁰⁻²¹², providing the framework of modern decision theory used in business, government, engineering and healthcare.

There are several methods of measuring utility. The most simple is a visual analogue scale, where subjects are invited to place a cross representing their preference for a give state between two defined points; at a distance which reflects the difference in preference. This technique is rarely used in isolation as it often fails to produce a representative interval scale²¹³⁻²¹⁷. The optimum methods for evaluating health preference are the time trade off (TTO) and the standard gamble (SG).

The Standard Gamble

The SG is the classical method for measuring utility and does so under conditions of uncertainty (similar to real life situations)²¹⁸. If a health state is preferred to death then a subject is asked to choose between two options. Option 1 is to continue in the health state to be valued and option 2 has two possible outcomes: restoration to full health for life (with a probability p) or instant death (probability 1-p). p is then varied until the subject is indifferent between the two options. The utility estimate is then equivalent to p (*Figure 14*).



Figure 14: The Standard Gamble

The Time Trade Off

A drawback of the SG is that many people struggle to relate to the concept of probabilities. The TTO was designed to be conceptually simple and easy to administer²¹⁹. A subject is asked to choose between option 1 living in the health state to be valued for life or option 2 where they are restored to full health, but with a given reduction in the length of life. The time they are willing to "trade off" is varied until they are indifferent between the two options. The utility estimate is the proportion of life to be traded (*Figure 15*). Some argue that the lack of uncertainty associated with this technique makes it unrealistic.



Figure 15: The Time Trade Off

Utility Measurement Instruments

Although these methods are the underlying theory behind utility measurement, it is time consuming to employ them and many studies utilise "off the shelf", prescored multi-attribute instruments.

The EuroQol (EQ5DTM; EuroQol Group, Rotterdam, The Netherlands) was developed by a multidisciplinary group of researchers from five European centres²²⁰ (*Figure 16*). It is an index scale, mapping three available responses to five questions onto a utility scale with 245 possible states. The UK weights were derived from TTO responses from 3000 adults from the general population²²¹, with statistical modelling. The EQ5D has been shown to be valid^{220,222,223} and is the recommended utility measure for cost utility analysis in the UK¹⁹⁰. It is also a popular system world-wide with 150 languages available. The EQ5D also includes a 100 point visual analogue scale, from "worst imaginable health state" to the "best imaginable health state".

Mobility

I have no problems in walking about

I have some problems in walking about

I am confined to bed

Self-Care

I have no problems with self-care

I have some problems washing or dressing myself

I am unable to wash or dress myself

Usual Activities (e.g. work, study, housework, family or

leisure activities)

I have no problems with performing my usual activities

I have some problems with performing my usual activities

I am unable to perform my usual activities

Pain/Discomfort

I have no pain or discomfort

I have moderate pain or discomfort

I have extreme pain or discomfort

Anxiety/Depression

I am not anxious or depressed

I am moderately anxious or depressed

I am extremely anxious or depressed

Figure 16: The EuroQol Time Trade Off Questionnaire

Another recently developed index utility score is the SF-6D^{224,225}. This can be derived from responses to the SF-36 or the shorter SF-12 health profile. The UK weights were derived from SG responses from 836 adults, again with statistical modelling to produce 18,000 health states. A benefit of this instrument is that it can be calculated from the results of previous studies not featuring dedicated utility assessment. Relatively little is known about the performance characteristics when compared with the EQ5D.

Assessing Anatomical and Haemodynamic Dysfunction

Duplex Ultrasound

Duplex ultrasound (DUS) has become the gold standard investigation of venous disease below the inguinal ligament, giving both morphological and haemodynamic information of the lower limb veins²²⁶. DUS uses two different principles of ultrasonic interrogation to derive this data.

B-mode – An ultrasound transducer makes use of the unique properties of piezoelectric crystals. As an electric current is passed through a crystal, it changes shape, producing a sound pulse (a short duration sound wave), also; if a sound pulse strikes a crystal, a small electric current is produced. This enables a transducer to emit and detect sound pulses.

Different densities of human tissue resist the transmission of sound waves to different degrees (called acoustic impedance). When a sound pulse is travelling through tissue, as it hits substances of differing acoustic impedance a proportion is 100

reflected back and a proportion of the sound energy may be transmitted onwards. The proportion which is reflected is proportional to the difference in impedance at the interface. If there is a large discrepancy such as an air-tissue or tissue-bone interface, all of the energy in the sound pulse will be reflected.

Reflected sound pulses are detected by the transducer. The ultrasound device uses the time from emission of the pulse to reception of its echo to calculate the distance from the transducer the reflective interface was, using the assumption that sound travels at the average velocity of 1540ms⁻¹ in human tissue. This point is plotted in two dimensions on a screen with a dot. The brightness of the dot indicates the magnitude of the energy reflected back in the echo (which is a function of the discrepancy of the acoustic impedance at the interface). These dots are drawn simultaneously in real time to give a moving anatomical image of the tissue undergoing insonation.

Areas where there is little difference in impedance appear black (such as within a homogenous tissue such as fat). Heterogeneous tissue, containing elements of differing density (such as muscle) return occasional low magnitude echoes, which may appear speckled. Interfaces between two tissues of differing density result in bright lines and if the difference in impedance is great; these lines will be very bright and there will be shadows beneath (blackout - as all the sound energy is reflected and none transmitted). *Figure 17* is an example of a B-mode image.



Figure 17: The right saphenofemoral junction (SFJ) in transverse section. CFA – Common femoral artery, CFV – Common femoral vein, GSV – Great saphenous vein

Doppler – B-mode anatomical information can be combined with information gained by Doppler interrogation of the tissues. This scientific principle was described by Christian Doppler in 1842 as an explanation of why light from stars may appear red, even though it is known that the light produced by thermonuclear fusion appears white (as it contains all of the wavelengths of visible light). The theory states that as the distance between an observer and an emitter of a wave increases, the wavelength perceived by the observer will become longer and visa versa. The magnitude of this change in wavelength (the Doppler shift) is proportional to the velocity of the emitter relative to the observer and its effect can be classically experienced as something loud and fast passes by, such as an ambulance, resulting in a significant change in tone as it drives by.

Using this principle an ultrasound device can superimpose information regarding the velocity and direction of blood flow onto the B-mode image. The direction and the magnitude of the velocity are represented by colours. This is called colour Doppler. Additionally, a more accurate estimation of the velocity and direction of blood flow over time can be charted on a graph. This is called spectral Doppler. This is so accurate that it can detect the range of velocities and directions seen within a unit area, clearly displaying the difference between smooth laminar and turbulent flow. *Figure 18* is an example of a colour duplex image and *Figure 19* is an example of spectral Doppler.



Figure 18: Duplex ultrasound: colour Doppler is superimposed upon the B-mode image. This demonstrates gross incompetence of the saphenofemoral junction with reverse flow passing towards the transducer (which is aiming slightly antegrade), from the GSV back into the CFV



Figure 19: Pulse wave spectral Doppler demonstrating saphenofemoral incompetence (in longitudinal section). Augmentation has resulted in antegrade flow - AF, followed by approximately 2.5 seconds of retrograde flow – RF (reflux)

Together the use of B-mode and Doppler ultrasound gives a detailed assessment of both the anatomy and the physiology of the venous tree and is therefore the most frequently used investigation. DUS results are commonly found as outcomes in the literature and a consensus paper has been published aiming to standardise the technique²²⁷.

One area of controversy within DUS interpretation is the reflux duration required to label a vein segment incompetent. Whilst a cut off of greater than 0.5 seconds may be appropriate for the definition of SVI, such a short duration may overcall insufficiency within the deep veins. Two large studies found that there was little difference in prevalence of SVI using a cut off of 0.5 seconds when compared with a cut off of 1 second^{17,18,22}. However the same parameters gave significantly different results for the prevalence of DVI with rates two to four times higher using the threshold of 0.5 seconds. When considering an association with clinically evident venous disease; a reflux duration of 0.5 seconds had a specificity of 87.9% whereas and increase to 1 second improved this to 95.7%¹⁸. As a result the clinical guidelines of the Society of Vascular Surgery and the American Venous Forum recommend a threshold reflux duration of 1 second in the SFV and PV and 0.5

More traditional methods of evaluation include clinical examination using Trendelenburg tourniquet testing and hand-held continuous wave Doppler (HHD). Given the anatomical and pathophysiological factors discussed above, it is unsurprising that both have been shown to be unreliable²²⁸, and in today's world of image guided minimally invasive interventions; these are inadequate. Even when employing traditional surgical techniques; the use of HHD is associated with a failure to detect 24%-33% of refluxing sites overall^{228,229} and only has 44% sensitivity at the SPJ²³⁰. As a consequence; an RCT demonstrated higher recurrence rates in a group preoperatively assessed clinically and with HHD compared with a group assessed with DUS²³¹. DUS is recommended as the first diagnostic test for all patients with suspected CVD^{199,227,232}.

Plethysmography

Plethysmography is another non-invasive investigation, involving the measurement of a change in leg volume and hence helps to quantify the extent of venous dysfunction in the evaluation of calf muscle pump function, global venous reflux, and venous outflow obstruction²³³⁻²³⁶. This has been used to monitor venous functional changes and assess physiologic outcome of surgical treatments²³⁴; but its place within the research and clinical landscapes is uncertain. Its use has been suggested in the management of patients with CVD when no reflux or obstruction is determined upon DUS, as it may suggest outflow obstruction ¹⁹⁹.

107

Venogram and Invasive Investigations

Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MR) venography may be used in the investigation of venous disease proximal to the inguinal ligament, or in the evaluation of complex arteriovenous malformations¹⁹⁹. Significant disease above the leg includes pelvic venous obstruction, iliac vein stenosis, May-Thurner syndrome (compression of the left common iliac vein by the right common iliac artery), nutcracker syndrome (compression of the left renal vein between the aorta and the superior mesenteric artery), gonadal vein incompetence and pelvic venous congestion syndrome. Invasive contrast venography is occasionally used in this role, if the local expertise or availability precludes the use of cross sectional imaging. However, this technique is usually reserved for use during endovenous or open procedures on the deep veins, such as angioplasty and stenting. Intravascular ultrasound may replace this as a diagnostic and surveillance tool in the future and may provide additional information when compared with contrast venography²³⁷.
The Treatment of Venous Insufficiency

Conservative Treatment

The principle conservative treatment measure used for venous insufficiency is the use of compression. Compression seeks to combat the relative venous hypertension and promote the antegrade flow of blood from the leg, improving calf muscle function and decreasing reflux^{238,239}. There is little doubt as to the benefits of compression, even in uncomplicated disease, but uncertainty exists around the required degrees of compression and studies of compression are, on the whole, less meticulous than those studying interventions. It does seem that compliance with compression is the key issue dictating benefit and this is higher with lower degrees of compression. Whilst this may bias the results of studies, perhaps the message is that in disease short of ulceration, lower grades of compression may strike the optimal balance between compliance and clinical benefit, offering the best results.

Imaging has shown that compression therapy needs to narrow the veins of patients with venous disorders to achieve a haemodynamic effect; initial narrowing occurs with a median pressure of between 30 and 40 mm Hg in the sitting and standing positions²⁴⁰ although Grade II compression (18-24 mmHg) appears to have favourable clinical results and higher compliance (as discussed below), suggesting benefits at the tissue level.

A systematic review²⁴¹ found the evidence base for the use of compression treatment in uncomplicated varicose veins to be poor quality and in common with

clinical practice, compliance with compression treatment may have attenuated the effect. There is evidence supporting an improvement in symptoms, with maximal relief from Grade II to III (25-35 mmHg) compression²⁴². There was no convincing evidence that compression has any effect upon disease progression.

There is further evidence for the benefits of compression for CVI; another metaanalysis looked specifically at the levels of compression and found that patients with varicose veins and CVI see an improvement in symptoms and swelling with compression of 10-20mm Hg over no compression, but there was no evidence found to support a benefit of using higher pressures in this patient group²⁴³. The authors acknowledge that the evidence is generally poor in quality and it seems unlikely that the benefits from higher compression seen in uncomplicated disease will not be seen in CVI.

There is little doubt that compression has a significant role to play in the treatment of venous ulceration. A Cochrane systematic review found evidence that compression increases healing rates and found multiple component dressings with an elastic layer give the best results²⁴⁴. This was confirmed by a European working group, who also found evidence that compression reduces ulcer recurrence²⁴⁵.

Compression only offers any benefits whilst it is in place²⁴⁶ and it is therefore not without its problems. The main drawback was alluded to earlier: non-compliance. Non-compliance rates may be very high. For instance 53-63% of patients are non-compliant with compression after one year^{247,248}. In a cohort study by Mayberry et

al²⁴⁹, ulcer healing with local care and compression was 97% in compliant patients, but fell to 55% in non-compliant patients. Ulcer recurrence was 16% in compliant patients and 100% in non-compliant patients. Poor compliance may be due to socioeconomic factors (particularly outside of the UK NHS)²⁴⁷, poor patient education²⁵⁰, discomfort (with lower compression pressures better tolerated)²⁵¹ and concerns regarding cosmesis. This may be compounded in the elderly by difficulties with putting on compression garments. One study found that 15% were unable to apply them and 26% needed considerable help²⁵².

Care must be taken in the presence of arterial disease and incorrectly measured or applied garments may cause skin and soft tissue damage, which is rare; but has been reported in the literature²⁵³.

Adjuncts to Compression Therapy

There is an absence of evidence supporting lifestyle changes such as weight loss or leg elevation at rest, and a systematic review and meta-analysis has found no supportive evidence for any specific additional dressings on venous ulcers over compression²⁵⁴, many of which are highly costly. For example Michaels et al²⁵⁵ demonstrated no evidence of efficacy of silver donating dressings when compared with simple non-adherent dressings. The 3 month healing rate was 59.6% for silver and 56.7% for control dressings. Similarly there was no difference in recurrence rates 11.6% for the silver and 14.4 for the control dressings. These expensive dressings were therefore certainly not cost effective, with an

incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of £489,250, when compared to control dressings, certainly well above the commonly used UK threshold of £20,000 per QALY.

Comparison of Compression Treatment with Surgery

There is clear and compelling evidence of the benefits of interventional treatment for SVI when compared with compression therapy. The REACTIV trial⁵⁰ was at the time; the most detailed interventional trial undertaken for the treatment of venous disease, recruiting in total 1009 patients. 246 patients were randomised to receive either conservative management or surgery. Conservative treatment included lifestyle advice relating to exercise, leg elevation, management of weight and diet, and the use of compression hosiery. In the surgical arm, patients received the same lifestyle advice but also underwent high ligation, stripping, and phlebectomies. The surgical group saw an improvement in QoL over 2 years with an estimated QALY gain (95%CI) of 0.083 (0.005-0.160) using SF-6D and 0.130 (0.016-0.250) using EQ5D over those receiving compression alone. The authors then used a Markov economic model to simulate the costs and consequences of the 2 approaches over a 10 year horizon. This estimated the incremental cost effectiveness ratio to be £1936 per QALY, making surgical treatment highly cost effective when compared to conservative measures alone.

The REACTIV study had shown that surgery aiming to address SVI improved the anatomical extent of disease, symptoms and QoL. The ESCHAR study²⁵⁶ aimed to elicit whether intervention had any favourable effect in the treatment of ulcers. 500 patients with active or recently healed venous ulcers were randomised to compression treatment alone or compression combined with surgical treatment. 75% received high ligation, stripping, and phlebectomies; under a general anaesthetic (GA), but 25% were judged unsuitable for GA and underwent high saphenous vein ligation alone under a local anaesthetic (LA). There was no difference in ulcer healing at 6 months (65% versus 65%), however 1 year recurrence rates were significantly lower in the surgical arm (12% versus 28%, hazard (95% CI) -2.76 (-1.78 to -4.27) and this difference persisted to at least 4 years²⁵⁷. Critics of this study suggest that the significant delays prior to surgery and the inclusion of healed ulcers in the analysis (decreasing the power) were responsible for the failure to show a benefit in healing rates. Another study of surgery for venous ulcers, suggests that in the absence of DVI, compression may be unnecessary in the healing of ulcers, demonstrating the power of the correction of SVI²⁵⁸.

Compression therapy, through reducing venous hypertension; is a powerful tool to combat venous disease, but it cannot replace the benefits of interventions correcting venous insufficiency; hence addressing the underlying pathological cause of venous hypertension itself.

Medical Treatment

Medical treatments for venous insufficiency are not in common use worldwide; however there is emerging evidence that drugs aiming to modulate the pathophysiology of skin changes associated with CVI may offer some benefits.

A range of Cochrane reviews have studied this area. One such review studied 44 trials involving 4413 participants using rutosides, hidrosmine, diosmine, calcium dobesilate, centella asiatica, French maritime pine bark extract, aminaftone and grape seed extract. Overall there was significant heterogeneity within the studies, but there were improvements observed on meta-analysis in oedema RR (95%CI) 0.72 (0.65 - 0.81) and trophic disorders RR 0.88 (0.83 - 0.94)²⁵⁹. Horse chestnut seed extract also has some early evidence that it may improve the symptoms, including pain and itching and also the oedema of CVI²⁶⁰.

Medical treatment may have greater benefits in the treatment of venous ulcers. A meta-analysis of 12 trials involving 864 participants found pentoxifylline with compression is more effective than placebo and compression in ulcer healing RR 1.56 (1.14 - 2.13) and pentoxifylline without compression is more effective than placebo or no treatment RR 2.25 (1.49 - 3.39). However GI side effects were common and this may impact upon compliance and QoL²⁶¹. Micronized purified flavonoid fraction (MPFF) has similarly been shown to be of benefit. The mean ulcer healing time was 16 weeks in patients treated with MPFF plus compression compared with 21 weeks in patients with compression alone, resulting in a 32% increase in the chance of ulcer healing within 6 months 0.32 (0.03-0.70)²⁶².

Whilst these early results show promise, the evidence base is in its infancy and doesn't support widespread clinical use²⁵⁹. Large RCTs are required to confirm the clinical efficacy, QoL improvement and cost effectiveness associated with these treatments.

Interventional Treatment

Surgical intervention for SVI has been clearly shown to offer benefits over conservative management over the spectrum of venous disease and is also highly cost-effective^{50,256} (See: *Comparison of Compression Treatment with Surgery, p112*). However there has been a revolution in the management of SVI, with an explosion of new and revised techniques hoping to offer benefits over conventional surgery. These relatively new, minimally invasive endothermal ablative techniques are gaining in popularity. At the time this programme of investigation was initiated, endovenous laser ablation (EVLA) had become the front runner in the endovenous revolution²⁶³. However, conventional surgery remains the most common intervention for SVI in the UK^{264,265}, and is widely considered to be the gold standard.

The mainstay of treatment for DVI is compression, however it has been shown that if SVI is addressed, this has favourable haemodynamic consequences on the deep system also; reducing the incidence of DVI²⁶⁶. Surgical interventions have been attempted to directly treat DVI and a Cochrane review found three small RCTs detailing the treatment of primary DVI which indicated that there may be

some improvement in ambulatory venous pressure, but pressures remained pathologically high. The quality of evidence is not sufficient to support any positive recommendations at this time²⁶⁷ and further discussion will concentrate on intervention for SVI.

Open Surgery

Conventional Open Surgery

The classical technique of high ligation of the SFJ, stripping of the GSV and phlebectomy under general anaesthetic has been the standard of care of varicose vein treatment for around a century. The procedure is described in detail below (See *p154*). The benefits of this treatment, particularly the gain in QoL and its cost effectiveness compared to conservative management are well established from large RCTs^{50,256} (See: *Comparison of Compression Treatment with Surgery, p112*). These benefits in QoL are significant and even in uncomplicated disease are consistent with those seen after other surgical procedures shown to result in significant QoL improvements such as laparoscopic cholecystectomy²⁶⁸⁻²⁷⁰. Improvements are also durable with benefits lasting until at least 10 years²⁷¹.

Some patients however see little benefit and this is likely to be secondary to poor patient selection. "Venous symptoms" are by their very nature vague and may not be secondary to the coincidental existence of venous insufficiency (See: *Quality of Life Impairment p40*). A trial of compression therapy may be helpful as a pre-

operative selection method in cases of doubt over the aetiology of symptoms. Lurie et al found that patients who improved after conservative therapy were more than 15 times more likely to have an improvement in their symptoms at 1 month RR (95% CI) 15.6 (4.3-56.5), and 21 times higher at 1 year after surgery 21.3 (4.7-96.9), compared with those who had no improvement with compression²⁷².

The Limitations of Conventional Surgery

Short Term

Surgery is not without its drawbacks; in common with all invasive techniques the procedure itself carries some morbidity, resulting in impaired QoL in the early post-operative period. Naturally perioperative complications may exacerbate and extend this phenomenon. Compression therapy post-operatively is thought to promote a more rapid recovery, by reducing haemorrhage, oedema, haematoma and pain, but an RCT of 220 post-surgical patients found no benefit in wearing compression stockings for greater than 1 week with respect to postoperative pain, number of complications, time to return to work, or patient satisfaction for up to 12 weeks after surgery²⁷³.

In good hands, conventional surgery on the whole, is both safe and effective. However, despite this being classified as "clean surgery"; significant rates of wound complications, mostly groin infection are described in 1.5% to 16%²⁷⁴⁻²⁷⁸. Normal wound healing is less likely in current smokers adjusted OR (95% Cl) 0.5 (0.3-0.9) and with increasing BMI OR 0.92 (0.87-0.97 per unitary increase)²⁷⁹. Mekako et al performed an RCT with 443 patients (600 legs) undergoing groin surgery for varicose veins; the risk of wound infections and wound-related complications was reduced with use of a single dose of perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis from 18.2 to 9.9%. A single dose of co-amoxyclav at induction therefore increases the likelihood of normal wound healing OR 2. 21 (1. 32-3. 60)²⁷⁹. Haematomas may also be fairly common and have been described in up to 33%²⁸⁰, even with the use of post-operative compression.

In the UK, the commonest single cause of litigation following surgery is alleged injury to cutaneous sensory, specifically the saphenous and sural, nerves²⁸¹. These injuries are associated with pain, paraesthesia and anaesthesia. The rate of saphenous nerve injury is partially dependent upon the length of GSV stripping undertaken. The close anatomical relationship between the GSV and the saphenous nerve below the knee^{282,283} has been shown to increase the rates of injury if stripping is continued down below the knee. An RCT of full length stripping compared with stripping to the knee found a nerve injury rate of 39% versus 7%²⁸⁴. However some have pointed out that as the long term results of stripping to the knee are worse; the length of GSV stripping should be dictated by the length of refluxing vein and not concerns over injury to the saphenous nerve²⁸⁵⁻²⁸⁷. Full-length stripping remains controversial.

Following intervention for SSV reflux, sural nerve injury is described at a rate of 2% to 4%, whereas common peroneal nerve injury occurred in 4.7% in one series and

in 6.7% in another series²⁸⁸. It is unclear as to what proportion of these injuries can be ascribed to the popliteal fossa dissection and to the act of stripping²⁸³.

Adjunctive procedures, such as phlebectomy and perforator treatments are associated with nerve injury, but there is little reliable data to quantify this and this is clearly compounded by the extent to which such procedures are required.

Thromboembolic complications were previously thought to be very low²⁷⁵, however detailed modern follow-up with DUS has found that the incidence of post-operative deep vein thrombosis (DVT) could be as high as 5%, although the majority are asymptomatic and confined to the calf veins with no subsequent propagation or clinical evidence of pulmonary embolism (PE)²⁸⁹. The risk of clinically significant PE remains around 0.2–0.5%²⁷⁵. Around half of observed DVTs resolved without evidence of DVI at 1 year²⁸⁹.

Injury to the major vascular structure are very rare (incidence 0.002%-0.300%), but consequences may be disastrous²⁹⁰.

Long Term

Long-term results following conventional surgical treatment are marred by significant recurrence rates. Quoted rates are as high as 30% at 1 year, 40% at 2 years and up to 66% beyond 10 years²⁹¹⁻²⁹⁷; this has been linked to poor patient satisfaction^{271,298}. Patients requesting re-intervention for symptomatic recurrence are less common, but approximately 15–20% of varicose vein procedures are performed for recurrence^{265,299,300}.

Recurrence may be due to technically inadequate surgery, the growth of new incompetent vessels within old scar tissue (neovascularisation), significant unaddressed reflux in the below knee GSV or perforators and disease progression.

Innovations in Open Surgical Technique

Many new innovations have been attempted, aiming to re-invent and reinvigorate the technique of open surgery with a hope of addressing its limitations. This evolution has seen diminishing groin incision size and stripping towards a small puncture wound at the knee, made possible by the PIN stripper. The following section covers innovations which have deviated significantly from the principles of what is considered conventional surgery.

Junction Ligation without Stripping

Whether this technique under local anaesthesia minimises peri-procedural morbidity is a moot point, as recurrence rates are inflated when an incompetent GSV is left in situ. An RCT randomising 100 patients to ligation and stripping and ligation alone found that reoperation was required in 6% and 21% respectively (relative risk (95% CI) 0.28 (0.13-0.59)) by 5 years²⁹².

Techniques Aiming to Reduce Neovascularisation

Neovascularisation has been defined as the presence of multiple new small tortuous veins in anatomic proximity to a previous venous intervention³⁰¹. Neovascularisation is a significant, though poorly understood cause of recurrence at sites which have previously undergone technically adequate surgery^{296,302}.

Attempts at over-sewing the junction with non-absorbable suture have shown conflicting results, with one RCT in support (31 and 45 patients per group)³⁰³ and another larger study showing no difference (double the sample size) when compared with transfixion with absorbable suture³⁰⁴ and this has been subsequently confirmed by other studies³⁰⁵. Closure of the cribiform fascia however may help, reducing the rates of neovascularisation from 14.8% to 6.7% at 1 year³⁰⁶.

Conflicting results were also shown for the practice of using prosthetic patches as barriers to neovascularisation, which may also result in an increase in complications^{291,306-309}.

Loco-regional Anaesthesia

Although not in common use in the UK and USA, European centres have experience in performing open ligation, stripping and avulsions without the use of general anaesthesia³¹⁰. This is a potentially attractive option; potentially reducing the morbidity of the procedure. There are no detailed studies comparing open surgery with and without general anaesthesia. A retrospective study has failed to see any difference in simple pain scores³¹¹, but there is some evidence of potential benefit seen when comparing this approach with minimally invasive endovenous techniques³¹². The benefits of local anaesthetic surgery may however be attenuated by the frequent requirement of intravenous sedation³¹³.

Cryostripping

The aim of cryostripping is to reduce the morbidity associated with stripping the GSV. A probe is passed down the GSV from the groin to the level of the knee. Freezing of the vein is then performed at this point using liquid nitrogen and the vein stripped by invagination back towards the groin³¹⁴. This technique is said to reduce the haemorrhage within the saphenous tunnel and avoid a separate incision at the knee, although with modern PIN strippers this is little more than a small stab wound, similar to those for the phlebectomy element of the procedure. An RCT of 160 patients randomised to cryostripping and standard stripping found a reduction in bruising, but no difference was seen in pain or in QoL. This study however was not powered to detect small to medium differences in generic QoL and no peri-procedural QoL analysis was used, only visual analogue pain scores³¹⁵. Cryostripping; when combined with a local anaesthetic procedure may offer the optimum reduction in morbidity possible, whilst retaining the principle of ligation and stripping, though this is yet to be conclusively established.

Preservation of the Great Saphenous Vein

Two techniques are described aiming for conservative surgical management with preservation of the GSV. The underlying premise of this approach is the ascending theory of venous insufficiency (See *The Pathogenesis of Primary Venous Insufficiency p49*) and they rely on the assumption that the interruption of reflux from the distal tributaries will restore competency to the superficial and deep venous trunks.

The first is the ASVAL technique (ambulatory selective vein ablation under local anaesthesia), involving ambulatory phlebectomy of all varicose tributaries, with preservation of the GSV and SSV irrespective of their competence³¹⁶. A case series of patients with very early disease (many asymptomatic) has shown haemodynamic improvement; with 66% of previously refluxing veins (greater than 0.5 seconds) reverting to competence (less than 0.5 seconds reflux) at 4 years. This was accompanied by some symptomatic improvement, but even treating such early disease; 11.5% of patients had suffered recurrence by 4 years³¹⁶. There are no comparative studies to date.

The second approach is the CHIVA technique (conservative haemodynamic ambulatory venous surgery). The principle is to decrease the superficial venous pressure. The actual treatment is tailored to the anatomical pattern of incompetent veins. Venous ligations are then performed in specific locations, maintaining superficial venous drainage, though sometimes using reverse flow^{317,318}. For example; a frequently used technique includes proximal ligation of the incompetent saphenous vein; ligation, division, and avulsion of the

incompetent varicose tributaries; and maintaining patency of the saphenous trunk, the competent saphenous tributaries, and saphenous venous drainage to the deep system through the so-called re-entry perforators³¹⁹. Another RCT presented further details of the technique in six different patterns of SVI³²⁰. Two RCTs have compared CHIVA with conventional ligation and stripping. The first randomised 75 patients per group and found lower recurrence at 10 years following CHIVA (18% and 35%, OR (95% CI) 2.2 (1.0-5.0))³¹⁹. The second randomised 167 patients to CHIVA and 167 patients each, to two ligation and stripping groups (clinical assessment and DUS assessment). Again at 5 years, the CHIVA group had two to two and a half times less recurrence³²⁰. Other authors have failed to reproduce these results³²¹. A final study compares CHIVA to compression treatment in venous ulcer disease with 47 in each group. Ulcer healing was more rapid and recurrence rates were significantly lower following CHIVA (9% compared with 38%)³²². There is therefore some evidence of efficacy, however the lack of detailed QoL analysis prevents meaningful conclusion over the effectiveness of this treatment to address the QoL impairments associated with the disease, or whether this technique reduces the morbidity of intervention. Furthermore, many doubt whether this complex, operator dependant technique, will offer similar results outside of the hands of a small number of enthusiasts¹⁹⁹ and to date this has not seen widespread adoption.

Minimally Invasive Techniques

Endothermal Ablation

Endothermal ablative techniques involve the percutaneous introduction of a catheter into the target vein under ultrasound guidance. The vein is then surrounded with tumescent local anaesthetic. This results in pain relief, but also performs several other important functions. It compresses the vein onto the catheter allowing the concentrated application of heat via the catheter directly onto the venous endothelium, minimising any blood in between. Blood flow may cool the catheter or clot around it, attenuating its effect upon the vein wall itself. The tumescent also displaces other structures, such as the nerves and deep veins away from the target vein by hydro-dissection, isolating the vein from its surrounding tissue. Finally the tumescent acts as a heat sink; preventing thermal energy from propagating and further protecting the surrounding soft tissues. The use of tumescent anaesthesia therefore results in decreased morbidity³²³ and increased efficacy³²⁴⁻³²⁶. Thermal energy is subsequently delivered to the vein obliterating its structure. The treated vein then heals, leaving behind only a cord like structure of scar tissue.

Thermal energy may be delivered in a range of ways. Endovenous laser ablation (EVLA) uses laser energy, radiofrequency ablation uses electrical current, which may be passes directly through the vein wall itself (direct radiofrequency ablation – RFA) or through a metal coil, which emits thermal energy towards the vein wall

(indirect RFA). Finally a device licensed in continental Europe emits bursts of steam.

Endovenous Laser Ablation

Endovenous Laser Ablation (EVLA) utilises the delivery of laser energy into the vein via an optical fibre. LASER (Light Amplification by the Stimulated Emission of Radiation) produces a collimated (low divergent) "beam" of photons whose waves are coherent (in-phase) allowing a very intense and accurate delivery of energy, which can be mono-chromic (the same "colour" or wavelength) (*Figure 20*).



Figure 20: LASER – A narrow "beam" of photons, emitted "in phase" and of a single wavelength

This electromagnetic radiation is then absorbed and converted into thermal energy. Shorter wavelengths (810, 940 and 980nm) are absorbed primarily by the haemoglobin in erythrocytes, whereas longer wavelengths (1319, 1320 and 1470nm) by intra and extracellular water³²⁷. Therefore, rather than hampering the transfer of thermal energy to the vein wall, experimental studies have suggested that it is the blood itself that acts as the transfer medium³²⁸. Rapid heating of the blood (700-1300°C) creates steam³²⁹; this alongside some direct heating of the vein wall causes collagen contraction and denudation of endothelium. The result is a non-thrombotic occlusion due to vein wall thickening, luminal contraction and fibrosis of the vein³²⁶.

Laser energy was first used in the treatment of SVI in 1999 by Boné and in 2001, the first case series was published^{330,331}. By the time the studies detailed in this thesis were undertaken, the evidence for EVLA comprised of only case series. These confirmed that EVLA had a high initial and medium term technical efficacy. These studies were later subjected to a random effects meta-analysis, estimating that at 3 months 92.9% and at 5 years 95.4% of patients had an absence of reflux on DUS examination³³². This data however was heterogeneous in many respects and was following an unreported proportion of secondary procedures. None of these early studies attempted to measure QoL following intervention.

EVLA has been shown to have a good safety record, although the procedure is not completely free from morbidity. Inflammation of the sclerosed vein and incisions related to any concomitant treatment are associated with pain and bruising. In a meta-analysis, some bruising was seen in up to 52.2% of cases³³³ although the 127

significance of this is debated. Significant complications are very rare, in metaanalysis and large series, paraesthesia is seen in around 1.7-2.7%, and deep vein thrombosis (DVT) rates are low at 0.3%-0.6%³³³⁻³³⁵. An occasional case of pulmonary embolus (PE) has been described^{327,336}, along with arteriovenous fistulae^{337,338}, skin burn³³⁴ and misplaced catheter³³⁹, but these are incredibly rare.

There has been much debate regarding the relative merits of different laser wavelengths. It has been suggested that longer wavelengths may be more "gentle" and associated with fewer adverse effects, however there is little evidence to unequivocally support this and no studies have shown any significant difference in validated QoL measures^{324,340-343}. What is clear is that as each wavelength has a different absorption pattern; the evidence base for one wavelength cannot be simply applied to another. The morbidity, complications and efficacy may be very different. For instance; an early study using a 1,064nm laser described skin burns in 5% and a paraesthesia rate of 38%³⁴⁴. This was thought to be due to greater tissue penetration at longer wavelengths; but fortunately this has not been seen using other longer wavelengths. Work looking at different wavelengths, frequently varies the energy delivery also. Mathematical modelling suggests that lower energy delivery is required at longer wavelengths in order to induce full thickness venous damage³⁴⁵ and It is therefore possible that the optimal energy per unit vein required to achieve a durable closure with minimal morbidity may also be different. Studies are required to identify this "sweet spot" for each wavelength utilised, before any conclusions may be made regarding the optimal wavelength.

At least two EVLA device manufacturers have devised fibres designed to evenly distribute the laser energy around the surface of the vein. Biolitec[®] manufacture the ELVeS[®] radial fibre and Angiodynamics[®] have the NeverTouch[®] gold-tip laser fibre. The theory behind this concept is based on the observation that bare-tip fibres result in multiple vein perforations³⁴⁶. This is suggested to result in blood leaking from the vessel; resulting in pain and bruising. To date there is little evidence to support either the theory, or these fibres, which are more expensive that the standard bare tip fibres. There may even be some evidence that they may attenuate the treatment effect³⁴⁷. The one obvious benefit is that they are visibly clear on DUS imaging, making fibre placement easier for less experienced surgeons.

Radiofrequency Ablation

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) was introduced in 1998. This technique is similar conceptually to EVLA. The first device in wide use was the Closure[®] system. This was a bipolar system; passing a current between two electrodes, with the vein wall closing the circuit. The vein wall was then heated by this current and a temperature of around 85-90°C was used to coagulate the vein wall as in EVLA. However blood between the catheter and the vein wall, attenuated its effect, sometimes even clotting around the catheter tip. This system was later abandoned due to disappointing failure rates and slow withdrawal speeds, compounded by a requirement to occasionally remove the catheter to clean blood clot from the end. Many of the early procedures were performed under a GA

without tumescent; which may have been partly to blame for its failings. The manufacturer subsequently developed a more sophisticated indirect RFA system VNUS® ClosureFast®. This catheter has a 7cm long electrically insulated coil at its tip. This is heated by the passage of an electric current through it. The device accurately maintains a temperature of exactly 120°C for a treatment cycle of 20 seconds. This is then withdrawn in a segmental fashion until the entire vein has been treated. This system has similar withdrawal rates as for EVLA³⁴⁸ and when used with tumescent anaesthesia doesn't become caked with thrombus like the previous catheter.

Early results with the ClosureFast[®] system appear much better than for the old direct system, with 3 month success rates of 99.6% and 96.9% at 1 year; longer term follow-up is awaited³⁴⁹.

In the largest series to date (252 veins); complications include painful induration in 32.3% (although reported pain scores were low), paraesthesia in 3.4% and no DVTs³⁴⁹.

A second RFA system has also been released: the Olympus[®] Celon RFITT[®]. This system is similar to the original RFA system, although its manufacturers claim that results are much better. There is little evidence regarding this system. A single small study reported an occlusion rate of 95% at 10 days³⁵⁰, the results of further studies are awaited.

Steam Ablation

A third technique has recently been introduced in Europe, but is not available in the UK or USA yet. This technique uses superheated steam to apply thermal energy to the vein, hoping to result in the same occlusive changes as seen with the other endothermal techniques. Early experiences appear promising, but there is little evidence to date to allow a clear appraisal of its merits in clinical practise³⁵¹.

Sclerotherapy

Sclerotherapy is the use of a chemical agent to occlude incompetent veins by the initiation of a chemical thrombophlebitis, followed by endoluminal fibrosis. This is the oldest of the minimally invasive techniques; having been first described in principle by Chassaignac in 1855. Liquid sclerotherapy is mainly used to obliterate thread veins and telangectasia (for improved cosmesis), but high recanalisation and recurrence rates^{352,353} have limited its popularity in main axis or tributary incompetence. Renewed interest has resulted from superior results following the mixture of sclerosant and gas to form a foam and injecting this under DUS guidance³⁵⁴⁻³⁵⁶. The proposed mechanism underlying this improved performance is that the foam displaces the blood inside the vein, allowing a greater concentration of sclerosant to be in contact with the vein wall for a longer time. This improves the likelihood of initiation and the subsequent intensity of induced phlebitis in the target vein. A further benefit is that far less sclerosant is required, reducing the potential for subsequent side effects and complications.

Several different sclerosants have been used including glycerine and hypertonic saline, but it is the detergents, including sodium tetradecyl sulphate and polidocanol, which have become the most popular. These agents dissolve the endothelial cell membrane and denature the surface proteins.

Enthusiasts of foam sclerotherapy have seen good results, with successful occlusion rates around 80% to 5 years³⁵⁷⁻³⁵⁹. A meta-analysis found success rates of 82.1% at 3 months and 73.5% at 5 years³³².

Minor complications such as matting and pigmentation are relatively common, with an incidence of 17.8% in a systematic review³⁶⁰. More serious complications including, skin necrosis, neurological complications, anaphylaxis and thromboembolism are rare³⁶⁰, but potentially catastrophic. A recent systematic review of 10,819 patients found that 0.9% suffered from neurological complications, including 0.3% migraine, 0.1% stroke and 0.1% transient ischaemic attack (TIA)³⁶¹. Half of the strokes and TIAs were in association with a right to left cardiac shunt and it may be that this abnormality is more commonly seen in association with SVI³⁶².

There is some evidence that using carbon dioxide rather than air in the foam may decrease these adverse events. A cohort study found no difference with visual disturbance (3.1% and 8.2%), but significantly less chest tightness (3.1% and 18%), dry cough (1.6% and 16%) and dizziness (3.1% and 12%) in the carbon dioxide group compared to the air group. Overall the incidence of adverse effects was reduced from 39% to 11%³⁶³.

1.4 Aims and Objectives

When this programme of investigation was embarked upon; evidence for the new minimally invasive techniques was limited to case series, offering general support for the relative safety and efficacy in the improvement of surrogate outcomes, such as reflux on DUS. There were no randomised studies centred on the QoL benefits seen following intervention other than the REACTIV trial⁵⁰, which provided compelling evidence for the effectiveness of conventional surgery when compared with conservative management, but gave little insight into the place of sclerotherapy and did not study any other modalities.

Another compounding factor was that the techniques were still to undergo significant evolution and there were considerable variations in techniques and practise, with little evidence of what were the most efficacious approaches. The technique of EVLA was the clear front-runner in this revolution in terms of both popularity and the strength and longevity of its evidence^{263,332}, and therefore it was EVLA which was adopted as the minimally invasive treatment to go forward in this assessment process.

The primary aim of the treatment of varicose veins is to improve QoL; this must be regarded as the most significant outcome measure, and as such was the key focus of the all three studies.

Study 1; Procedure Refinement – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation with concomitant versus selected sequential phlebectomy in the treatment of venous insufficiency

During the planning phase of Study 2; it was noted that the general efficacy of EVLA had been established (See Endovenous Laser Ablation p126) but that research was required focusing upon procedure refinement. A fundamental question concerned the management of residual varicosities following truncal laser ablation. Debate existed amongst our research group and other authors regarding the most efficacious management of residual tributaries following truncal laser ablation. Options included sclerotherapy or ambulatory phlebectomy under tumescent local anaesthesia, both of which could be performed as a concomitant or sequential procedure. Review of the literature seemed to support phlebectomy over sclerotherapy due to the complications associated with the latter (See Sclerotherapy p131). However, there was no evidence on which to base the timing of the ambulatory phlebectomy, and therefore, following a pilot study which confirmed the feasibility and acceptability of laser therapy with concomitant phlebectomy under tumescent anaesthesia³⁶⁴, we embarked on a randomised clinical trial to compare concomitant and sequential expectant phlebectomies.

The aim of this randomized clinical trial was to assess the advantages of performing ambulatory phlebectomy as a concomitant procedure to truncal laser ablation, with the primary outcomes based upon patient reported QoL.

Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency

Once the optimum procedure had been established, the next study was directed towards a comparison of EVLA with the then current gold standard: conventional surgery; featuring SFJ ligation, above knee stripping and phlebectomy. The aim was to firstly establish whether treatment with EVLA results in the same enviable improvements in patient QoL as seen in the REACTIV trial following surgery ⁵⁰. The second and perhaps more important aim was the exploration of whether EVLA could address any of the limitations seen with conventional surgery (See *The Limitations of Conventional Surgery p117*) and challenge the century long dominance of this technique in the management of SVI.

Study 3; Procedure refinement – Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of superficial venous insufficiency and post-procedural morbidity

A meta-analysis suggested that EVLA produces significantly better saphenous ablation rates on DUS up to 5 years than conventional surgery, foam sclerotherapy and RFA³³². There was however still room for improvement as treatment failure on DUS was still occurring in 1 of 20 saphenous trunks treated. Residual and recurrent disease negates some of the quality of life benefit of treatment and is unpopular with patients. It is known that 71% of patients want full treatment of 135 their varicose veins in a single visit and over 90% are concerned about the risk of recurrence³⁶⁵.

During the lifetime of this research programme, several independent research groups established that the magnitude of energy delivery was the most important predictor of success³⁶⁶⁻³⁶⁸ and increasing energy delivery has resulted in improved occlusion rates^{369,370}. At this time energy deliveries of around 20-40 Jcm⁻¹ or equivalent fluence calculations were being used³²⁷, but this new best evidence pointed to improved results at energies higher than this and many providers started to use 60-80 Jcm⁻¹. Despite this, 100% success remained an elusive goal. The reluctance to increase energy delivery further was most likely due to concerns that this may result in increased morbidity and complications from the procedure. There was however, no evidence that this is the case, when EVLA is performed using tumescent anaesthetic solution. Surgeons within this research group were gradually increasing the energy density utilised since the advent of EVLA and deliveries of greater than 100 Jcm⁻¹ became common.

The aim of this study was to establish whether there was any evidence that this increase in the energy density has had any effect upon post-procedural pain, quality of life or complication rates.

Chapter 2 – Patients and Methods

Study 1; Procedure Refinement – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation with concomitant versus selected sequential phlebectomy in the treatment of venous insufficiency

2.1 Patients

The setting for this non-blinded parallel-group randomised clinical trial was a tertiary referral vascular surgical unit, offering specialist dedicated vascular services to a population of approximately 1.2 million. All consecutive patients presenting to a single consultant vascular surgeon were evaluated for eligibility according to predetermined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Assessment was performed by a consultant vascular surgeon or research registrar with a special interest in the management of venous disease. Clinical assessment included a full history and examination including classification of the clinical severity of disease using the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification²⁵ and the VCSS system¹⁸⁶. This was followed by a detailed duplex ultrasound assessment according to a standardised protocol. All ultrasound scans were performed by surgeons who were fully formally accredited in the performance of diagnostic vascular ultrasound. The details of DUS assessment are outlined on *p145*.

Inclusion Criteria

Clinical

- The presence of primary, unilateral, symptomatic venous disease of the lower limb; classifiable as C2-5 on the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification system²⁵
- Willingness to accept a local anaesthetic EVLA procedure, including ambulatory phlebectomy (as outlined in Section 2.3 Interventions, p141)
- Willingness and ability to participate in a clinical trial, including the attendance of additional clinical assessments, completion of questionnaires, duplex follow-up and the analysis and publication of this data
- Both patient and surgeon occupy a position of equipoise over the relative merits of either intervention

Duplex

- Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood from the common femoral vein through the SFJ into the GSV on pulse wave spectral Doppler
- Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood in the GSV on spectral Doppler in at least the above knee segment

Exclusion Criteria

Clinical

- Age less than 18 years
- Previous intervention aiming to address junction, perforator or superficial axial insufficiency
- Active venous ulceration (C6 classification)
- Inability or unwillingness to give informed consent to trial participation
- Pregnancy
- Symptoms or clinical evidence of arterial disease (including an anklebrachial pressure index of less than 0.8)
- Previous groin surgery
- Known thrombophilic state
- Known malignancy
- Allergy to local anaesthetic medications

Duplex

- Deep venous disease (including obstruction or insufficiency)
- Sapheno-popliteal insufficiency

- Superficial axis insufficiency other than the GSV (which in the surgeon's view would be optimally treated with ablation or stripping rather than phlebectomy)
- GSV less than 4 millimetre (mm) in antero-posterior diameter at the proposed cannulation point

2.2 Randomisation

Following informed written consent, eligible patients were randomised equally into to one of two parallel groups:

Control Group

Isolated truncal GSV EVLA, with sequential ambulatory phlebectomy of residual varicosities after 6 weeks if required

EVLTAP Group

Truncal GSV EVLA with concomitant ambulatory phlebectomy of varicosities

Randomisation was performed at the screening visit immediately following signing of the consent form. Patients were invited to select any opaque envelope, from those available whilst under supervision. No block randomisation was used.

Sample Size

A sample size calculation was performed, based upon the primary outcome measure. This was informed by data from the literature, giving an estimated AVVQ score of 3.94 in the controls³⁷¹ compared with 0.6 in the EVLTAP group³⁷² (with a standard deviation of 4). For 80% power and a two sided significance of 5%, with a 10% loss to follow up, the estimated sample size was 25 patients per group.

2.3 Interventions

All procedures were performed under local tumescent anaesthesia in a dedicated procedure room within the outpatients department. No sedation was used. Patients were preoperatively marked in the procedure room using a portable MicroMaxx[®] ultrasound system (Sonosite Ltd, Hichin, UK). The course of the GSV was marked on the skin using a permanent marker pen from the proposed point of cannulation to the SFJ. If ambulatory phlebectomy was to be performed then the sites were also marked preoperatively.

The skin was prepared with 10% Povidone-Iodine in water (Betadine[®], Purdue Pharma L.P, CT, USA). In the case of iodine allergy, 2% Chlorhexidine Gluconate in 70% Isopropyl Alcohol (ChoraPrep[®] Insight Health Ltd, Wembley, UK) was used. Sterile draping of the leg was performed prior to percutaneous perigenicular cannulation of the GSV with the patient in the reverse Trendelenburg position. A 5 French catheter was introduced into the vein using the Seldinger technique, and its tip accurately positioned at the SFJ using ultrasound. The patient was then put in the Trendelenburg position, and perivenous local anaesthetic (40 millilitres (ml) of 2% Lignocaine with 1:200,000 Adrenaline in 1 litre (I) of 0.9% Sodium chloride solution) was infiltrated along the vein. Total local anaesthetic did not exceed the recommended maximum safe dose per patient. A sterile bare-tipped 600 nanometre (nm) laser fibre was introduced via the catheter for laser ablation of the GSV. Endovenous laser energy was delivered using an 810 nm diode laser generator (Diomed[®] / Angiodynamics[®], Cambridge, UK) at 14 Watts (W) power, continuous mode and withdrawal of the catheter was performed; aiming for a target energy delivery of 60-80 Joules per centimetre (Jcm⁻¹).

In the EVLTAP group, tumescent anaesthetic was also infiltrated around varicose tributaries and stab incisions were made, allowing avulsion of the veins using a Kocherised mosquito clip or vein hook. In both groups, stab incisions were closed with Steri-strips[™] (3M, MN, USA), cotton wool, gauze and Panelast[®] (Lohmann & Rauscher International GmbH & Co. KG, Rengsdorf, DE) elastic adhesive bandage was applied to the limb. This remained in situ for 1 week, when it was replaced by a thigh length T.E.D[™] anti-embolism stocking (Tyco Healthcare, Gosport, UK),

which patients were advised to wear for a total of 6 weeks. All patients were discharged with Diclofenac 50 milligrams (mg) *ter die sumendus* (tds) to be taken orally regularly for 1 week and Paracetamol 1 gram (g) *quater die sumendus* (qds) orally for breakthrough pain.

All patients were seen immediately pre and post procedure by the same research nurse, who provided the same instructions: elevation of the leg whilst at rest, mobilise as much as possible and return to work as soon as they feel able to do so, avoid driving, returning only when they can safely perform emergency manoeuvres and after discussion with their insurers. A 24 hour contact number was also given for advice or help.

2.4 Outcomes

Clinical Outcomes

Peri-procedural Outcomes

- Successful completion of the planned procedure
- Technical success successful closure of the treated vein segment on DUS at 1 week
- **Procedure duration** The time in minutes from the commencement of skin preparation until the patient leaves the procedure room
- Procedural complications

- Post-procedural pain scores These were recorded by patients in a diary. Diaries contained 7 unmarked 10 cm visual analogue scales, representing day 0 (day of procedure to day 6 post-procedure. One end of the scale is marked "no pain at all" (representing 0.0) the other end is marked "worst imaginable pain" (representing 10.0). Patients were invited to place a cross on each line where they feel that their average pain for that day is best represented. These were collected at 1 week and each cross was measured to the nearest mm using a ruler
- Recovery Time to return to normal activities and work. These were also recorded by patients in a diary and were measured in days

Late Outcomes

- Objective clinical assessment of venous disease The VCSS score was assessed pre-procedurally and at 3 and 12 months by the same vascular research nurse
- The need for secondary procedures The treatment of residual and recurrent disease. These were only offered from 6 weeks to patients with symptomatic perforator reflux, symptomatic or unsightly surface varicosities following a full and frank discussion between the patient and surgeon. These were only undertaken if both parties believed that further treatment would likely benefit the patient.
- Evidence of recurrence on clinical or DUS examination
- Complications assessed at 1 week, 6 weeks, 3 months and 1 year

Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes

All QoL instruments below were measured at baseline and 1 week, 6 weeks, 3 months and 1 year post-procedure. These questionnaires were completed independently by the patients, free from investigator influence and prior to their clinical and duplex assessments. They were then assessed for completeness and in the presence of missing responses; patients were prompted to complete these sections. The following instruments were used:

- Disease specific QoL AVVQ. This was the primary outcome measure used in this study
- Generic QoL SF-36
- Index utility QoL EQ5D

Duplex Assessment

All screening and follow-up duplex assessments were performed using the same device; Toshiba Aplio XV[®] (Toshiba medical systems Crawley, UK) with a 6 Mega Hertz linear broadband transducer array, using the same initial default settings. The protocol was based upon international consensus, with some minor

modifications²²⁷ and all sonograms were performed by investigators appropriately qualified in the technique.

B-Mode Settings

In order to clearly and accurately demonstrate the venous anatomy in both transverse and longitudinal views; the focal zone was set to the depth of the veins under interrogation. The gain and dynamic gain control were tailored to optimise the image in each case. Tissue harmonic and compound imaging was used to further enhance image quality and allow accurate measurements to be recorded.

Doppler Settings

In both colour duplex and pulse wave spectral Doppler; low flow settings, typically 5-10 centimetres per second (cms⁻¹) were used to capture venous flow data. Filters were reduced and colour gain optimised to enhance sensitivity, whilst avoiding artefact and "colour leaking".

Sonographic Protocol

Patients were assessed whilst standing in a warm room, with the subject leg slightly flexed at the knee and the patients weight transferred onto the other leg. Initially the patient faced the sonographers with the subject leg externally rotated at the hip. The study commenced with identification of the SFJ in transverse section. Assessment for incompetence was performed using manual flow augmentation with sudden release, greater than 10 cm distal to the region of insonation or the foot; when interrogating the distal calf. Incompetence was defined as retrograde flow greater than or equal to 1 second on spectral Doppler (this criteria was used for both superficial and deep venous systems throughout this study). The groin was then assessed for possible sources of reflux including the SFJ, abdominal or pelvic veins, aberrant groin tributaries and perforators. During detailed mapping, the entire GSV and its tributaries were assessed from groin to ankle, followed by any other incompetent veins emanating from the groin, thigh or calf. Any required antero-posterior measurements were made using the system's electronic calipers positioned at the most anterior echo of the anterior wall and the most posterior echo of the posterior wall of the vein. These were measured to the nearest 0.1 mm. The patency of the superficial system was assessed using colour duplex and compression.

The deep system was then assessed from the groin to the knee, continuous flow, pulsatile flow, obstruction, thrombosis, or incompetence involving the common femoral vein were indications to extend the examination to include the iliac veins and inferior vena cava and lead to consideration of other modalities of imaging (as did the presence of incompetence in the groin emanating from abdominal or pelvic tributaries).

The patient was then repositioned with their back towards the sonographers and their hip was returned to the anatomical position for assessment of the sapheno-147 popliteal system and the deep veins of the calf. Initially the SSV was identified at the ankle and then assessed and traced back to the sapheno-popliteal junction. The position of the junction was noted and the examination went on to assess the other proximal and distal tributaries including the Giacomini vein, which, where present; was followed to its termination. Again a search was made for any incompetent perforators, before finally the popliteal and crural veins were assessed for patency and reflux.

Duplex Outcomes

The post-procedural DUS outcomes used in this study were:

- **Technical success** Successful completion of the planned procedure, i.e. successful initial occlusion of the treated segment of GSV
- Complications Particularly looking for deep vein thrombosis/heat induced thrombosis
- Recanalisation Recurrent flow within a previously occluded GSV
- Progression of disease with further sites of incompetence

Patient Satisfaction

This was assessed at 3 months and 1 year by asking if patients would be happy to undergo the same procedure again, if necessary, or recommend it to a friend.

Data Analysis

This will be detailed in Section 2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis (p170).

Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency

2.5 Patients

The setting for this non-blinded parallel-group randomised clinical trial was the same tertiary referral vascular surgical unit featured in Study 1. Larger numbers of patients were required in this study. In an attempt to make substantial improvements in the convenience and efficiency of the service to patients, clinical and research staff; a dedicated one-stop venous clinic was established. New patients, referred to the service with venous disorders were given information regarding the trial prior to being their clinic appointment. They were then assessed clinically by a consultant vascular surgeon or research registrar with a special interest in the management of venous disease. Clinical assessment included a full history and examination including classification of the clinical severity of disease using the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification²⁵ and the VCSS system¹⁸⁶. This was followed immediately by a detailed duplex ultrasound assessment according to a standardised protocol (as outlined in *Duplex* Assessment, p145). All ultrasound scans were performed by surgeons who were formally accredited in the performance of diagnostic vascular ultrasound. Patients

were assessed for eligibility of trial participation according to predetermined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Patients recruited into the trial were randomised and their baseline outcomes measured (as detailed below). Patients were then given a date for their treatment before leaving the clinic.

Inclusion Criteria

Clinical

- The presence of primary, unilateral, symptomatic venous disease of the lower limb classifiable as C2-6 on the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification system²⁵
- Willingness to accept a local anaesthetic EVLA procedure, including ambulatory phlebectomy (as outlined in Section 2.7 Interventions, *p154*)
- Willingness to accept a general anaesthetic conventional surgical procedure (as outlined in Section 2.7 Interventions, *p154*)
- Willingness and ability to participate in a clinical trial, including the attendance of additional clinical assessments, completion of questionnaires, duplex follow-up and the analysis and publication of this data

 Both patient and surgeon occupy a position of equipoise over the relative merits of either intervention (including an acceptance that general anaesthesia will not hold significant additional risks for individual patients)

Duplex

- Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood from the common femoral vein through the SFJ into the GSV on pulse wave spectral Doppler
- Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood in the GSV on spectral Doppler in at least in the above knee segment

Exclusion Criteria

Clinical

- Age less than 18 years
- Previous intervention aiming to address junction, perforator or superficial axial insufficiency
- Inability or unwillingness to give informed consent to trial participation
- Pregnancy

- Symptoms or clinical evidence of arterial disease (including an anklebrachial pressure index of less than 0.8)
- Previous groin surgery
- Known thrombophilic state
- Known malignancy
- Allergy to local anaesthetic medications

Duplex

- Deep venous disease (including obstruction or insufficiency)
- Sapheno-popliteal insufficiency
- Superficial axis insufficiency other than the GSV (which in the surgeon's view would be optimally treated with ablation or stripping rather than phlebectomy)
- GSV less than 3 mm in antero-posterior diameter at the proposed cannulation point

2.6 Randomisation

Following informed written consent, eligible patients were randomised equally into to one of two parallel groups:

Conventional Surgery Group

SFJ ligation, stripping of the GSV to the perigenicular segment and phlebectomy under general anaesthesia

EVLA Group

Truncal GSV EVLA with concomitant ambulatory phlebectomy using local anaesthesia

Randomisation was performed at the screening visit immediately following signing of the consent form. Patients were invited to select any opaque envelope, from those available, whilst under supervision. No block randomisation was used.

Sample Size

A sample size calculation was performed, based upon the primary outcome measures which were the physical domains of SF-36. Up to 120 patients per group are required to detect a moderate (5-10 point) difference in physical domains between two groups, with a power of 80% and a significance of 5%⁵¹. Assuming that the differences in the pilot study were reproduced³⁷², this figure would be sufficient giving a target recruitment of 140 per group allowing for drop out.

2.7 Interventions

Conventional Surgery Group

All procedures were performed under a general anaesthetic in either a day-case or dedicated vascular surgical theatre. Patients received a single dose of preoperative antibiotics according to an RCT based protocol²⁷⁹. Placed in the Trendelenburg position, the skin was prepared with 10% Povidone-Iodine in water (Betadine[®], Purdue Pharma L.P, CT, USA). In the case of iodine allergy, 2% Chlorhexidine Gluconate in 70% Isopropyl Alcohol (ChoraPrep® Insight Health Ltd, Wembley, UK) was used. Sterile draping was applied prior to performing an oblique groin crease skin incision, parallel to the inguinal ligament and centred over the SFJ. The dissection was continued through the superficial fascia to identify the groin tributaries and GSV. All tributaries were ligated back to the second junction. A flush ligation of the SFJ was performed, followed by inversion stripping of the GSV to the perigenicular segment. 2-0 uncoated Polyglactin 910 (Vicryl[®] Ethicon, Cincinnati OH, USA) was the ligature material used. The same suture was used to suture the cribiform fascia and superficial fascia, following evacuation of any blood or thrombus from the GSV strip tract. The skin was closed using subcuticular 3-0 Poliglecaprone 25 (Monocryl[®] Ethicon, Cincinnati OH, USA) following infiltration of 0.5% Levobupivacaine into the wounds. No additional barrier or over-sewing techniques were employed in an attempt to deter neorevascularisation.

154

EVLA Group

All procedures were performed under local tumescent anaesthesia in a dedicated procedure room within the outpatients department. No sedation was used. Patients were preoperatively marked in the procedure room using a portable MicroMaxx[®] ultrasound system (Sonosite Ltd, Hichin, UK). The course of the GSV was marked on the skin using a permanent marker pen from the proposed point of cannulation to the SFJ. If ambulatory phlebectomy was to be performed then the sites were also marked preoperatively.

The skin was prepared with 10% Povidone-Iodine in water (Betadine[®], Purdue Pharma L.P, CT, USA). In the case of iodine allergy, 2% Chlorhexidine Gluconate in 70% Isopropyl Alcohol (ChoraPrep[®] Insight Health Ltd, Wembley, UK) was used. Sterile draping of the leg was performed prior to percutaneous cannulation of the GSV with the patient in the reverse Trendelenburg position. The initial aim was to cannulate the perigenicular GSV, but the technique evolved during the trial and cannulation was performed at the lowest point of demonstrable reflux above the medial malleolus. A 5 French catheter was introduced into the vein using the Seldinger technique, and its tip accurately positioned at the SFJ using ultrasound. The patient was then put in the Trendelenburg position and perivenous local anaesthetic (20 millilitres of 2% Lignocaine with 1:200,000 Adrenaline and 20 ml of 0.5% Levobupivacaine in 1 | of 0.9% Sodium Chloride solution) was infiltrated along the vein. Total local anaesthetic did not exceed the recommended maximum safe dose per patient. A sterile bare-tipped 600 nm laser fibre was introduced via the catheter for laser ablation of the GSV. Endovenous laser energy was delivered using an 810 nm diode laser generator (Diomed[®] / Angiodynamics[®], Cambridge, UK) at 14 W power, continuous mode and withdrawal of the catheter was performed; aiming for a specified target energy delivery. Again during the trial this policy evolved. The initial aim was 60-80 Jcm⁻¹, but by the end of the study, 100-120 Jcm⁻¹ was the target.

In both groups, surface varicosities and incompetent perforators were marked pre-operatively in the dependant position and concomitant phlebectomies were performed via stab incisions made over varicose tributaries, which were avulsed using a Kocherised mosquito clip or vein hook. Perforators not ablated during the truncal procedure; were divided and ligated through a 1.5 cm incision, which was then closed with a subcuticular monofilament suture. Stab incisions were closed with Steri-strips[™] (3M, MN, USA), cotton wool, gauze and elastic compression dressings applied. This was later replaced by a thigh length T.E.D[™] anti-embolism stocking (Tyco Healthcare, Gosport, UK), which patients were advised to wear for a total of 6 weeks. All patients were discharged with Diclofenac 50 mg tds to be taken regularly for 1 week and Paracetamol 1 g qds for breakthrough pain.

All patients were seen immediately pre and post procedure by the same research nurse, who provided the same instructions: elevation of the leg whilst at rest, mobilise as much as possible and return to work as soon as they feel able to do so, avoid driving, returning only when they can safely perform emergency

156

manoeuvres and after discussion with their insurers. A 24 hour contact number was also given for advice or help.

2.8 Outcomes

Clinical Outcomes

Peri-procedural Outcomes

- Strip length During surgical procedures, the length of GSV that was successfully stripped and removed was measured to the nearest cm using a ruler
- Energy delivery During EVLA procedures, the length of ablated vein was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm using the marks on the catheter. This information, along with the total laser energy used was measured to the nearest J, allowing an average laser energy delivery in Jcm⁻¹ to be calculated
- Procedure duration The time in minutes from the commencement of skin preparation until the patient leaves the procedure room
- The need for overnight stay post procedure
- Successful completion of the planned procedure

- Technical success Successful completion of the planned procedure, i.e. successful disconnection of all groin tributaries and stripping of the GSV to the perigenicular segment in the conventional surgery group and initial occlusion of the treated segment of GSV in the EVLA group (irrespective of the status of the groin tributaries) established using DUS
- Post-procedural pain scores These were recorded by patients in a diary. Diaries contained 7 unmarked 10 cm visual analogue scales, representing day 0 (day of procedure) to 6. One end of the scale is marked "no pain at all" (representing 0.0) the other end is marked "worst imaginable pain" (representing 10.0). Patients were invited to place a cross on each line where they feel that their average pain for that day is best represented. These were collected at 1 week and each cross was measured to the nearest mm using a ruler
- Supplementary analgesia This was reported by patients in the same diary as the pain scales. For days 0-6, each patient indicated whether they required any supplementary analgesia, for break-through pain
- Procedural complications
- Recovery Time to return to normal activities and work. These were also recorded by patients in a diary and were measured in days

Late Outcomes

- Objective clinical assessment of venous disease The VCSS score was assessed pre-procedurally and at 3 and 12 months by the same vascular research nurse
- Residual varicose veins defined as: clinically evident varicose veins greater than or equal to 3 mm in diameter present at week 1 and 6 (irrespective of the existence of reported symptoms)
- Clinical recurrence defined as: clinically evident varicose veins greater than or equal to 3 mm in diameter, not present at week 1 and 6, but becoming apparent during subsequent follow up (irrespective of the existence of reported symptoms)
- The need for secondary procedures The treatment of residual and recurrent disease. This were only offered after 6 weeks post-procedure to patients with symptomatic perforator reflux, symptomatic or unsightly surface varicosities following a full and frank discussion between the patient and surgeon as to the risks and benefits of further intervention. These were only undertaken if both parties believed that further treatment were likely to benefit the patient
- Late complications

Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes

All QoL instruments below were measured at baseline and 1 week, 6 weeks, 3 months and 1 year post-procedure. These questionnaires were completed independently by the patients, free from investigator influence and prior to their clinical and duplex assessments. They were then assessed for completeness and in the presence of missing responses; patients were prompted to complete these sections. The following instruments were used:

- **Disease specific QoL** AVVQ
- Generic QoL SF-36. This was the primary outcome measure used in this study
- Index utility QoL SF6D
- Index utility QoL EQ5D

Duplex Assessment

Duplex assessment was performed according to the same protocol as used in Study 1 (See *Duplex Assessment p145*).

Duplex Outcomes

The post-procedural duplex outcomes used in this study were:

• Technical success – as defined above

- Complications Particularly deep vein thrombosis/heat induced thrombosis
- The patterns of insufficiency associated with clinical recurrence including recanalisation (defined as recurrent flow within a previously occluded GSV)

Patient Satisfaction

Patients were invited to place a cross on a 10 cm unmarked visual analogue scale representing satisfaction with the cosmetic outcome of the procedure and satisfaction with the overall treatment, including the process and outcome. One end of the scales was marked "Completely unsatisfied" (representing 0.0) the other end is marked "Completely satisfied" (representing 10.0). These were then measured to the nearest mm using a ruler. This was assessed at 3 months and 1 year.

Data Analysis

This will be detailed in Section 2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis (p170).

Study 3; Procedure refinement – Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of superficial venous insufficiency and post-procedural morbidity

2.9 Patients

The setting for this prospective observational study was the same tertiary referral vascular surgical unit hosting Study 1 and 2. All consecutive patients presenting were evaluated for eligibility in a series of trials according to predetermined inclusion and exclusion criteria. These trials included Study 1 and 2 above, the non-randomised pilot study for Study 2³⁷² and an RCT of EVLA versus conventional surgery for sapheno-popliteal incompetence (follow-up currently on-going). In addition some patients were suitable for inclusion in these studies, except had a very strong preference for EVLA. In this case, consent was taken to observe their outcomes, using the same follow-up protocol as for Study 2. All available data from patients undergoing EVLA with concomitant phlebectomy was used in this analysis.

Assessment of each patient was performed by a consultant vascular surgeon or research registrar with a special interest in the management of venous disease. Clinical assessment included a full history and examination including classification of the clinical severity of disease using the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification²⁵ and the VCSS system¹⁸⁶. This was followed by a detailed duplex ultrasound assessment according to a standardised protocol. All ultrasound scans were performed by surgeons who were formally accredited in the performance of

162

diagnostic vascular ultrasound. The details of duplex assessment are outlined in Section *Duplex Assessment, p145*.

Inclusion criteria

Clinical

- The presence of primary, unilateral, symptomatic venous disease of the lower limb; classifiable as C2-5 on the clinical grading element of the CEAP classification system²⁵
- Willingness to accept a local anaesthetic EVLA procedure, including ambulatory phlebectomy (as outlined in Section 2.10 Interventions, p165)
- Willingness and ability to participate in a clinical trial, including the attendance of additional clinical assessments, completion of questionnaires, duplex follow-up and the analysis and publication of this data

Duplex

 Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood from the common femoral vein through the SFJ into the GSV or from the deep vein through the sapheno-popliteal junction into the SSV on pulse wave spectral Doppler • Greater than, or equal to 1 second of retrograde flow of blood in the GSV or in the SSV on spectral Doppler

Exclusion Criteria

Clinical

- Age less than 18 years
- Previous intervention aiming to address junction, perforator or superficial axial insufficiency
- Inability or unwillingness to give informed consent to study participation
- Pregnancy
- Symptoms or clinical evidence of arterial disease (including an anklebrachial pressure index of less than 0.8)
- Known thrombophilic state
- Known malignancy
- Allergy to local anaesthetic medications

Duplex

• Deep venous disease (including obstruction or insufficiency)

- More than 1 superficial axis of insufficiency (which in the surgeon's view would be optimally treated with ablation or stripping rather than phlebectomy)
- GSV or SSV less than 3 millimetres in antero-posterior diameter at the proposed cannulation point

Sample Size

A sample size calculation was performed for the regression analyses planned (See *Section 2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis, p170*). As 11 predictor variables were to be studied, the required sample size to test each individual predictor is 115, whilst the required sample size to test the models is 138^{373} . This was regarded as the minimum accepted sample size, in order to reduce the risk of missing any significant relationships.

2.10 Interventions

All procedures were performed under local tumescent anaesthesia in a dedicated procedure room within the outpatients department. No sedation was used. Patients were preoperatively marked in the procedure room using a portable MicroMaxx[®] ultrasound system (Sonosite Ltd, Hichin, UK). The course of the target vein was marked on the skin using a permanent marker pen from the proposed point of cannulation to the junction. The sites for ambulatory phlebectomy were also marked preoperatively.

The skin was prepared with 10% Povidone-Iodine in water (Betadine[®], Purdue Pharma L.P, CT, USA). In the case of iodine allergy, 2% Chlorhexidine Gluconate in 70% Isopropyl Alcohol (ChoraPrep[®] Insight Health Ltd, Wembley, UK) was used. Sterile draping of the leg was performed prior to percutaneous cannulation of the target vein with the patient in the reverse Trendelenburg position. A 5 French catheter was introduced into the vein using the Seldinger technique, and its tip accurately positioned at the junction using ultrasound. The patient was then put in the Trendelenburg position, and perivenous local anaesthetic was infiltrated along the vein. Total local anaesthetic did not exceed the recommended maximum safe dose per patient. A sterile bare-tipped 600 nm laser fibre was introduced via the catheter for laser ablation of the GSV. Endovenous laser energy was delivered using an 810 nm diode laser generator (Diomed[®] / Angiodynamics[®], Cambridge, UK) at 14 W power, continuous mode and withdrawal of the catheter was performed.

Tumescent local anaesthetic was also infiltrated around varicose tributaries and stab incisions were made, allowing avulsion of the veins using a Kocherised mosquito clip or vein hook. These incisions were closed with Steri-strips[™] (3M, MN, USA), cotton wool, gauze and Panelast[®] (Lohmann & Rauscher International GmbH & Co. KG, Rengsdorf, DE) elastic adhesive bandage was applied to the limb. This remained in situ for 1 week, when it was replaced by a thigh length T.E.D[™] anti-embolism stocking (Tyco Healthcare, Gosport, UK), which patients were 166 advised to wear for a total of 6 weeks. All patients were discharged with Diclofenac 50 mg tds to be taken regularly for 1 week and Paracetamol 1 g qds for breakthrough pain.

All patients were seen immediately pre and post op by the same research nurse, who provided the same instructions: elevation of the leg whilst at rest, mobilise as much as possible and return to work as soon as they feel able to do so, avoid driving, returning only when they can safely perform emergency manoeuvres and after discussion with their insurers. A 24 hour contact number was also given for advice or help.

2.11 Outcomes

Clinical Outcomes

Peri-procedural Outcomes

- Energy delivery During EVLA procedures, the length of ablated vein was measured to the nearest 0.5 centimetre using the marks on the catheter. This information, along with the total laser energy used was measured to the nearest J, allowing an average laser energy delivery in Jcm⁻¹ to be calculated
- The need for overnight stay post procedure

- Post-procedural pain scores These were recorded by patients in a diary. Diaries contained 7 unmarked 10 cm visual analogue scales, representing day 0 (day of procedure) to 6. One end of the scale is marked "no pain at all" (representing 0.0) the other end is marked "worst imaginable pain" (representing 10.0). Patients were invited to place a cross on each line where they feel that their average pain for that day is best represented. These were collected at 1 week and each cross was measured to the nearest mm using a ruler
- Supplementary analgesia This was reported by patients in their pain diary. For days 0-6, each patient indicated whether they took any supplementary analgesia, for break-through pain
- Time to return to normal activities and work These were also recorded by patients in a diary and were measured in days
- Procedural complications

Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes

All QoL instruments below were measured at baseline, 1 week and 6 weeks postprocedure. These questionnaires were completed independently by the patients, free from investigator influence and prior to their clinical and DUS assessments. They were then assessed for completeness and in the presence of missing responses; patients were prompted to complete these sections. The following instruments were used:

- Disease specific QoL AVVQ.
- Generic QoL SF36 physical domains
- Index utility QoL EQ5D

Duplex Assessment

Duplex assessment was performed according to the same protocol as used in study 1 (See *Duplex Assessment p145*).

Duplex outcomes

The post-procedural duplex outcomes used in this study were:

Complications – Particularly deep vein thrombosis/heat induced thrombosis

Data Analysis

This will be detailed in Section 2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis.

2.12 Data handling and statistical analysis

All data was transcribed and recorded into a secure dedicated database (Microsoft Access[®], Redmond, WA, USA). All analysis was performed utilising SPSS (Chicago, IL, USA).

The statistical analysis was performed according to a standardised prospectively determined protocol according to the principle of intention to treat. No assumptions were made at any time as to the direction of any relationships and no imputation of missing data was attempted. Any key assumptions of the statistical techniques used were tested as appropriately.

Continuous data

Description

Normally distributed data was quoted as mean (95% confidence interval) (for dependant variables) or mean (standard deviation) or mean (range) (for independent variables). If data was not normally distributed, it is quoted as median (inter-quartile range).

Continuous data is presented using standard statistical notation in box and whisker plots. The box indicates the inter-quartile range and the median represented by a line within the box. The whiskers represent the range of data within 1.5 times the inter-quartile range below the 1st quartile and above the 3rd

quartile. Data points outside of this are considered outliers and represented by dots.

Analysis

Prior to any further analysis of continuous data, its distribution was explored using histogram analysis. Any data which appeared to be normally distributed underwent hypothesis testing using the Shapiro-Wilk test (SW)³⁷⁴ to establish the degree of certainty of this assumption. For the purposes of the following studies; significance values greater than 0.050 were assumed to be normally distributed.

Intragroup comparisons, featured the analysis of paired data (ie before and after in the same patient) and intergroup comparisons used unpaired data (ie from different patients). Hypothesis testing was performed comparing groups according to the data distribution and whether it was paired or unpaired. The quoted "P-value" represents the probability of having observed the data if the null hypothesis were true³⁷⁵ (ie there is no actual differences between the data). "Pvalues" are quoted to three decimal places and a value of less than 0.050 was regarded as "significant" and led to rejection of the null hypothesis. These statistically significant differences were then examined to establish whether they represented clinically significant findings in the context of this research and the existing evidence base.

The following hypothesis tests were used according to the nature of the data under interrogation:

171

Normally distributed data:

- Paired paired Student t-test (t test)³⁷⁶ (2 samples), ANOVA³⁷⁷ (multiple related samples)
- Unpaired unpaired Student t-test (t test)³⁷⁶

Non-normally distributed data:

- Paired Wilcoxon signed rank test (WSR test)³⁷⁸ (2 samples), Friedman ANOVA (F-A)³⁷⁹ (multiple related samples)
- Unpaired Mann-Whitney U test (MWU test)³⁸⁰

Categorical data

Description

Simple categorical data is presented as percentages (x/y) where x represents the number of cases in a category and y represents the total number of cases under consideration. When required, relative risk (RR), risk differences (RD) and number needed to treat (NNT) is also quoted along with 95 confidence intervals.

Analysis

The primary hypothesis test used in categorical analysis is Pearson's Chi-square test $(\chi^2 \text{ test})^{381}$. If greater than 20% of expected frequencies are less than 5 or any are below 1, then Fisher's exact test (FET) ³⁸² was used. In order to account for censored data Kaplan-Meier analysis³⁸³ was conducted featuring intergroup Log Rank significance testing.

Linear regression analysis (Study 3)

In order to test the null hypothesis that increasing linear energy delivery had no effect upon post-procedural pain, QoL and recovery rates in Study 3, linear regression models were used.

Model detail: Predictor variables

The primary predictor variable of interest was the linear energy delivery in Jcm⁻¹. The other independent predictor variables were age, gender, BMI, the radius and length of the treated vein and pre-operative QoL (AVVQ, EQ5D and physical domains of SF-36). These were included within the models, so their effect could be controlled and the effect of the primary predictor studied in isolation.

Some surgeons calculate energy delivery taking into account both length and diameter. Controlling for the radius within these models allows these results to be comparable. Although the QoL outcomes are the change in scores, rather than

the absolute scores post-procedure, baseline scores were entered into the model. This is because it was unknown whether differing scores at baseline would respond with differing magnitudes to treatment. For example would a patient with chronic back pain notice a similar incremental change in their total bodily pain score as someone with no pain at all before EVLA? This effect, where present, was therefore also controlled.

Model detail: Outcome variables

The outcome variables of interest were all independently reported by the patient. They were post-procedural pain (as measured daily for the first week on visual analogue scale), changes in QoL from baseline by week 1 and week 6 (AVVQ, EQ5D and physical domains of SF-36) and recovery rates (the time taken to return to normal activity and the time taken to return to work).

Model detail: Model technique and testing of assumptions

The aim of the models was to test the effect of the primary predictor variable upon the outcome variables, whilst controlling for the other independent predictors. In order to fulfil this aim, linear regression models were produced for these continuous outcomes.

If the continuous outcomes were not normally distributed, they were transformed using standard mathematical techniques. Statistical significance was set at less than 0.050 (α = 0.05). T-tests of the estimated b values allowed significance level calculation of the contribution of an individual predictor to the model's predictive ability. Effect sizes and the proportion of variance in the outcome due to the energy delivery alone were calculated. The models were produced via the method of "forced entry." This allows the retention of methodological control of the modal and is thought to reduce the effect of random sampling variation within the data and produce replicable results³⁸⁴.

All predictor variables were continuous, with a variance greater than 0. All outcomes were continuous, independent and not unduly constrained. Correlation statistics were performed and no significant multicollinearity was observed, additionally the variance inflation factor was less than 10 in each model. There are no known important correlations between these predictors and external variables, which will have a significant effect upon the models. Residual values were plotted to establish linearity and homoscedastiscity. Residual value histograms were drawn confirming normal distribution. Finally the independence of errors was established using the Durbin-Watson test. This test statistic was between 1 and 3 in each model; this was taken to confirm the independence of errors.

Logistic regression analysis (Study 3)

In order to test the null hypothesis that increasing linear energy delivery had no effect upon supplementary analgesia for breakthrough pain or the incidence of complications in Study 3, logistic regression models were used.

Model detail: Predictor variables

As for the linear regression models, the primary predictor variable of interest was the linear energy delivery in Jcm⁻¹. The other independent predictor variables were age, gender, body mass index, the radius and length of the treated vein and pre-operative QoL (AVVQ, EQ5D and physical domains of SF-36).

Model detail: Outcome variables

The outcome variables of interest were binary in nature. The first was the patient reported requirement of supplementary analgesia (daily for the first week) the second was the incidence of all patient reported or clinically observed complications (including during standardised duplex assessment).

Model detail: Model technique and testing of assumptions

The aim of the models was to test the effect of the primary predictor variable upon the probability of the outcome variables occurring, whilst controlling for the other independent predictors. In order to fulfil this aim, logistic regression models were produced for these binary outcomes.

The "forced entry" method was again used in model construction. The individual contribution of the predictors was assessed by Chi square testing of the Wald statistic. Again statistical significance was set at less than 0.050 (α = 0.05). The Odds ratio (95% confidence interval) was calculated for the effect of the primary predictor in isolation upon the outcome.

All predictor variables were continuous, with a variance greater than 0. Correlation statistics were performed and no significant multicollinearity was observed, additionally the variance inflation factor was less than 10 in each model. There are no known significant correlations between these predictors and external variables, which will have a significant effect upon the models. Linearity of the logit and the independence of errors were confirmed. Sufficient data was available for all combinations of variables.

2.13 Ethics

The conduct of these studies, along with dissemination of findings and the drafting of this thesis has been performed with the principles of the declaration of Helsinki at their heart³⁸⁵. In particular, the health of each individual patient included and considered for inclusion was seen as the primary concern of each individual involved with this research.

In the context of this research; patients were only offered an intervention if both patient and surgeon felt that on balance this would result in a significant benefit to that individual, with the potential risks being taken into account. Inclusion in randomised studies was only entertained if both surgeon and patient occupied a position of equipoise over the optimal procedure to be undertaken. All patients were made aware of the additional burden of the assessments associated with the research and were aware that they could withdraw at any stage of the research process, without any cost or prejudice to their existing, on-going or future care. Dynamic solutions were sought and found to decrease such burdens, such as the integration of services resulting from the one-stop venous clinics. It was innovations such as this, the institution of routine duplex assessment and tailored treatment in every case, alongside the increased contact and support offered by the research team that led to improvements in patient care and outcomes and very high levels of patient satisfaction.

All interventions were approved for routine use within the context of the NHS, in particular EVLA was accepted as a treatment provided that "the normal arrangements are in place for consent, audit and clinical governance"³⁸⁶.

The fundamental aim of this body of work was to improve patient care and outcomes by providing reliable information of the risks, benefits and efficacy of these new technologies to the management of superficial venous insufficiency when compared to the gold standard treatment: conventional surgery. Conventional Surgery was established as the gold standard after undergoing rigorous assessment in comparison with conservative management⁵⁰.

178

The design of the studies was intended to conform to what is regarded as gold standard methodology. Protocols were prospectively designed and approval sought and secured from both independent ethics committees and the institutional review board. These trials were then registered in a freely available public registry, as per current recommendations³⁸⁷. Where possible, the design was that of a RCT, offering level-1 evidence. The nature of the techniques limited the possibility of blinding in the main part, but every effort was made to be evenhanded regarding the surrounding package of information and care, and many of the key outcomes, including the primary outcomes were independently reported by patients themselves using validated instruments. These were completed prior to clinical and duplex assessment, limiting any investigator induced bias and are validated in the role of assessing a patient's quality of life. The fact that quality of life plays such a prominent central role in the evaluation of these technologies, testifies to the great emphasis placed upon patient perspectives and patientcentred end-points, rather than the technical physician-chosen (surrogate) outcomes pervading the literature in this area prior to this work. In order to avoid the wastage and redundancy associated with under-powered, possibly misleading studies; this work was based upon realistic and feasible sample-size calculations, based upon detecting clinically meaningful differences. All statistical analysis was performed using standard, widely accepted techniques, and no imputation of data was performed, reducing unnecessary assumptions having an impact upon the conclusions.

All eligible patients were offered an opportunity to participate, according to their free will. Upon choosing to participate, patients were required to indicate their informed consent by signing a standardised form. Children and vulnerable adults were excluded, to help to ensure that all participants had the true capacity to give, or perhaps later withhold, their consent to participation. All hard copy data is kept in a locked room at the Academic Vascular Surgical Unit (based within Hull Royal Infirmary). All electronic data was held on a secure server hosted jointly by the University of Hull and Hull and East Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust. This data has an identified Caldicott guardian, and has not been disseminated in any way, such that individual patient's data or involvement in the studies can be identified.

All investigators had undergone formal training in "Good Clinical Practice" with regards to the undertaking of clinical research and all investigators involved in the delivery of clinical care were appropriately qualified and experienced in the delivery of that care, in particular all duplex assessments were performed by surgeons who had completed (with distinction) a full University-based, postgraduate ultrasound course, designed for the accreditation of full-time vascular sonographers.

The research team did receive some industry support towards research costs; namely Diomed[®] / Angiodynamics[®] (Cambridge, UK) provided 50% of a research nurse's salary over a 12 month period to facilitate these studies. The motivation of this support was directed towards the investigators occasionally acting in a teaching / mentoring capacity facilitating uptake of these new technologies. With regard to research; the support was unconditional and this company had no 180
involvement or influence in the design, data collection, data analysis, or dissemination of this research. In addition the company had no access to any of the documentation, data or analysis that is not available in the public domain. This relationship has been made clear whenever this work has been disseminated.

Chapter 3 – Results

Study 1; Procedure Refinement – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation with concomitant versus selected sequential phlebectomy in the treatment of venous insufficiency

3.1 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis

Figure 21 outlines the recruitment and the number of patients involved in analysis at each stage.

Some 50 patients were randomised, as planned; with attention to the inclusion and exclusion criteria specified in the protocol. All patients randomised to EVLTAP received the allocated treatment as per protocol. One patient allocated to the Control group decided that they would prefer concomitant phlebectomy and withdrew from the trial in order to receive their preferred treatment. They declined to continue to participate in follow-up and so were excluded from analysis beyond baseline. Attrition to follow-up was comparable between the two groups and occurred mainly between week 6 and 52. There were no protocol violations.



Figure 21: CONSORT diagram showing flow of patients through the trial (Study 1). SPJ, saphenopopliteal junction; SSV - short saphenous vein; EVLT - endovenous laser therapy; EVLTAP - EVLT with concomitant ambulatory phlebectomy

The two groups were analysed in terms of age, gender, baseline VCSS and quality of life (*Table 15*). The results for age and AVVQ were found to be normally distributed (P=0.235-0.804 SW) and therefore parametric hypothesis testing was performed to ascertain the significance of any observed differences. The other continuous variables differed significantly from a normal distribution and differences were analysed using non-parametric hypothesis testing. No significant differences were observed as is to be expected from this randomised data.

Table 15 illustrates that the methodology has resulted in the recruitment of a cohort of patients typical of those seen in routine practice. Approximately three quarters are women with a mean age in their early 50s. The median VCSS score is 4, which corresponds to uncomplicated symptomatic varicose veins, which are causing a significant perceived impact upon QoL; as evidenced by a median AVVQ of 13 to 14.

		EVLTAP EVLT alone (Control)		P Value
Age (yrs): Mean (Standard Deviation)		51 (14)	53 (16)	0.738 [*]
Gende	er: Male : Female	8:17 4:21		0.321 ⁺
Venou Score	s Clinical Severity	4 (3-5)	4 (2-5)	0.507
10	Physical Function	85 (70-99)	93 (80-100)	0.407
SF-36 Domains	Role – Physical	100 (57-100)	100 (17-100)	0.947
na	Bodily Pain	74 (51-84)	79 (55-100)	0.538
o	General Health	71 (58-87)	77 (56-91)	0.455
	Vitality	70 (41-75)	68 (60-75)	0.853
-36	Social Function	100 (63-100)	100 (78-100)	0.517
С Ц	Role- Emotional	100	100	0.678
	Mental Health	84 (66-92)	80 (67-88)	0.592
Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire: Mean (95% Confidence Interval)		13.29 (11.09-15.50)	13.75 (11.67-15.82)	0.728 [*]
Euroqol Health Index Score		0.796 (0.769-1.000)	0.796 (0.778-1.000)	0.325

Table 15: *Baseline comparison of the groups (Study 1).* Figures are quoted as median (interquartile range) and the P values are derived from the MWU test unless otherwise stated: ^{*} - t test, [†] - χ^2 test

3.2 Clinical Outcomes

Peri-procedural Outcomes

Procedural success: All attempted procedures were successfully completed as per-protocol. At 1 week all treated vein segments were occluded on examination with DUS, giving an initial technical success rate of 100%.

Procedure duration: The median procedural times were 20 minutes longer for EVLTAP compared to the Control group (65 (50-70) and 45 (40-55) minutes p=0.002 - MWU).

Procedural complications: There were no statistical differences in the complications observed between the two groups. One patient suffered phlebitis of the GSV in the Control group, this settled within 2 weeks following continuing treatment with Diclofenac 50mg tds and topical 0.3% heparinoid gel. One patient developed a small area of pressure necrosis secondary to the dressings, this settled spontaneously. Two patients in the EVLTAP group noticed some pigmentation over the GSV and one patient had neuralgia in their thigh, all of which were self limiting.

Pain: Post procedural pain scores were fairly low in both groups. There was no statistical difference between the groups in terms of perceived pain scores on day 0 to 6 (*Table 16, Figure 22*):

Day	EVLTAP	EVLT Alone (Control)	P Value
0	3.2 (0.2-6.0)	1.9 (0.3 - 4.6)	0.288
1	3.0 (0.1-4.4)	1.6 (0.6 - 3.0)	0.514
2	1.7 (0.0-3.2)	1.5 (0.0 - 3.0)	0.808
3	1.3 (0.0-2.6)	0.6 (0.0 - 1.4)	0.641
4	1.0 (0.0-2.4)	0.5 (0.0 - 1.2)	0.433
5	1.1 (0.0-2.4)	0.2 (0.0 - 2.1)	0.466
6	0.0 (0.0-2.9)	0.3 (0.0 - 1.2)	0.959

Table 16: *Post-procedural pain scores (Study 1)*. Values indicate the med (IQR) scores reported on an unmarked visual analogue scale from 0 ("no pain at all") to 10 ("worst imaginable pain"). The P-values are derived from the MWU test



Figure 22: Post-procedural pain scores from the day of the procedure (day 0) until day 6 (Study 1). The visual analogue scale runs from 0 ("no pain at all") to 10 ("worst imaginable pain")

Recovery: There was no statistically significant difference in the number of days taken to return to work (EVLTAP group -10 (4-21) days, Control group -3 (1-14) days P = 0.054 MWU) or return to normal activities (EVLTAP -8 (1-14) days, Control -2 (1-5) days p=0.166 MWU).

Late Outcomes

Objective clinical assessment of venous disease: Both groups saw a significant decrease (improvement) in VCSS scores over the study period following treatment (p<0.001 - F-A, *Table 17, Figure 23*), however when the groups are compared; there was a significant difference of median 2 points between the groups at 3 months (P<0.001 MWU). The EVLTAP group score significantly lower (better) at this time. By 1 year, this gap had closed again and the groups were once more indistinguishable.

Week	EVLTAP	EVLT Alone (Control)	P-Value
0	4 (3-5)	4 (2-5)	0.817
12	0 (0-1)	2 (0-2)	<0.001
52	0 (0-1) *	0 (0-1) *	0.738

Table 17: *Venous Clinical severity scores, over time by group (Study 1).* The P-values represent the intergroup comparison at each time point (MWU). * - Intragroup comparison over time P<0.001 (F-A).



Figure 23: Clinical Severity of Venous Disease, using the Venous Clinical severity score, over time, by group (Study 1)

Secondary procedures: In the Control group 16 of 25 patients (64%) required subsequent perforator surgery or ambulatory phlebectomy, compared with only 1 of 25 in the EVLTAP group (4%, p<0.001 χ^2). The RR (95% CI) was 0.06 (0.01-0.44) and the NNT (95% CI) with EVLTAP rather than EVLT alone to avoid the requirement for 1 subsequent procedure is 1.7 (1.3-2.5). All were planned and performed close to 6 weeks. No further interventions were required at 3 or 12 months.

Complications: There were no late complications which became apparent during the 1 year follow-up period.

Recurrence: There were no cases of clinical recurrence evident by 1 year in either group. On DUS at 1 year, one SFJ demonstrated reflux in the EVLTAP and two in the Control group. Three patients had a partially re-canalised GSV (two showed reflux) in the EVLTAP group and one in the Control group. No patients required further treatment to the GSV or SFJ.

3.3 Quality of Life Outcomes

Disease Specific Quality of Life

This was the primary outcome for the trial (See *Figure 24*). Both groups saw a significant decrease (improvement) in AVVQ scores over the study period (Control - P=0.031, EVLTAP – P<0.001 – F-A). Detailed analysis using WSR test clearly shows that the EVLTAP group saw a significant improvement from baseline by 6 weeks (P=0.008), but this was not true of the Control group (P=1.000), who did not see an improvement until 3 months post procedure (P=0.018).

When comparing the groups; AVVQ scores were significantly lower (better) in the EVLTAP group at both 6 weeks (P<0.001 MWU) and 3 months (P=0.015 MWU) respectively. However there is no difference at 1 week or 1 year.



Figure 24: Disease Specific Quality of Life Impairment using the Aberdeen Varicose Veins Questionnaire, over time, by group (Study 1)

Generic Quality of Life

There were no statistically significant changes in any of the SF-36 domains over time in either group (*Figure 25 - Figure 32*), however the index utility score increased (improved) over time in the EVLTAP group (P<0.001 - F-A, *Figure 33*) and this improvement was observed from 6 weeks (P=0.002 WSR). This improvement was not demonstrated in the Control group over the study period (P=0.112 F-A).

When comparing the two groups at each time point for each variable, there are no clinically significant differences observed. There is a statistically significant

difference in MH at 6 weeks; with patients in the Control group scoring lower (worse) (med (IQR) EVLTAP – 88 (76-92), Control – 76 (60-84) (P=0.030 MWU). This difference however is not of a sufficient magnitude to be regarded as a clinically significant difference in this domain^{51,388,389}. There were no other statistical differences between the groups across all time points (P>0.050) in generic QoL measures.



Figure 25: SF-36 Physical Function, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 26: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Physical Disability, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 27: SF-36 Bodily Pain, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 28: SF-36 General Health, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 29: SF-36 Vitality, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 30: SF-36 Social Function, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 31: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Emotional Problems, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 32: SF-36 Mental Health, over time, by group (Study 1)



Figure 33: Euroqol Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 1)

3.4 Patient Satisfaction

100% (20/20) of EVLTAP patients and 90% (19/21) of Control patients stated that they would have EVLA again if necessary or recommend it to a friend at 1 year (P=0.342 - FET).

Study 2; Technique evaluation – A randomised clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation versus conventional surgery in the treatment of venous insufficiency

3.5 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis

Figure 34 outlines the recruitment and the number of patients involved in analysis at each stage.

Some 280 patients were randomised, as planned; with attention to the inclusion and exclusion criteria specified in the protocol. All but one patient randomised to EVLA received the allocated treatment as per protocol. This single patient decided that they did not wish to undergo any treatment for their venous disease at this time and withdrew from the trial. Three of the patients randomised to surgery withdrew from the trial. They stated that after consideration; they were no longer in a position of equipoise and would prefer endovenous ablative treatment instead, hence withdrawing from the study. These four patients declined to continue to participate in follow-up and so were excluded from analysis beyond baseline. There was no difference between the groups in terms of the numbers lost or the length of successful follow-up (Log rank p=0.081). Considering the patients who progressed to treatment within the trial, there were no protocol violations.



Figure 34: CONSORT diagram showing flow of patients through the trial (Study 2). EVLA endovenous laser ablation; Surgery – conventional SFJ ligation and GSV stripping

The two groups were analysed in terms of age, gender, laterality, smoking status, employment status, antiplatelet/anticoagulant usage, height, BMI, baseline vein

diameter, baseline CEAP clinical grade, baseline VCSS and QoL (*Table 18*). No continuous variable was found to be normally distributed for both groups and therefore non-parametric hypothesis testing was performed to ascertain the significance of any observed differences. There was a statistically significant difference in Mental Health, but this is not of a sufficient magnitude to be regarded as a clinically significant difference^{51,388,389}. Therefore no significant differences were observed; as is to be expected from this randomised data.

These patients are typical of those presenting with venous disease in this region. Mean age is around 50 years with just over 60% women. 65% are in employment and 50% have a positive smoking history. Approximately 28% are Ex-smokers and 25% are active smokers, compared with a national average of 25% and 22% respectively³⁹⁰. The mean height and BMI are comparable to the national average³⁹⁰. Around 70% of patients have uncomplicated superficial venous insufficiency, which is causing a significant impairment in QoL, as evidenced by the AVVQ scores. This is typical of such a group and is comparable to that observed in Study 1.

				Surgery	EVLA	P-Value
Age (yrs)		49 (37-58)	51 (39-58)	0.601		
Female Gender		65.7%	61.2%	0.433 [†]		
Left le	g			54.0%	52.5%	0.803 [†]
Smoki	ng E	Ex-Smoker	•	28.5%	26.5%	0.805 ⁺
Status	. (Current Sn	noker	23.1%	26.5%	0.805
Emplo	yed			62.0%	66.9%	0.399^{\dagger}
Antipl	atelet	/ Anticoag	gulant			
use				8.8%	6.5%	0.474 ⁺
Height	t (m)			1.7 (1.6-1.8)	1.7 (1.6-1.8)	0.274
Body I	Mass li	ndex (kgm	⁻²)	25.9 (23.1-28.9)	25.3 (23.1-29.1)	0.583
Diamo	tor GS	SV (mm):	Groin	7.5 (6.5-9.6)	8.3 (6.9-10.0)	0.101
Diame		ov (11111).	Knee	6.4 (5.4-7.5)	6.3 (5.4-7.7)	0.841
Venou	Venous Clinical Severity Score		4 (3-5)	4 (3-5)	0.919	
CEAD	Clinica	l Grade	C2	70.1%	68.8%	0.824 [†]
CLAP	Cinica	I UI aue	C3-C6	29.9%	31.2%	0.024
	Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire		in	13.7 (9.9-18.2)	12.6 (9.6-17.2)	0.177
	Physi	ical Functi	on	90 (80-100)	90 (75-100)	0.644
ins	Role-	Physical		100 (75-100)	100 (50-100)	0.170
na	Bodil	y Pain		74 (52-100)	74 (52-100)	0.609
o		eral Health	1	77 (67-87)	77 (62-92)	0.377
	O Vitality		70 (53-80)	70 (55-80)	0.616	
Social Function		100 (75-100)	100 (75-100)	0.242		
Scial Function Role-Physical Bodily Pain General Health Vitality Social Function Role-Emotional		100	100	0.553		
Mental Health		80 (68-90)	84 (68-92)	0.027		
				0.841 (0.796-	0.848 (0.796-	
Euroq	ol Hea	Ith Index S	Score	1.000)	1.000)	0.954
SE6D F	SF6D Health Index Score			0.795 (0.717- 0.847)	0.804 (0.744- 0.856)	0.172
Table 19: Paseline comparison of the				,	E 26 LIK Short Form	

Table 18: Baseline comparison of the groups (Study 2). SF-36 – UK Short Form-36 V1, Role-Physical – Role limitation due to physical disability, Role- Emotional – Role limitation due to emotional problems, SF6D – Single index utility score derived from SF-36. Figures are quoted as median (inter-quartile range) and the P values are derived from the MWU test unless otherwise stated: $^{+} - \chi^{2}$ test

3.6 Clinical Outcomes

Peri-procedural Outcomes

Procedural details: In the surgical group the mean (SD) strip length was 33 (11) cm. In the EVLA group the mean (SD) energy density was 95 (15) Jcm^{-1} . EVLA had a marginally longer procedural duration than surgery (mean (SD): 67 (16) versus 61 (14) minutes – P=0.002 t test).

Procedural setting: Whilst all EVLA procedures were performed under outpatient conditions, unsuitability for day-case general anaesthetic surgery necessitated inpatient treatment in a proportion of the surgical group and 21% required an overnight in-patient stay (P<0.001 χ^2).

Technical Success: Clinical assessment and DUS data was collected within 6 weeks of intervention for 96.3% (132/137) of patients post Surgery and 98.6% (137/139) post EVLA. Initial technical success was significantly higher following EVLA 99.3% (136/137) versus 92.4% (122/132) (P=0.005 χ^2). The RR of success with EVLA compared to Surgery was 1.07 (1.02-1.07), giving a RD of 0.07 (0.02-0.12). The NNT with EVLA rather than Surgery to avoid one failure to complete the planned procedure was 14.3 (8.3-50.0).

The most common failure in the Surgery group was an inability to fully strip the incompetent GSV in the thigh due to the vein snapping (6/10). One of these

patients required subsequent EVLA to this remnant by 1 year. Two of the 10 Surgery failures were attributable to failed groin dissection secondary to significant scarring in patients reporting previous intravenous narcotic use. One of these patients underwent subsequent EVLA. Finally two patients had a single residual groin tributary emanating from the posterior aspect of the common femoral vein, this would be difficult to address with a standard surgical approach and of doubtful significance: none of these patients required further treatment.

The technical failure seen in the EVLA group resulted from an inability to cannulate the GSV due to spasm. This patient was happy with the results of their phlebectomy alone and has had no further treatment to date.

Pain scores: EVLA patients reported less post procedural pain than those following Surgery. This was evident from day 1 and maintained until at least day 6 (P=0.004 - P<0.001 MWU, *Table 19, Figure 35*).

Day	Surgery	EVLA	P-Value
0	2.7 (0.9-5.9)	2.0 (0.1-4.9)	0.097
1	2.2 (0.6-5.0)	1.1 (0.0-3.0)	0.004
2	1.7 (0.3-4.0)	0.6 (0.0-2.3)	<0.001
3	1.3 (0.2-3.2)	0.2 (0.0-1.5)	<0.001
4	1.4 (0.0-2.8)	0.3 (0.0-1.4)	0.001
5	1.0 (0.0-2.6)	0.2 (0.0-1.6)	0.001
6	0.9 (0.0-2.4)	0.0 (0.0-1.0)	<0.001

Table 19: *Post-procedural pain scores (Study 2).* Values indicate the med (IQR) scores reported on an unmarked visual analogue scale from 0 ("no pain at all") to 10 ("worst imaginable pain"). The P-values are derived from the MWU test



Figure 35: Post-procedural pain scores from the day of the procedure (day 0) until day 6 (Study 2). The visual analogue scale runs from 0 ("no pain at all") to 10 ("worst imaginable pain")

Analgesia requirement: As expected from the pain scores; the Surgical group had higher analgesia requirements than the EVLA group over the first week post-procedure, again evident from day 1 until at least day 6 (P=0.012-P=0.001 – χ^2 , *Table 20, Figure 36*).

Day	Surgery	EVLA	P-Value
0	68.0%	68.7%	0.904
1	61.1%	45.4%	0.012
2	49.2%	33.1%	0.009
3	41.8%	26.6%	0.011
4	40.2%	23.4%	0.004
5	37.7%	21.3%	0.004
6	35.0%	17.2%	0.001

Table 20: The percentage of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to control their pain over the first post-procedural week, by group (Study 2). Significance testing is with χ^2



Figure 36: The proportion of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to control their pain in the first post-procedural week *(Study 2)*

Complications: Complications were relatively rare in both groups. However the rates of sensory disturbance, haematoma and infection rates were significantly higher in the Surgical group than the EVLA group (*Table 21*).

	Surgery	EVLA	P-Value
Sensory Disturbance	9.8%	2.9%	0.020
Haematoma	8.3%	0.7%	0.003
Infection	6.0%	1.5%	0.048
Phlebitis	4.5%	2.9%	0.536
Persistent Pain	3.8%	0.7%	0.116
Pigmentation	0.8%	2.9%	0.371
GA complications	2.3%	0.0%	0.118
Persistent Bruising	1.5%	0.7%	0.618
Allergy	0.8%	0.0%	0.493
Thromboembolism	0.0%	0.0%	N/A

Table 21: Complications following Treatment (Study 2). Significance testing is with χ^2 .

Recovery: The Surgical group also took longer to return to normal activities than the EVLA group; 14 (7-25) versus 3 (1-10) days (P<0.001 MWU). The same pattern was seen in the time taken for employed individuals to return to work 14 (13-28) versus 4 (2-14) days (P<0.001 MWU, *Figure 37*).



Figure 37: Time taken to return to work and normal activities post procedure (Study 2)

Late Outcomes

Objective clinical assessment of venous disease*:* Both groups saw the same significant decrease (improvement) in VCSS scores over the study period from med (IQR) 4 (3-5) to 1 (0-1) by 3 months (P<0.001 MWU, *Figure 38*). This was maintained up to 1 year. There was no difference between either group at any time point.



Figure 38: Clinical Severity of Venous Disease, using the Venous Clinical severity score, over time, by group (Study 2)

Clinical Recurrence: Clinical recurrence by 1 year was significantly more common in the Surgery group than the EVLA group: 20.4% (23/113) versus 4.0% (5/124) (P<0.001 χ^2 , *Table 22*). The NNT with EVLA to avoid one clinical recurrence post Surgery was approximately 6. This analysis is based upon those successfully followed up and undergoing DUS at 1 year. A sensitivity analysis was performed based upon different assumptions regarding the outcomes of those not followed up. With the exception of the assumption that all EVLA patients lost to follow-up underwent clinical recurrence and none of those lost following Surgery did; recurrence remained significantly higher following Surgery, resulting in an estimated NNT of approximately between 3 and 8.

Group	Proportion of patients with recurrence (%)	P value	RR (95%CI)	RD (95%CI)	NNT (95% CI)
Surgery EVLA	23/113 (20.4) 5/124 (4.0)	<0.001	0.20 (0.08- 0.50)	0.16 (0.08- 0.25)	6.3 (4.0- 12.5)
	Assume no lost patients have recurred			0.13 (0.06- 0.20)	7.7 (5.0- 16.7)
Assume all lost patients have recurred		0.42 (0.26- 0.67)	0.20 (0.10- 0.30)	5.0 (3.3- 10.0)	
Assume all EVLA lost have recurred but no Surgery lost recurred		0.86 (0.49- 1.49)	0.02 (-0.06- 0.11)	N/A	
Assume all Surgery Lost have recurred but no EVLA lost recurred			0.10 (0.04- 0.26)	0.31 (0.22- 0.39)	3.2 (2.6-4.5)

Table 22: The proportion of patients by group with clinical recurrence at 1 year (Study 2). The top row represents the actual data collected. The bottom half of the table contains a sensitivity analysis testing the effect of differing extreme assumptions regarding those lost to follow up upon clinical recurrence. The P value relates to the null hypothesis test that there is no significant difference between the groups and is derived using χ^2 . RR is relative risk of clinical recurrence following endovenous laser (EVLA) compared to Surgery, RD is risk difference and NNT is the number needed to treat with EVLA to avoid 1 case of clinical recurrence at 1 year following Surgery

Patterns of recurrence: Up to 1 year, patients regarded as initial technical failures in either group have not been shown to suffer a significantly higher incidence of clinical recurrence than the technical successes (P=0.427 - P=1.000 χ^2); however

technical failure was rare in this study and the power to detect this difference is consequently low (*Table 23*).

Following Surgery, clinical recurrence was most commonly seen in association with an incompetent below knee GSV, followed by recurrence from the groin and new incompetent perforators. Of those with recurrence secondary to an incompetent below knee GSV, 83% (10/12) of these incompetent segments were amenable to EVLA preoperatively and 75% (9/12) were amenable at the time of recurrence; as judged by an experienced endovenous surgeon (in one case the vein became too tortuous to treat with an endothermal ablative technique during follow-up).

Recurrence emanating from the groin following successful Surgery was related to neovascularisation leading to neoreflux (reflux not evident pre or immediately post procedure) in the superficial veins of the thigh, most commonly the ASV. In many cases these incompetent veins were seen to lead back into the perigenicular GSV. Evidence of neovascularisation in the groin was noted from as early as 3 months following Surgery and seen in 15% (17/113) of cases by 1 year. 53% (9/17) of patients with neovascularisation on DUS at 1 year were yet to show evidence of clinical recurrence at this time.

The most common feature associated with clinical recurrence following EVLA was from disease progression at the groin; this was mainly in the form of neoreflux in the ASV. This pattern appears similar to that associated with groin recurrence following Surgery, although no patients demonstrated convincing evidence of neovascularisation. Three patients showed some evidence of partial recanalisation of the treated GSV. They had received an energy density of 85, 87 and 112 Jcm⁻¹. This was compared to the overall mean (SD) of 95 (15) Jcm⁻¹. Two of these cases were yet to result in clinical recurrence by 1 year.

There was no convincing evidence of cross groin or supra-inguinal incompetence contributing to any of the observed cases of clinical recurrence.

Group	Source of recurrence on DUS	Proportion of recurrent cases (%)
	Below knee GSV	12/23 (52.2)
~	Groin	10/23 (43.5)
Surgery	Perforator	9/23 (39.1)
Sur	Saphenopopliteal junction	3/23 (13.0)
	Non-axial branches alone	3/23 (13.0)
	Groin	2/5 (40.0)
	Below knee GSV	1/5 (20.0)
EVLA	Saphenopopliteal junction	1/5 (20.0)
ш	Recanalisation	1/5 (20.0)
	Non-axial branches alone	1/5 (20.0)

Table 23: The association of patterns of reflux on DUS with clinical recurrence (*Study 2*). Some of these patterns (other than "Non-axial branches alone") coexisted, leading to the total incidence of all patterns being higher than the actual number of recurrent cases seen

Secondary procedures: There was no difference between EVLA and Surgery in terms of the number, timing or type of additional procedures performed by 1 year (P=0.357 – P=0.901 LR, χ^2). 18 patients in total had additional procedures. 12 had additional procedures for residual disease or technical failure in the absence of recurrence. A greater proportion of patients with clinical recurrence at 1 year underwent additional procedures than those without 21.4% (6/28) versus 5.7% (12/209, p=0.011 χ^2).

Ten Surgery and seven EVLA patients underwent additional phlebectomy with or without additional perforator ligation under local anaesthetic. Two Surgery patients underwent GSV EVLA. One Surgery patient underwent treatment for saphenopopliteal insufficiency.

Late Complications: No further complications were observed in either group up to 1 year follow-up.

3.7 Quality of Life Outcomes

Generic Quality of Life

SF-36 profile intragroup analysis

At 1 week, the Surgical group demonstrated significant deterioration in five of the eight SF-36 domains: Physical Function (P<0.001 WSR), Role-Physical (P<0.001 WSR), Bodily Pain (P<0.001 WSR), Social Function (P=0.001 WSR) and Role-

Emotional (P=0.029 WSR). EVLA demonstrated significant deterioration in only two of the eight SF-36 domains: Physical Function (P=0.018 WSR) and Role-Physical (P<0.001 WSR), with preservation of pre-operative scores in the domains of Bodily Pain, Social Function and Role-Emotional when compared with Surgery (See *Table 24, Figure 39 - Figure 46*).

After this initial deterioration, both treatments resulted in significant overall improvements in five of the eight domains: Surgery: Physical Function (P<0.001 F-A), Role-Physical (P=0.040 F-A), Bodily Pain (P<0.001 F-A), General Health (P=0.001 F-A) and Vitality (P=0.003 F-A). EVLA: Physical Function (P<0.001 F-A), Role-Physical (P=0.001 F-A), Bodily Pain (P<0.001 F-A), General Health (P=0.030 F-A) and Vitality (P<0.001 F-A).

SF-36 profile intergroup analysis

The relative preservation of QoL seen in the EVLA group at 1 week resulted in significantly higher (better) scores in six of the eight domains than those observed in the Surgical group: Physical Function (P=0.012 MWU), Role-Physical (P=0.005 MWU), Bodily Pain (P=0.031 MWU), Vitality (P=0.049 MWU), Social Function (P=0.004 MWU) and Role-Emotional (P=0.027 MWU). From 6 weeks onwards there were no differences between the groups (See *Table 24, Figure 39 - Figure 46*).



Figure 39: SF-36 Physical Function, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 40: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Physical Disability, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 41: SF-36 Bodily Pain, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 42: SF-36 General Health, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 43: SF-36 Vitality, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 44: SF-36 Social Function, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 45: SF-36 Role Limitation due to Emotional Problems, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 46: SF-36 Mental Health, over time, by group (Study 2)
		Week	Surgery	EVLA
	Dhusiaal	0	90 (80-100)	90 (75-100)
	Physical Function	1	80 (65-90)	88 (70-95)
	Function	52	95 (80-100)	95 (85-100)
		0	100 (75-100)	100 (50-100)
	Role-Physical	1	50 (0-100)	100 (25-100)
		52	100	100
		0	74 (52-100)	74 (52-100)
	Bodily Pain	1	62 (41-74)	74 (54-84)
SI		52	94 (72-100)	100 (72-100)
ir.		0	77 (67-87)	77 (62-92)
ŭ	General Health	1	82 (72-92)	81 (67-92)
JO LO		52	82 (72-92)	82 (67-92)
SF-36 Domains		0	70 (53-80)	70 (55-80)
36	Vitality	1	65 (55-80)	70 (60-80)
С Ц		52	75 (65-85)	75 (60-85)
S		0	100 (75-100)	100 (75-100)
	Social Function	1	75 (63-100)	100 (75-100)
		52	100 (75-100)	100 (88-100)
	Role-Emotional	0	100	100
		1	100 (67-100)	100
		52	100	100
		0	80 (68-90)	84 (68-92)
	Mental Health	1	84 (68-92)	88 (76-92)
		52	88 (76-92)	88 (74-92)
Abordoo	n Varicose Veins	0	13.7 (9.9-18.2)	12.6 (9.6-17.2)
Question		1	16.5 (12.2-22.7)	16.6 (12.4-21.1)
Question	mane	52	2.0 (0-5.3)	2.0 (0-5.3)
Euroqol Health Index Score		0	0.841 (0.796-1.000)	0.848 (0.796-1.000)
		1	0.801 (0.691-0.895)	0.796 (0.760-1.000)
		52	1.000 (0.841-1.000)	1.000 (0.877-1.000)
SF6D Health Index Score		0	0.795 (0.717-0.847)	0.804 (0.744-0.856)
		1	0.759 (0.672-0.830)	0.796 (0.735-0.838)
		52	0.835 (0.777-0.878)	0.843 (0.773-0.876)

Table 24: Observed health related quality of life (Study 2). SF-36 – UK Short Form-36 V1, Role-Physical – Role limitation due to physical disability, Role- Emotional – Role limitation due to emotional problems, SF6D – Single index utility score derived from SF-36. Figures are quoted as median (inter-quartile range)

EQ5D index scores

Both groups saw a significant decrease (worsening) of EQ5D scores at 1 week (Surgery P=0.003 WSR, EVLA P=0.024 WSR). Again following this there was an increase (improvement) in scores over the study period (P<0.001 F-A). There was no significant difference between the groups at any time (See *Table 24, Figure 47*).



Figure 47: Euroqol Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 2)

SF6D index scores

A different story was seen with SF6D scores, where deterioration was only evident in the Surgical group at 1 week (P<0.001 WSR); scores were preserved in the EVLA group, with no difference from baseline (P=0.141 WSR). As with EQ5D both groups saw significant improvements overall (P<0.001 F-A). This lack of deterioration from pre-operative health status at 1 week in the EVLA group resulted in significantly higher (better) scores when compared to patients receiving Surgery (P=0.003 MWU) (See *Table 24, Figure 48*).



Figure 48: SF6D Utility Index Scores, over time, by group (Study 2)

Disease Specific Quality of Life

Both groups saw the same significant increase (worsening) in AVVQ scores at 1 week (P<0.001 WSR). This in turn was followed by a decrease (improvement) in AVVQ scores over the study period from baseline (P<0.001 F-A). There was no 219

significant difference in AVVQ scores between the groups at any time point (*Table 24, Figure 49*).

Patients with clinical recurrence at 1 year reported significantly higher (worse) AVVQ scores than those who did not - 4.6 (1.7-9.4) versus 2.0 (0.0-4.9) (P<0.001 MWU, *Figure 50*); demonstrating that although this recurrence is early and relatively minor at this stage, there is some early impact upon QoL.



Figure 49: Disease Specific Quality of Life Impairment using the Aberdeen Varicose Veins Questionnaire, over time, by group (Study 2)



Figure 50: Aberdeen Varicose veins Questionnaire results at 1 year for patients with and without clinical recurrence at 1 year (Study 2)

All of the observed longitudinal and cross sectional changes in QoL instrument scores reaching statistical significance in this trial are independently accepted as being clinically significant and of a meaningful magnitude (unless otherwise stated)^{49,51,388,389,391}.

3.8 Patient Satisfaction

EVLA patients reported slightly higher satisfaction with the cosmetic outcome of the procedure at 1 year (P=0.034 MWU), however there was no significant difference in satisfaction with the overall treatment (*Figure 51*).

Patients with early evidence of clinical recurrence reported lower satisfaction in terms of cosmesis - 8.0 (7.0-9.7) versus 9.8 (9.0-10.0) (P<0.001 MWU) and overall satisfaction - 9.9 (8.2-10) versus 10 (9.5-10) (P=0.016 MWU, *Figure 52*).



Figure 51: Patient reported satisfaction with the cosmetic outcome and the overall treatment by treatment group (Study 2). Values indicate the reported on an unmarked visual analogue scale from 0 ("Completely unsatisfied") to 10 ("Completely satisfied")



Figure 52: Patient reported satisfaction with the cosmetic outcome and the overall treatment in those with and without clinical recurrence at 1 year (Study 2). Values indicate the reported on an unmarked visual analogue scale from 0 ("Completely unsatisfied") to 10 ("Completely satisfied")

Study 3; Procedure refinement – Energy delivery during 810nm endovenous laser ablation of superficial venous insufficiency and post-procedural morbidity

3.9 Patient Recruitment and Baseline Analysis

Some 232 patients were included in this analysis with attention to the inclusion and exclusion criteria outlined for the study. The mean (range) age was 50 (18-83) years. 63% were women. The mean diameter for each treated vein was calculated by dividing the sum of the diameter 1cm distal to the junction and the diameter at the point of cannulation by 2. The mean (range) diameter of the vein segments treated was therefore 7.4 (3.0-16.4) mm (assuming uniformity). There was no statistical difference between the energy given to men or women (P=0.404 t test) and therefore no further gender-specific analysis was performed. Baseline clinical severity scores and quality of life are shown in *Table 25*. No further analysis was performed of baseline data as its inclusion in the models themselves controls for any variation, precluding the necessity.

		Baseline	1 Week	6 Weeks	
Venous Clinical Severity Score		4 (3-5) N/A		N/A	
Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire		12.9 (9.9-17.8)	9 (9.9-17.8) 16.8 (12.8-21.8)		
Euroqol Health Index Score		0.796 (0.760- 1.000)	0.796 (0.708- 1.000)	1.000 (0.796- 1.000)	
ains	Physical Function	90 (75-100)	85 (70-95)	95 (80-100)	
Domains	Role- Physical	100 (50-100)	75 (0-100)	100 (75-100)	
SF-36 [Bodily Pain	74 (51-84)	74 (51-84)	84 (62-100)	
SF	General Health	77 (60-90)	77 (67-92)	82 (67-92	

Table 25: *Clinical and quality of life measures at baseline, 1 week and 6 weeks post-procedure (Study 3).* SF-36 – UK Short Form-36 V1, Role-Physical – Role limitation due to physical disability. Figures are quoted as median (inter-quartile range)

3.10 Clinical Outcomes

Energy delivery: The mean (range) energy delivery used was 89.8 (44.5-158.4) Jcm⁻¹.

Setting: All procedures were performed under local anaesthetic in an outpatient setting. No patients required sedation or an overnight stay.

Pain scores: There was no statistically significant relationship between the energy delivered and the magnitude of post-procedural pain reported by patients (*Table 26*).

Day	Pain Score	Effect size	Proportion of Variance (R ²)	P-Value
0	1.7 (0.3-4.9)	-0.16	2.7%	0.087
1	1.2 (0.0-3.0)	-0.15	2.2%	0.154
2	0.6 (0.0-2.1)	0.06	0.4%	0.570
3	0.2 (0.0-1.5)	0.05	0.3%	0.649
4	0.3 (0.0-1.3)	0.03	0.1%	0.821
5	0.2 (0.0-1.5)	0.07	0.5%	0.559
6	0.0 (0.0-1.0)	0.08	0.6%	0.562

Table 26: *Results of a linear regression model analysing the effect of linear energy delivery (Jcm*⁻¹) *on patient reported post-procedural pain scores (Study 3).* Pain score values indicate the med (IQR) scores reported on an unmarked visual analogue scale from 0 ("no pain at all") to 10 ("worst imaginable pain"). The effects of age, gender, body mass index, vein dimensions and pre-procedural quality of life are controlled

Analgesia requirement: There was no statistically significant relationship between the energy delivered and the requirement for supplementary analgesia during the first post-procedural week (*Table 27*).

Day	Percentage of Patients	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P-Value
0	64.6	1.002 (0.995-1.031)	0.154
1	45.5	1.016 (0.998-1.033)	0.078
2	32.1	1.002 (0.984-1.021)	0.805
3	21.5	1.009 (0.986-1.032)	0.461
4	17.2	1.005 (0.981-1.030)	0.669
5	18.7	1.010 (0.987-1.034)	0.405
6	14.4	1.005 (0.979-1.032)	0.693

Table 27: Results of a logistic regression model analysing the effect of linear energy delivery (Jcm⁻¹) on the proportion of patients requiring supplementary analgesia to control their pain (Study 3). The effects of age, gender, body mass index, vein dimensions and pre-procedural quality of life are controlled

Recovery: Increasing energy delivery also had no demonstrable effect upon the

number of days taken to return to work or to other activities (Table 28).

Recovery Time in Days		Effect size	Proportion of Variance (R ²)	P-Value
Work	4 (1-11)	-0.18	3.4%	0.088
Normal activity	3 (1-14)	-0.11	1.2%	0.210

Table 28: Results of a linear regression model analysing the effect of linear energy delivery (Jcm⁻¹) on the time taken by patients to return to work and return to normal activities (Study 3). Recovery time values indicate the med (IQR) number of days reported. The effects of age, gender, body mass index, vein dimensions and pre-procedural quality of life are controlled

Complications: Complications were uncommon and therefore were insufficient to allow meaningful further detailed analysis (*Table 29*).

Sensory Disturbance	3.7%
Phlebitis	2.1%
Pigmentation	1.7%
Infection	1.2%
Haematoma	0.4%
DVT	0.0%

Table 29: Percentage of patients with complications (Study 3)

3.11 Health Related Quality of Life Outcomes

The QoL data at each time point is summarized in *Table 25*. Increasing energy delivery had no statistically significant effect upon generic QoL outcomes or disease specific AVVQ scores at 1 week (*Table 30*). At 6 weeks, there was a weak association between increasing energy delivery and higher (worse) AVVQ scores. This was of borderline statistical significance and accounted for only 3.1% of the variance at this time point. This brings into doubt the clinical significance of this finding.

		Week	Effect Size	Proportion of Variance (R ²)	P-Value
	Physical Function	1	0.06	0.4%	0.451
	Role-Physical		0.05	0.3%	0.536
ains	Bodily Pain		0.08	0.6%	0.344
Domains	General Health		0.13	1.8%	0.111
Õ	Physical Function	6	0.16	2.6%	0.072
SF-36	Role-Physical		0.16	2.6%	0.073
	Bodily Pain		0.13	1.6%	0.162
	General Health		0.12	1.4%	0.203
Aberd	Aberdeen Varicose Vein		0.06	0.4%	0.464
Questionnaire		6	-0.18	3.1%	0.050
Euroqol Health Index Score		1	0.06	0.4%	0.484
		6	0.08	0.6%	0.402

Table 30: Results of the linear regression model charting the effect of linear energy delivery (Jcm⁻¹) on post-procedural quality of life (Study 3). SF-36 – UK Short Form-36 V1, Role-Physical – Role limitation due to physical disability. The effects of age, gender, body mass index, vein dimensions and pre-procedural quality of life are controlled

Chapter 4 - Discussion

These three studies all provide a significant contribution to the evolving literature focused upon the use of minimally invasive interventions for the treatment of SVI.

Study 1 was the first trial designed to explore the impact of different treatment approaches in the management of tributaries aiming to establish the optimal treatment of non axial SVI.

Study 2 was not the first randomised trial to present its findings of a comparison of minimally invasive treatment with the gold standard of conventional surgery. However, it was the first to focus upon the true outcome of interest in venous intervention; namely health related quality of life. It was the first trial with sufficient power to allow in-depth analysis of health-related quality of life; powered to detect small, but significant differences in quality of life and the first to clearly elicit the benefits of this new technology.

Finally Study 3 was the first to explore the link between the safety and morbidity of the EVLA procedure with the magnitude of energy applied to the target vein; aiming to shed light onto the debate regarding the optimum energy delivery to balance recanalisation and potential harm.

Previous studies have centred on technical and safety outcomes, and have shown new endothermal ablative techniques in particular to be safe³³⁶ and result in better duplex derived outcomes than conventional surgery³³². The hope is that recurrence rates will be reduced in the long term, although a clear understanding of the impact of the milder degrees of recurrent veins on QoL has yet to be ascertained. Until now, there has been little hard evidence to show that EVLA, or the other technologies, demonstrates measurable QoL benefits over conventional surgery.

What has been shown clearly is that successful treatment of venous insufficiency results in significant QoL improvements⁵⁰. Minimally invasive techniques have been demonstrated to result in less post-procedural pain than surgery^{312,372,392-394}, and allow an earlier return to work and normal activities³⁹²⁻³⁹⁵, although this has not been a unanimous finding^{312,396}.

4.1 Effectiveness

Study 1 illustrates that EVLA with or without concomitant phlebectomy is a popular, effective and well tolerated procedure. EVLA improves objective clinical venous severity, resulting in significant benefits in QoL. Study 2 confirms that both surgery and EVLA are popular and equally highly efficacious interventions. Both treatments result in significant improvements in the objective severity of venous disease, with lower VCSS values after treatment. This subsequently produced a decrease in AVVQ scores, signifying a reduction in the impact of venous disease on QoL, which in turn had a positive effect on generic QoL. Primarily the physical, rather than emotional and psychological, attributes of health were improved, enhancing overall QoL, as evidenced by QALY gains. This is in agreement with the

findings of a study modelling the quality of life impairment seen in association with SVI, where the reported morbidity was centred on physical domains⁴⁴. It has been shown that cosmetic concern is most closely associated with mental health⁴⁶, highlighting the dominance of physical rather than cosmetic concerns of sufferers.

Patient satisfaction is known to be low following venous surgery²⁹⁸ and it is reassuring to see such high rates following either treatment. There is a trend that fewer patients are being referred for treatment of varicose veins in the UK²⁶⁵. The data from this and other studies^{43,50,268,397} suggest that treatment results in significant, durable improvement in QoL.

Study 1 indicates that concomitant ambulatory phlebectomy alongside EVLA is feasible under local anaesthetic as an outpatient procedure. It is well tolerated, with no significant increase in postoperative pain detected. There was a trend towards faster recovery in those who had EVLA alone, but this did not reach statistical significance owing to the small sample size and the additional recovery period following any subsequent procedures was not accounted for in this comparison. EVLTAP took a median of 20 minutes longer to perform, but to counter this; two-thirds of patients in the Control group returned for subsequent phlebectomy, which was reflected in significantly worse VCSS values at 3 months. This inconvenience and morbidity of subsequent procedures resulted in a demonstrably poorer disease specific QoL at 6 weeks and 3 months. If patients do not undergo phlebectomy at the time of initial treatment, it takes up to a year to see the same QoL benefit as in those who have EVLTAP. One question that cannot be answered is whether the patients who had not undergone phlebectomy by 1 year would have benefited from it, or whether it would have been an unnecessary procedure. The Control group continued to have higher AVVQ scores at 1 year, although this did not reach statistical significance. It seems unlikely that patients undergoing phlebectomy after 6 weeks would have been significantly worse than those in the EVLTAP group at 1 year. It is therefore possible that that those who did not have phlebectomy account for this difference at 1 year, although this involved only eight patients. The lack of significant difference in any of the psychological domains of SF-36 suggests that the observed differences in AVVQ scores were due to the specific venous symptoms and not to the negative psychological effect of having residual veins.

Although the EVLTAP group showed a significant improvement in EQ-5D scores from 6 weeks, there was no improvement in the Control group. This would suggest a generic QoL benefit in favour of EVLTAP, but this was not proven on intergroup analysis. It is possible that this represents a type II error, as the sensitivity of the EQ-5D is relatively low and the study was not powered to analyse intragroup EQ-5D scores.

Comparison of studies which utilise laser therapy alone, or in combination with concomitant phlebectomy, but do not directly compare the two approaches, is difficult due to variation in study design. However, we can be certain that combining laser therapy with concomitant phlebectomy significantly reduces the requirement for subsequent interventions in this randomised clinical trial from 67% to 4%. In other studies the requirement for secondary procedures following 233 isolated laser therapy varies considerably from 17% to 95%^{393,398,399}. Secondary procedures are unpopular with patients; with 71% wanting full treatment of their varicose veins in a single visit³⁶⁵. This one stop, single treatment seems attractive to both patients and surgeons who appear to be voting with their feet⁴⁰⁰⁻⁴⁰².

On the basis of the Study 1 findings; it was decided that the EVLA group in Study 2 should receive concomitant ambulatory phlebectomy. As discussed above; Study 2 confirmed equivalent improvements in objective disease severity and quality of life up to 1 year following both EVLA and surgery. In a trial with the power of Study 2 and given the differences observed in Study 1; if concomitant phlebectomy had not been employed in the EVLA arm, it seems likely that there would have been a significant deficit in clinical and symptomatic improvement when compared with surgery.

The next issue to explore was whether EVLA addresses any of the limitations of conventional surgery (See p117).

4.2 Post-procedural Morbidity

Any invasive procedure will have some negative short-term impact on QoL, but this was minimized in the group receiving EVLA. The surgery group had a significant deterioration in early QoL, whereas QoL was relatively preserved following EVLA. Patients who had EVLA saw less disruption in their activities of daily living, and returned to normal within less time. The time taken to return to work is known to be influenced by multiple factors^{403,404}. However, the groups in this study were well matched at baseline, and efforts were made to give the same advice regarding the expected convalescence. Thus the difference of 10 days reported here is likely to be real.

It is important to note that despite any concerns regarding additional pain and prolonged healing following concomitant phlebectomy; this study clearly shows that EVLA with concomitant phlebectomy is superior to what was widely regarded as current best practice.

4.3 Recurrence

Analysis of 64 prospective studies of endovenous treatments for varicose veins suggested that freedom from incompetence on duplex ultrasound examination was more likely at 5 years after EVLA than following surgery (95.4 versus 75.7%)³³². However this paper was criticised for compiling data from hetrogenous case series with hetrogenous outcomes. Study 2 has clearly confirmed the higher rates of early clinical recurrence following surgery compared with EVLA. The fear of recurrence is significantly high amongst patients (90%)³⁶⁵ making this a significant issue irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the degree of associated quality of life impairment. It has been claimed that the observed high recurrence rates following surgery for varicose veins are related to the technical inadequacy of the initial procedure^{299,405-407}. This has been challenged; recurrence after surgery is progressive from as early as 3 months, at sites that had undergone proven technically adequate surgery²⁹⁶. This was shown again here, as postoperative duplex imaging confirmed the adequacy of standard groin surgery in all but two patients; yet almost half of recurrences were related to recurrent groin incompetence and 15.0% overall had convincing evidence of neovascularisation by 1 year. Another large duplex ultrasound study of 264 legs with symptomatic recurrent veins found that 70.8% had groin recurrence (20.4% due to an intact SFJ, leaving 50.4% due to neovascularisation) and 57.2% had residual incompetent GSVs⁴⁰⁸. About half of the patients in Study 2 with neovascularisation have not yet suffered a clinical recurrence. Given the evidence to date, if they do; the gap

between EVLA and surgery may be widened further, even in the absence of the development of more sources of neoreflux.

Neovascularisation has been implicated as the leading cause of surgical recurrence in several studies^{294,302,408-410} with rates as high as 52% at 2 years^{294,305} and 79% at 5 years^{291,296}; evidence of neovascularisation on duplex imaging at 1 year has shown a positive predictive value for clinical recurrence of 70–100%⁴¹¹. This is ultimately linked to the need for reintervention²⁹⁷. Barrier techniques aiming to reduce the rates of neovascularisation have shown mixed results^{291,304-309,412} and are not in widespread routine use. Neovascularisation is thought to be the result of angiogenesis following the tissue trauma of surgical dissection⁴¹⁰, whereas it is speculated that extra venous inflammation does not occur following EVLA. It has also been suggested that the preservation of groin tributaries during EVLA avoids the stimulus for angiogenesis³⁴⁸; some surgeons even preserve groin tributaries during saphenofemoral ligation on this basis⁴¹³. It seems naive to believe that EVLA causes no extra venous inflammation. Anecdotally groin dissections following EVLA recurrence secondary to groin tributaries has found evidence of fibrosis. Irrespective of these arguments, neovascularisation appears rare following EVLA.

This trial also demonstrated a flaw in the widely practised principle of only stripping the GSV to the knee. Below knee GSV reflux is especially significant, due to its association with CVI (See *Table 3, p39*) and therefore it can be argued that this mandates particular attention during treatment. The largest number of recurrences were also associated with incompetence in the below-knee GSV^{408,409}

and on detailed analysis there is some suggestion that the occurrence of aboveknee neoreflux may be associated with residual below knee disease. If proven definitively, this would clearly lend some support to the ascending theory of venous insufficiency (See *The Pathogenesis of Primary Venous Insufficiency p49*). It has been argued that the length of GSV stripping should be dictated by the length of refluxing vein and not concerns over injury to the saphenous nerve²⁸⁵⁻²⁸⁷; full-length stripping remains controversial. Below-knee EVLA, in contrast, is safe and effective as shown in this study and others^{399,414} and many of the incompetent below knee segments in the surgical arm would have been amenable to treatment with EVLA initially.

Several independent research groups have established that the magnitude of energy delivery during EVLA is the most important predictor of success³⁶⁶⁻³⁶⁸ and increasing energy delivery has resulted in improved occlusion rates^{369,370}. Commonly energy deliveries of around 20-40 Jcm⁻¹ or equivalent fluence calculations have been used, but the current best evidence points to improved results at energies higher than this and many providers now use 80-100 Jcm⁻¹. Despite this, 100% success remains an elusive goal. The reluctance to increase energy delivery further is most likely due to concerns that this may result in increased morbidity and complications from the procedure. There is however, no evidence that this is the case, when EVLA is performed using tumescent anaesthetic solution.

Early recurrence is uncommon following EVLA in Study 2 and all but one of those observed were associated with the development of new incompetence, including 238

in the groin tributaries, which occurs despite a policy of placing the fibre tip at the SFJ. This has been observed previously⁴¹⁵, although some claim that such tributaries are insignificant⁴¹⁶. It is difficult to suggest how this can be prevented and it seems likely that, alongside neoreflux in the saphenopopliteal junction, perforators and non-axial branches, it represents natural background disease progression. All three patients who had recanalisation after EVLA in this trial were treated above the previously recommended 810nm energy density threshold of 60 Jcm^{-1 367}, suggesting that this threshold may be too low. No recanalisation was seen when energy densities above 115 Jcm⁻¹ were used.

One would expect that increasing the magnitude of energy delivery to the vein would increase the magnitude of tissue damage created, increasing both pain and swelling, alongside analgesia requirement. This should then have a detectable impact upon quality of life, reducing mobility and general health perception. Patients would take longer to recover. Moreover, transmission of thermal energy beyond the vein should, in theory damage surrounding structures resulting in higher complication rates. Study 3 does not support this proposed theorem (within the range of energy utilized). Increasing energy had no effect upon pain or analgesia requirements. The effect of energy upon AVVQ scores at 6 weeks is of borderline statistical significance and doubtful clinical significance; energy accounts for just 3.1% of the variation. It has been previously found that generic QoL analysis is more sensitive to the QoL changes associated with periprocedural morbidity than AVVQ⁴¹⁷ and yet there was no difference seen in either of the instruments analysed. It follows therefore that there was no effect upon recovery

239

times and complication rates were low, adding further support to the evidence that EVLA is a very safe procedure^{332,333,336}. The sample size used in this analysis is double that required for testing the significance of an individual predictor, and so it is unlikely that any significant relationship has been missed.

It seems likely that these results are explained by the use of tumescent local anaesthetic. Accurate and meticulous infiltration of local anaesthetic around the vein causes hydro-dissection of the surrounding tissues away from the vein and the laser fibre. This fluid collapses the vein around the fibre and acts as a heat sink, reducing the transmission of thermal energy by convection and conduction beyond the vein wall. The 810nm photons from this laser are primarily absorbed by haemoglobin within the blood³²⁷, minimizing the transmission of radiant energy beyond the vein, also trapping the heat where it is needed: inside the vein. This may not be the case with longer wavelengths, which are primarily absorbed by water, and may therefore be transmitted to the heat sink and possibly beyond.

The early benefits of concomitant phlebectomy and treatment of incompetent perforators upon effectiveness has been discussed above, however it is possible that they could have a favourable impact upon disease recurrence also. The ascending theory of venous insufficiency (See *The Pathogenesis of Primary Venous Insufficiency p49*) would suggest that unaddressed tributary incompetence will gradually result in the development of further disease more proximally. It is therefore uncertain whether these results can be applied to the simple treatment of isolated superficial axes with EVLA alone, either in terms of early efficacy or later recurrence. These studies do not at present provide clear evidence on this 240

issue and Study 1 is clearly not powered to look at recurrence; only a handful of patients got to 1 year without requesting further intervention.

4.4 Additional Findings

Cost utility analysis in economic evaluation requires the use of utility scoring systems to estimate the QALY value associated with differing health states. The different utility scoring systems, lead to different results, therefore standardisation is required. In the UK, NICE recommends that cost utility analysis should utilise EQ5D¹⁹⁰ and it is also the chosen generic instrument for the routine collection of patient-reported outcome measures in the UK¹⁹¹. However the newer SF6D has shown some relative advantages. Firstly it can be derived from previous studies using SF36 or SF12, when no dedicated utility scoring system was utilised. Additionally, the theoretical basis at the heart of SF6D is the standard gamble and the principle of decision making with uncertainty. This is felt by purists to be the optimum method for valuing health states (See *Index utility p95*). Finally Study 2 highlights the increased sensitivity of SF6D, allowing it to detect differences missed by EQ5D.

It has been noted previously that EQ-5D is a relatively insensitive instrument, particularly when used in situations such as Study $2^{50,222,418}$. These findings challenge the place of EQ5D in this context; however despite the drawbacks of

241

QALY league tables when comparing different healthcare programmes²¹², analyses must be made using broadly similar units. This is because the principle of rational economic decision making under a fixed budgetary constraint relies upon the adoption of an economically favourable programme by the sacrifice of the least favourable programme(s), thus freeing the required resources. This process clearly cannot be undertaken with any certainty if programmes are not valued in the same units. The adoption of a new index system would therefore require a "currency exchange" across the entire healthcare landscape.

4.5 Critique

In common with most comparative trials of SVI treatment, neither the patients nor the assessors could be blinded to the techniques used. The risk of observer bias was reduced, however, as the majority of key outcomes reported (including the primary outcomes) were reported independently by the patient. Those observed by an assessor were registered using objective and validated instruments. Furthermore specific imaging protocols and definitions were also used to minimize the possibility of bias.

As with all trials of venous interventions; continued and complete follow-up is challenging. This did not have a critical effect on the power of the trials for example, in Study 2; a sensitivity analysis explored the confidence of the results given extreme assumptions regarding those lost to follow-up. EVLA reliably had lower recurrence rates at all sensible assumptions. Follow-up on the whole was relatively short following venous intervention and data acquisition must continue.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were fairly specific. In designing these trials, the aim was to produce studies which gave clarity in the outcome and interpretation, while being a true reflection of clinical practice in the UK. QoL data are subject to significant degrees of unsystematic variation, leading to problems with statistical interpretation. Therefore, it was felt important to minimize variation and allow meaningful differences to be uncovered.

A criticism of Study 2 is that patients in the surgery arm underwent conventional inversion stripping under general anaesthesia. This reflects the predominant practice in the UK. Newer techniques such as cryostripping, or the use of tumescent anaesthesia for surgical stripping are described, but there is little convincing evidence to date that these will significantly improve short-term outcomes following surgery^{312,315,393}.

A criticism of Study 3 is that although all patients underwent some concomitant treatment (phlebectomy and/or perforator ligation), the extent of these procedures could not be controlled between individuals. However; these procedures maximize the quality of life benefits of treatment (as per the findings of Study 1) and achieve the much desired aim of one-stop treatment⁴¹⁹⁻⁴²¹. This study therefore aimed to reflect true clinical practice with the aim of allowing the results to be generalized.

243

4.6 Further Avenues of Research

The popularity of minimally invasive techniques for the treatment of superficial venous insufficiency has led to a series of studies aiming to establish which is optimal. A large industry has developed centred around these technologies, and with a market of such considerable size, financial backing has found its way in the form of industry sponsored studies. Some question the quality and validity of some of the resultant findings and it is difficult to make any firm conclusions at present. A detailed discussion of the evidence to date is beyond the scope of this thesis, which was designed to establish the relationship of one of these technologies with the gold standard. There is little conclusive evidence to date that one approach is an obvious leader, but each has its advocates and each has comparative strengths and weaknesses in different situations. This has led to a number of surgeons using differing techniques in different situations and the mixed use of technology in the same patient, particularly in the treatment of recurrence is not uncommon.

Presently there is much debate around the use of higher wavelength lasers and specialised fibre-tips. To date there is no conclusive evidence supporting improved results and care must be taken in this area. The thermodynamic and absorption profile of different wavelengths of laser are different. The hope is that this will lead to improved morbidity and side-effect profiles, but this could go the other way³⁴⁴ and using water specific wavelengths could see greater quantities of energy being transferred to the tumescent anaesthetic attenuating its effect as a "heat shield". It is also incorrect to assume that the recanalisation rates for short 244

wavelength lasers at specific energy densities can simply be applied to the new wavelengths or fibre tips altering the density of laser delivery, in the same way that the long term results of direct RFA cannot be applied to the ClosureFAST[®] device.

Economic analysis is a critical component of health technology assessment, more so now than ever. Economic modelling is an established technique, but the validity of its findings is entirely dependant upon the credible valuation of the QALY associated with each health state and the probability of transition between states. This process has clearly established the superiority of conventional surgery when compared with conservative management in the REACTIV trial⁵⁰. To date there has been only one detailed attempt at this for the modern management of SVI⁴²². This was a high quality Markov model analysis, finding EVLA under tumescent anaesthetic to have the highest probability of all treatments of being cost effective at the commonly quoted UK NHS threshold of £20 000 per QALY. Below this came day-case surgery (under GA) and then RFA (under tumescent anaesthetic). Foam sclerotherapy was dominated due to the assumption of high recurrence and re-intervention rates. An additional finding was that EVLA and RFA with concomitant phlebectomy under a GA was less likely to be cost effective than simple day-case surgery under GA. There were however flaws in the analysis: QoL following successful intervention was assumed to be the same for all groups (Study 2 disproves this). It was assumed that a GA would be required to perform concomitant phlebectomy (Study 1 disproves this). Some authors would also object to the high levels of recurrence assumed following foam

245

sclerotherapy^{358,359}. This paper therefore highlighted some of the issues with the current literature which need addressing to take such an analysis forward. Another such issue is the nature of recurrence. Little is known of the QoL impact of early recurrence. There is no doubt that by the time such cases present in clinic requesting treatment, there is little difference between them and those with no history of intervention, however it is impossible to draw firm conclusions regarding the significance and natural history of early recurrence seen on intensive follow-up such as that seen in Study 2. Further work in this area and upon the natural history of venous disease in general, will improve patient selection and inform economic models, allowing the extrapolation of such analyses over the appropriate time frame: a patient's lifetime. This area of economic analysis also highlights a methodological debate. Conventionally health economic analysis is performed from the perspective of the healthcare system; often (possibly erroneously) labelled as the "third party payer". Whilst from an international perspective this allows information transfer between differing models of healthcare provision, in the UK (where society is the third party payer); a societal perspective is arguably a more appropriate viewpoint. This would then consider the impact of minimally invasive treatments upon lost productivity and time spent away from employment.

A further area requiring additional study is the treatment of venous ulceration. Most cases of venous ulceration involve SVI (See *Patterns of Reflux, p36*) and the degree of venous hypertension is therefore amenable to reduction by the treatment of SVI. Whilst surgery for SVI is yet to be shown to improve ulcer

246

healing, it does decrease recurrence^{256,257}. A significant proportion of patients with venous ulcers are elderly, with significant co-morbidities making them less suitable for treatment under GA. In addition around 25% of patients refuse conventional surgery, when offered^{256,423}. The potential advantages of minimally invasive intervention are clear and research in this area is required.

4.7 Conclusions

SVI is a very common disease and results in significant impairment in health related QoL. The treatment of SVI has been demonstrated to be highly effective; improving QoL with an extremely competitive economic profile.

Endothermal ablation with EVLA of SVI is a popular, safe and effective treatment resulting in equivalent health benefits over time to those seen following conventional open surgery. Additionally EVLA addresses the limitations of conventional surgery; minimising the disruption in sufferer's lives and careers; resulting in superior post-procedural QoL and reducing early recurrence rates.

Concomitant phlebectomy with EVLA is feasible and acceptable to patients under local anaesthetic. The use of general anaesthesia negates some of the benefits and in particular has been shown to be economically non-viable. The application of concomitant phlebectomy virtually eliminates the need for any subsequent interventions and results in superior QoL benefits for at least the first year. There is no clear associated increase in post-procedural pain or time to recovery and patient satisfaction is very high. The only discernable disadvantage seems to be a small increase in operative time and the vast reduction in secondary procedures more than compensates for this.

In experienced hands 810 nm EVLA is safe and effective, with no evidence of increased complications or morbidity associated with increasing energy delivery in the range studied. This confidence in the safety of EVLA has allowed the increase in applied energy density to result in enviably low recanalisation rates, but the optimal energy required to result in 100% closure rates is yet unknown. It is likely that the aim of durable one-stop treatment, first time, and every time is possible.

The benefits of minimally invasive intervention with EVLA and concomitant phlebectomy mandate the consideration of adoption of this technology as the gold standard treatment for SVI.

References

- (1) Garrison FH. An Outline of the History of the Circulatory System. Bull N Y Acad Med 1931; 7(10):781-806.
- (2) Tammisto T, Tammisto C. Finland's first anaesthesia revealed by newspapers. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1999; 43:97-99.
- Keller WL. A new method of extirpating the internal saphenous and similar veins in varicose conditions: a preliminary report. N Y Med J 1905; 82:385.
- (4) Mayo CH. Treatment of varicose veins. Surg Obstet Gynecol 1906; 2:385-388.
- (5) Coleridge-Smith PD. Leg ulcer treatment. J Vasc Surg 2009; 49(3):804-808.
- (6) Caggiati A, Bergan JJ, Gloviczki P, Jantet G, Wendell-Smith CP, Partsch H. Nomenclature of the veins of the lower limbs: an international interdisciplinary consensus statement. J Vasc Surg 2002; 36(2):416-422.
- (7) Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schonbein GW, Smith PD, Nicolaides AN, Boisseau MR, Eklof B. Chronic venous disease. N Engl J Med 2006; 355(5):488-498.
- (8) Pang AS. Location of valves and competence of the great saphenous vein above the knee. Ann Acad Med Singapore 1991; 20(2):248-250.
- (9) Gloviczki P. Development and anatomy of the venous system. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. 12-24.
- (10) Moore HM, Gohel M, Davies AH. Number and location of venous valves within the popliteal and femoral veins - a review of the literature. J Anat 2011.
- (11) Basmajian J. The distribution of valves in the femoral, external iliac, and common iliac veins and their relationship to varicose veins. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1952; 95(5):537-542.
- (12) LePage PA, Villavicencio JL, Gomez ER, Sheridan MN, Rich NM. The valvular anatomy of the iliac venous system and its clinical implications. J Vasc Surg 1991; 14(5):678-683.
- (13) Kurz X, Kahn SR, Abenhaim L, Clement D, Norgren L, Baccaglini U et al. Chronic venous disorders of the leg: epidemiology, outcomes, diagnosis and management. Summary of an evidence-based report of the VEINES

task force. Venous Insufficiency Epidemiologic and Economic Studies. Int Angiol 1999; 18(2):83-102.

- (14) Ruckley CV. Socioeconomic impact of chronic venous insufficiency and leg ulcers. Angiology 1997; 48(1):67-69.
- (15) Van den Oever R., Hepp B, Debbaut B, Simon I. Socio-economic impact of chronic venous insufficiency. An underestimated public health problem. Int Angiol 1998; 17(3):161-167.
- (16) McGuckin M, Waterman R, Brooks J, Cherry G, Porten L, Hurley S et al. Validation of venous leg ulcer guidelines in the United States and United Kingdom. Am J Surg 2002; 183(2):132-137.
- (17) Allan PL, Bradbury AW, Evans CJ, Lee AJ, Vaughan RC, Fowkes FG. Patterns of reflux and severity of varicose veins in the general population--Edinburgh Vein Study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2000; 20(5):470-477.
- (18) Evans CJ, Allan PL, Lee AJ, Bradbury AW, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FG. Prevalence of venous reflux in the general population on duplex scanning: the Edinburgh vein study. J Vasc Surg 1998; 28(5):767-776.
- (19) Labropoulos N, Leon M, Nicolaides AN, Giannoukas AD, Volteas N, Chan
 P. Superficial venous insufficiency: correlation of anatomic extent of reflux with clinical symptoms and signs. J Vasc Surg 1994; 20(6):953-958.
- (20) Labropoulos N, Giannoukas AD, Delis K, Mansour MA, Kang SS, Nicolaides AN et al. Where does venous reflux start? J Vasc Surg 1997; 26(5):736-742.
- (21) Labropoulos N, Kokkosis AA, Spentzouris G, Gasparis AP, Tassiopoulos AK. The distribution and significance of varicosities in the saphenous trunks. J Vasc Surg 2010; 51(1):96-103.
- (22) Maurins U, Hoffmann BH, Losch C, Jockel KH, Rabe E, Pannier F. Distribution and prevalence of reflux in the superficial and deep venous system in the general population--results from the Bonn Vein Study, Germany. J Vasc Surg 2008; 48(3):680-687.
- (23) Myers KA, Ziegenbein RW, Zeng GH, Matthews PG. Duplex ultrasonography scanning for chronic venous disease: patterns of venous reflux. J Vasc Surg 1995; 21(4):605-612.
- (24) Carpentier PH, Cornu-Thenard A, Uhl JF, Partsch H, Antignani PL. Appraisal of the information content of the C classes of CEAP clinical classification of chronic venous disorders: a multicenter evaluation of 872 patients. J Vasc Surg 2003; 37(4):827-833.

- (25) Eklof B, Rutherford RB, Bergan JJ, Carpentier PH, Gloviczki P, Kistner RL et al. Revision of the CEAP classification for chronic venous disorders: consensus statement. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(6):1248-1252.
- (26) Callam MJ, Harper DR, Dale JJ, Ruckley CV. Chronic ulcer of the leg: clinical history. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987; 294(6584):1389-1391.
- (27) Engelhorn CA, Engelhorn AL, Cassou MF, Salles-Cunha SX. Patterns of saphenous reflux in women with primary varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2005; 41(4):645-651.
- (28) Bernardini E, De RP, Piccioli R, Bisacci C, Pagliuca V, Genovese G et al. Development of primary superficial venous insufficiency: the ascending theory. Observational and hemodynamic data from a 9-year experience. Ann Vasc Surg 2010; 24(6):709-720.
- (29) Labropoulos N, Delis K, Nicolaides AN, Leon M, Ramaswami G. The role of the distribution and anatomic extent of reflux in the development of signs and symptoms in chronic venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg 1996; 23(3):504-510.
- (30) Labropoulos N, Leon L, Kwon S, Tassiopoulos A, Gonzalez-Fajardo JA, Kang SS et al. Study of the venous reflux progression. J Vasc Surg 2005; 41(2):291-295.
- (31) Pittaluga P, Chastane S, Rea B, Barbe R. Classification of saphenous refluxes: implications for treatment. Phlebology 2008; 23(1):2-9.
- (32) Sakurai T, Gupta PC, Matsushita M, Nishikimi N, Nimura Y. Correlation of the anatomical distribution of venous reflux with clinical symptoms and venous haemodynamics in primary varicose veins. Br J Surg 1998; 85(2):213-216.
- (33) Gottlob R, May R. Occurrence and distribution of venous valves. In: Gottlob R, May R, editors. Venous Valves. Vienna-New York: Springer-Verlag; 1986. 16-24.
- (34) Kosinski C. Observations on the Superficial Venous System of the Lower Extremity. J Anat 1926; 60(Pt 2):131-142.
- (35) Tassiopoulos AK, Golts E, Oh DS, Labropoulos N. Current concepts in chronic venous ulceration. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2000; 20(3):227-232.
- (36) Bradbury A, Evans C, Allan P, Lee A, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FG. What are the symptoms of varicose veins? Edinburgh vein study cross sectional population survey. BMJ 1999; 318(7180):353-356.
- (37) Carpentier PH, Maricq HR, Biro C, Poncot-Makinen CO, Franco A. Prevalence, risk factors, and clinical patterns of chronic venous disorders of lower limbs: a population-based study in France. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(4):650-659.
- (38) Carradice D, Mazari FAK, Samuel N, Hatfield J, Chetter IC. The association between demographic factors, the location of superficial reflux and the clinical severity of venous disease. The Annual Congress of the American College of Phlebology 2010.
- (39) Franks PJ, Moffatt CJ. Health related quality of life in patients with venous ulceration: use of the Nottingham health profile. Qual Life Res 2001; 10(8):693-700.
- (40) Nemeth KA, Harrison MB, Graham ID, Burke S. Understanding venous leg ulcer pain: results of a longitudinal study. Ostomy Wound Manage 2004; 50(1):34-46.
- (41) van Korlaar I, Vossen C, Rosendaal F, Cameron L, Bovill E, Kaptein A. Quality of life in venous disease. Thromb Haemost 2003; 90(1):27-35.
- (42) Kahn SR, M'Lan CE, Lamping DL, Kurz X, Berard A, Abenhaim LA. Relationship between clinical classification of chronic venous disease and patient-reported quality of life: results from an international cohort study. J Vasc Surg 2004; 39(4):823-828.
- (43) Kaplan RM, Criqui MH, Denenberg JO, Bergan J, Fronek A. Quality of life in patients with chronic venous disease: San Diego population study. J Vasc Surg 2003; 37(5):1047-1053.
- (44) Carradice D, Mazari FA, Samuel N, Allgar V, Hatfield J, Chetter IC.
 Modelling the effect of venous disease on quality of life. Br J Surg 2011; 98(8):1089-1098.
- (45) Shepherd AC, Gohel MS, Lim CS, Davies AH. A study to compare diseasespecific quality of life with clinical anatomical and hemodynamic assessments in patients with varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2011; 53(2):374-382.
- (46) Garratt AM, Ruta DA, Abdalla MI, Russell IT. Responsiveness of the SF-36 and a condition-specific measure of health for patients with varicose veins. Qual Life Res 1996; 5(2):223-234.
- (47) Garratt AM, MacDonald LM, Ruta DA, Russell IT, Buckingham JK, Krukowski ZH. Towards measurement of outcome for patients with varicose veins. Qual Health Care 1993; 2(1):5-10.

- (48) Smith JJ, Garratt AM, Guest M, Greenhalgh RM, Davies AH. Evaluating and improving health-related quality of life in patients with varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 1999; 30(4):710-719.
- (49) Walters SJ, Brazier JE. Comparison of the minimally important difference for two health state utility measures: EQ-5D and SF-6D. Qual Life Res 2005; 14(6):1523-1532.
- (50) Michaels JA, Campbell WB, Brazier JE, Macintyre JB, Palfreyman SJ, Ratcliffe J et al. Randomised clinical trial, observational study and assessment of cost-effectiveness of the treatment of varicose veins (REACTIV trial). Health Technol Assess 2006; 10(13):1-iv.
- (51) Ware JE. *SF-36 Health Survey, Manual and Interpretation Guide*. Boston MA: Nimrod Press; 1993.
- (52) Andreozzi GM, Cordova RM, Scomparin A, Martini R, D'Eri A, Andreozzi F. Quality of life in chronic venous insufficiency. An Italian pilot study of the Triveneto Region. Int Angiol 2005; 24(3):272-277.
- (53) Lim CS, Davies AH. Pathogenesis of primary varicose veins. Br J Surg 2009; 96(11):1231-1242.
- (54) Kistner RL, Eklof B, Masuda EM. Diagnosis of chronic venous disease of the lower extremities: the "CEAP" classification. Mayo Clin Proc 1996; 71(4):338-345.
- (55) Jacob AG, Driscoll DJ, Shaughnessy WJ, Stanson AW, Clay RP, Gloviczki P. Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome: spectrum and management. Mayo Clin Proc 1998; 73(1):28-36.
- (56) Kihiczak GG, Meine JG, Schwartz RA, Janniger CK. Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome: a multisystem disorder possibly resulting from a pathogenic gene for vascular and tissue overgrowth. Int J Dermatol 2006; 45(8):883-890.
- (57) Lee A, Driscoll D, Gloviczki P, Clay R, Shaughnessy W, Stans A. Evaluation and management of pain in patients with Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome: a review. Pediatrics 2005; 115(3):744-749.
- (58) Corcos L, Procacci T, Peruzzi G, Dini M, De AD. Sapheno-femoral valves. Histopathological observations and diagnostic approach before surgery. Dermatol Surg 1996; 22(10):873-880.
- (59) Corcos L, De AD, Dini M, Macchi C, Ferrari PA, Dini S. Proximal long saphenous vein valves in primary venous insufficiency. J Mal Vasc 2000; 25(1):27-36.

- (60) Ono T, Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schonbein GW, Takase S. Monocyte infiltration into venous valves. J Vasc Surg 1998; 27(1):158-166.
- (61) Psaila JV, Melhuish J. Viscoelastic properties and collagen content of the long saphenous vein in normal and varicose veins. Br J Surg 1989; 76(1):37-40.
- (62) Naoum JJ, Hunter GC, Woodside KJ, Chen C. Current advances in the pathogenesis of varicose veins. J Surg Res 2007; 141(2):311-316.
- (63) Labropoulos N, Tassiopoulos AK, Kang SS, Mansour MA, Littooy FN, Baker WH. Prevalence of deep venous reflux in patients with primary superficial vein incompetence. J Vasc Surg 2000; 32(4):663-668.
- (64) Pascarella L, Schmid-Schonbein GW, Bergan J. An animal model of venous hypertension: the role of inflammation in venous valve failure. J Vasc Surg 2005; 41(2):303-311.
- (65) Takase S, Pascarella L, Lerond L, Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schonbein GW. Venous hypertension, inflammation and valve remodeling. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 28(5):484-493.
- (66) Takase S, Pascarella L, Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schonbein GW. Hypertensioninduced venous valve remodeling. J Vasc Surg 2004; 39(6):1329-1334.
- (67) Agu O, Hamilton G, Baker DM, Dashwood MR. Endothelin receptors in the aetiology and pathophysiology of varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2002; 23(2):165-171.
- (68) Raffetto JD, Khalil RA. Mechanisms of varicose vein formation: valve dysfunction and wall dilation. Phlebology 2008; 23(2):85-98.
- (69) Somers P, Knaapen M. The histopathology of varicose vein disease. Angiology 2006; 57(5):546-555.
- (70) Thulesius O, Said S, Shuhaiber H, Neglen P, Gjores JE. Endothelial mediated enhancement of noradrenaline induced vasoconstriction in normal and varicose veins. Clin Physiol 1991; 11(2):153-159.
- (71) Aunapuu M, Arend A. Histopathological changes and expression of adhesion molecules and laminin in varicose veins. Vasa 2005; 34(3):170-175.
- (72) Michiels C, Bouaziz N, Remacle J. Role of the endothelium and blood stasis in the development of varicose veins. Int Angiol 2002; 21(2 Suppl 1):18-25.

- (73) Kakkos SK, Zolota VG, Peristeropoulou P, Apostolopoulou A, Geroukalos G, Tsolakis IA. Increased mast cell infiltration in familial varicose veins: pathogenetic implications? Int Angiol 2003; 22(1):43-49.
- (74) Sayer GL, Smith PD. Immunocytochemical characterisation of the inflammatory cell infiltrate of varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 28(5):479-483.
- (75) Yamada T, Tomita S, Mori M, Sasatomi E, Suenaga E, Itoh T. Increased mast cell infiltration in varicose veins of the lower limbs: a possible role in the development of varices. Surgery 1996; 119(5):494-497.
- (76) Badier-Commander C, Couvelard A, Henin D, Verbeuren T, Michel JB, Jacob MP. Smooth muscle cell modulation and cytokine overproduction in varicose veins. An in situ study. J Pathol 2001; 193(3):398-407.
- (77) Sansilvestri-Morel P, Rupin A, Badier-Commander C, Kern P, Fabiani JN, Verbeuren TJ et al. Imbalance in the synthesis of collagen type I and collagen type III in smooth muscle cells derived from human varicose veins. J Vasc Res 2001; 38(6):560-568.
- (78) Andreotti L, Cammelli D. Connective tissue in varicose veins. Angiology 1979; 30(12):798-805.
- (79) Elsharawy MA, Naim MM, Abdelmaguid EM, Al-Mulhim AA. Role of saphenous vein wall in the pathogenesis of primary varicose veins. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2007; 6(2):219-224.
- (80) Venturi M, Bonavina L, Annoni F, Colombo L, Butera C, Peracchia A et al. Biochemical assay of collagen and elastin in the normal and varicose vein wall. J Surg Res 1996; 60(1):245-248.
- (81) Wali MA, Eid RA. Intimal changes in varicose veins: an ultrastructural study. J Smooth Muscle Res 2002; 38(3):63-74.
- (82) Wali MA, Dewan M, Eid RA. Histopathological changes in the wall of varicose veins. Int Angiol 2003; 22(2):188-193.
- (83) Goldman MP, Fronek A. Anatomy and pathophysiology of varicose veins. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1989; 15(2):138-145.
- (84) Jones GT, Solomon C, Moaveni A, van Rij AM, Thomson IA, Galvin I. Venous morphology predicts class of chronic venous insufficiency. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1999; 18(4):349-354.
- (85) Lowell RC, Gloviczki P, Miller VM. In vitro evaluation of endothelial and smooth muscle function of primary varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 1992; 16(5):679-686.

- (86) Porto LC, Azizi MA, Pelajo-Machado M, Matos da SP, Lenzi HL. Elastic fibers in saphenous varicose veins. Angiology 2002; 53(2):131-140.
- (87) Wali MA, Eid RA. Changes of elastic and collagen fibers in varicose veins. Int Angiol 2002; 21(4):337-343.
- (88) Brunner F, Hoffmann C, Schuller-Petrovic S. Responsiveness of human varicose saphenous veins to vasoactive agents. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 51(3):219-224.
- (89) Cario-Toumaniantz C, Evellin S, Maury S, Baron O, Pacaud P, Loirand G. Role of Rho kinase signalling in healthy and varicose human saphenous veins. Br J Pharmacol 2002; 137(2):205-212.
- (90) Hobeika MJ, Thompson RW, Muhs BE, Brooks PC, Gagne PJ. Matrix metalloproteinases in peripheral vascular disease. J Vasc Surg 2007; 45(4):849-857.
- (91) Lim CS, Shalhoub J, Gohel MS, Shepherd AC, Davies AH. Matrix metalloproteinases in vascular disease--a potential therapeutic target? Curr Vasc Pharmacol 2010; 8(1):75-85.
- (92) Raffetto JD, Ross RL, Khalil RA. Matrix metalloproteinase 2-induced venous dilation via hyperpolarization and activation of K+ channels: relevance to varicose vein formation. J Vasc Surg 2007; 45(2):373-380.
- (93) Jacob MP, Cazaubon M, Scemama A, Prie D, Blanchet F, Guillin MC et al. Plasma matrix metalloproteinase-9 as a marker of blood stasis in varicose veins. Circulation 2002; 106(5):535-538.
- (94) Raffetto JD, Qiao X, Koledova VV, Khalil RA. Prolonged increases in vein wall tension increase matrix metalloproteinases and decrease constriction in rat vena cava: Potential implications in varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2008; 48(2):447-456.
- (95) Takase S, Lerond L, Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schonbein GW. The inflammatory reaction during venous hypertension in the rat. Microcirculation 2000; 7(1):41-52.
- (96) Qui Y, Quijano RC, Wang SK, Hwang NH. Fluid dynamics of venous valve closure. Ann Biomed Eng 1995; 23(6):750-759.
- (97) Lurie F, Kistner RL, Eklof B, Kessler D. Mechanism of venous valve closure and role of the valve in circulation: a new concept. J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(5):955-961.

- (98) Berk BC, Abe JI, Min W, Surapisitchat J, Yan C. Endothelial atheroprotective and anti-inflammatory mechanisms. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001; 947:93-109.
- (99) Passerini AG, Milsted A, Rittgers SE. Shear stress magnitude and directionality modulate growth factor gene expression in preconditioned vascular endothelial cells. J Vasc Surg 2003; 37(1):182-190.
- (100) Sorescu GP, Sykes M, Weiss D, Platt MO, Saha A, Hwang J et al. Bone morphogenic protein 4 produced in endothelial cells by oscillatory shear stress stimulates an inflammatory response. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(33):31128-31135.
- (101) Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar shear stress: mechanisms by which endothelial cells transduce an atheroprotective force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18(5):677-685.
- (102) Asakura T, Karino T. Flow patterns and spatial distribution of atherosclerotic lesions in human coronary arteries. Circ Res 1990; 66(4):1045-1066.
- (103) Moore JE, Jr., Xu C, Glagov S, Zarins CK, Ku DN. Fluid wall shear stress measurements in a model of the human abdominal aorta: oscillatory behavior and relationship to atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 1994; 110(2):225-240.
- (104) Payne SP, London NJ, Newland CJ, Thrush AJ, Barrie WW, Bell PR. Ambulatory venous pressure: correlation with skin condition and role in identifying surgically correctible disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1996; 11(2):195-200.
- (105) Nicolaides AN, Hussein MK, Szendro G, Christopoulos D, Vasdekis S, Clarke H. The relation of venous ulceration with ambulatory venous pressure measurements. J Vasc Surg 1993; 17(2):414-419.
- (106) Vanscheidt W, Laaff H, Weiss JM, Schopf E. Immunohistochemical investigation of dermal capillaries in chronic venous insufficiency. Acta Derm Venereol 1991; 71(1):17-19.
- (107) Leach RD, Browse NL. Effect of venous hypertension on canine hind limb lymph. Br J Surg 1985; 72(4):275-278.
- (108) Gajraj H, Browse NL. Fibrinolytic activity of the arms and legs of patients with lower limb venous disease. Br J Surg 1991; 78(7):853-856.
- (109) Browse NL, Burnand KG. The cause of venous ulceration. Lancet 1982; 2(8292):243-245.

- (110) Burnand KG, Whimster I, Naidoo A, Browse NL. Pericapillary fibrin in the ulcer-bearing skin of the leg: the cause of lipodermatosclerosis and venous ulceration. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982; 285(6348):1071-1072.
- (111) Moyses C, Cederholm-Williams SA, Michel CC. Haemoconcentration and accumulation of white cells in the feet during venous stasis. Int J Microcirc Clin Exp 1987; 5(4):311-320.
- (112) Thomas PR, Nash GB, Dormandy JA. White cell accumulation in dependent legs of patients with venous hypertension: a possible mechanism for trophic changes in the skin. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1988; 296(6638):1693-1695.
- (113) Lawrence MB, McIntire LV, Eskin SG. Effect of flow on polymorphonuclear leukocyte/endothelial cell adhesion. Blood 1987; 70(5):1284-1290.
- (114) Saharay M, Shields DA, Porter JB, Scurr JH, Coleridge Smith PD. Leukocyte activity in the microcirculation of the leg in patients with chronic venous disease. J Vasc Surg 1997; 26(2):265-273.
- (115) Saharay M, Shields DA, Georgiannos SN, Porter JB, Scurr JH, Coleridge Smith PD. Endothelial activation in patients with chronic venous disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1998; 15(4):342-349.
- (116) Yong K, Khwaja A. Leucocyte cellular adhesion molecules. Blood Rev 1990; 4(4):211-225.
- (117) Hahn TL, Unthank JL, Lalka SG. Increased hindlimb leukocyte concentration in a chronic rodent model of venous hypertension. J Surg Res 1999; 81(1):38-41.
- (118) Lalka SG, Unthank JL, Nixon JC. Elevated cutaneous leukocyte concentration in a rodent model of acute venous hypertension. J Surg Res 1998; 74(1):59-63.
- (119) Pappas PJ, DeFouw DO, Venezio LM, Gorti R, Padberg FT, Jr., Silva MB, Jr. et al. Morphometric assessment of the dermal microcirculation in patients with chronic venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg 1997; 26(5):784-795.
- (120) Wilkinson LS, Bunker C, Edwards JC, Scurr JH, Smith PD. Leukocytes: their role in the etiopathogenesis of skin damage in venous disease. J Vasc Surg 1993; 17(4):669-675.
- (121) Herouy Y, May AE, Pornschlegel G, Stetter C, Grenz H, Preissner KT et al. Lipodermatosclerosis is characterized by elevated expression and

activation of matrix metalloproteinases: implications for venous ulcer formation. J Invest Dermatol 1998; 111(5):822-827.

- (122) Mwaura B, Mahendran B, Hynes N, Defreitas D, Avalos G, Adegbola T et al. The impact of differential expression of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer, matrix metalloproteinase-2, tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and PDGF-AA on the chronicity of venous leg ulcers. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 31(3):306-310.
- (123) Norgauer J, Hildenbrand T, Idzko M, Panther E, Bandemir E, Hartmann M et al. Elevated expression of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (CD147) and membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases in venous leg ulcers. Br J Dermatol 2002; 147(6):1180-1186.
- (124) Shoab SS, Scurr JH, Coleridge-Smith PD. Increased plasma vascular endothelial growth factor among patients with chronic venous disease. J Vasc Surg 1998; 28(3):535-540.
- (125) Shoab SS, Scurr JH, Coleridge-Smith PD. Plasma VEGF as a marker of therapy in patients with chronic venous disease treated with oral micronised flavonoid fraction - a pilot study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1999; 18(4):334-338.
- (126) Burnand KG, Whimster I, Clemenson G, Thomas ML, Browse NL. The relationship between the number of capillaries in the skin of the venous ulcer-bearing area of the lower leg and the fall in foot vein pressure during exercise. Br J Surg 1981; 68(5):297-300.
- (127) Bates DO, Curry FE. Vascular endothelial growth factor increases hydraulic conductivity of isolated perfused microvessels. Am J Physiol 1996; 271(6 Pt 2):H2520-H2528.
- (128) Pappas PJ, You R, Rameshwar P, Gorti R, DeFouw DO, Phillips CK et al. Dermal tissue fibrosis in patients with chronic venous insufficiency is associated with increased transforming growth factor-beta1 gene expression and protein production. J Vasc Surg 1999; 30(6):1129-1145.
- (129) Sansilvestri-Morel P, Rupin A, Jaisson S, Fabiani JN, Verbeuren TJ, Vanhoutte PM. Synthesis of collagen is dysregulated in cultured fibroblasts derived from skin of subjects with varicose veins as it is in venous smooth muscle cells. Circulation 2002; 106(4):479-483.
- (130) Ackerman Z, Seidenbaum M, Loewenthal E, Rubinow A. Overload of iron in the skin of patients with varicose ulcers. Possible contributing role of iron accumulation in progression of the disease. Arch Dermatol 1988; 124(9):1376-1378.

- (131) Yeoh-Ellerton S, Stacey MC. Iron and 8-isoprostane levels in acute and chronic wounds. J Invest Dermatol 2003; 121(4):918-925.
- (132) Wenk J, Foitzik A, Achterberg V, Sabiwalsky A, Dissemond J, Meewes C et al. Selective pick-up of increased iron by deferoxamine-coupled cellulose abrogates the iron-driven induction of matrix-degrading metalloproteinase 1 and lipid peroxidation in human dermal fibroblasts in vitro: a new dressing concept. J Invest Dermatol 2001; 116(6):833-839.
- (133) Zamboni P, Tognazzo S, Izzo M, Pancaldi F, Scapoli GL, Liboni A et al. Hemochromatosis C282Y gene mutation increases the risk of venous leg ulceration. J Vasc Surg 2005; 42(2):309-314.
- (134) Brand FN, Dannenberg AL, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. The epidemiology of varicose veins: the Framingham Study. Am J Prev Med 1988; 4(2):96-101.
- (135) Beebe-Dimmer JL, Pfeifer JR, Engle JS, Schottenfeld D. The epidemiology of chronic venous insufficiency and varicose veins. Ann Epidemiol 2005; 15(3):175-184.
- (136) Burnand KG. The physiology and hemodynamics of chronic venous insufficiency. In: Gloviczki P, Yao JST, editors. Handbook of Venous Disorders. London: Arnold; 2001. 49-57.
- (137) Fletcher J. Measuring the prevalence and incidence of chronic wounds. Prof Nurse 2003; 18(7):384-388.
- (138) Graham ID, Harrison MB, Nelson EA, Lorimer K, Fisher A. Prevalence of lower-limb ulceration: a systematic review of prevalence studies. Adv Skin Wound Care 2003; 16(6):305-316.
- (139) Fowkes FG, Lee AJ, Evans CJ, Allan PL, Bradbury AW, Ruckley CV. Lifestyle risk factors for lower limb venous reflux in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30(4):846-852.
- (140) Fowkes FG, Evans CJ, Lee AJ. Prevalence and risk factors of chronic venous insufficiency. Angiology 2001; 52 Suppl 1:S5-15.
- (141) Scott TE, LaMorte WW, Gorin DR, Menzoian JO. Risk factors for chronic venous insufficiency: a dual case-control study. J Vasc Surg 1995; 22(5):622-628.
- (142) Abramson JH, Hopp C, Epstein LM. The epidemiology of varicose veins. A survey in western Jerusalem. J Epidemiol Community Health 1981; 35(3):213-217.

- (143) Criqui MH, Jamosmos M, Fronek A, Denenberg JO, Langer RD, Bergan J et al. Chronic venous disease in an ethnically diverse population: the San Diego Population Study. Am J Epidemiol 2003; 158(5):448-456.
- (144) Evans CJ, Fowkes FG, Ruckley CV, Lee AJ. Prevalence of varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in men and women in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999; 53(3):149-153.
- (145) Franks PJ, Wright DD, Moffatt CJ, Stirling J, Fletcher AE, Bulpitt CJ et al. Prevalence of venous disease: a community study in west London. Eur J Surg 1992; 158(3):143-147.
- (146) Hirai M, Naiki K, Nakayama R. Prevalence and risk factors of varicose veins in Japanese women. Angiology 1990; 41(3):228-232.
- (147) Laurikka JO, Sisto T, Tarkka MR, Auvinen O, Hakama M. Risk indicators for varicose veins in forty- to sixty-year-olds in the Tampere varicose vein study. World J Surg 2002; 26(6):648-651.
- (148) Maffei FH, Magaldi C, Pinho SZ, Lastoria S, Pinho W, Yoshida WB et al. Varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in Brazil: prevalence among 1755 inhabitants of a country town. Int J Epidemiol 1986; 15(2):210-217.
- (149) Mekky S, Schilling RS, Walford J. Varicose veins in women cotton workers. An epidemiological study in England and Egypt. Br Med J 1969; 2(5657):591-595.
- (150) Sisto T, Reunanen A, Laurikka J, Impivaara O, Heliovaara M, Knekt P et al. Prevalence and risk factors of varicose veins in lower extremities: mini-Finland health survey. Eur J Surg 1995; 161(6):405-414.
- (151) Schulz-Ehrenberg U, Weindorf N, Matthes U, Von Uslar D, Hirche H. New epidemiological findings with regard to initial stages of varicose veins (Bochum Study I-III). In: Martimbeau RP, Proscott R, Zummo M, editors. Phlebologie. Paris: John Libbey Eurotext; 1992. 234-236.
- (152) Cornwall JV, Dore CJ, Lewis JD. Leg ulcers: epidemiology and aetiology. Br J Surg 1986; 73(9):693-696.
- (153) Nelzen O, Bergqvist D, Lindhagen A, Hallbook T. Chronic leg ulcers: an underestimated problem in primary health care among elderly patients. J Epidemiol Community Health 1991; 45(3):184-187.
- (154) Nelzen O, Bergqvist D, Lindhagen A. The prevalence of chronic lower-limb ulceration has been underestimated: results of a validated population questionnaire. Br J Surg 1996; 83(2):255-258.

- (155) Beaglehole R, Prior IAM, Salmond CE, Davidson F. Varicose veins in the South Pacific. Int J Epidimiol 1975; 4(4):295-299.
- (156) Canonico S, Gallo C, Paolisso G, Pacifico F, Signoriello G, Sciaudone G et al. Prevalence of varicose veins in an Italian elderly population. Angiology 1998; 49(2):129-135.
- (157) Peripheral Venous Disorders: Prevalence and Socio-medical Importance. Bern: Hans Huber; 1978.
- (158) Dindelli M, Parazzini F, Basellini A, Rabaiotti E, Corsi G, Ferrari A. Risk factors for varicose disease before and during pregnancy. Angiology 1993; 44(5):361-367.
- (159) Kakande I. Varicose veins in Africans as seen at Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi. East Afr Med J 1981; 58(9):667-676.
- (160) Komsuoglu B, Goldeli O, Kulan K, Cetinarslan B, Komsuoglu SS. Prevalence and risk factors of varicose veins in an elderly population. Gerontology 1994; 40(1):25-31.
- (161) Stvrtinova V, Kolesar J, Wimmer G. Prevalence of varicose veins of the lower limbs in the women working at a department store. Int Angiol 1991; 10(1):2-5.
- (162) Callam MJ. Epidemiology of varicose veins. Br J Surg 1994; 81(2):167-173.
- (163) Sadick NS. Predisposing factors of varicose and telangiectatic leg veins. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1992; 18(10):883-886.
- (164) Chapman AB, Abraham WT, Zamudio S, Coffin C, Merouani A, Young D et al. Temporal relationships between hormonal and hemodynamic changes in early human pregnancy. Kidney Int 1998; 54(6):2056-2063.
- (165) Stansby G. Women, pregnancy, and varicose veins. Lancet 2000; 355(9210):1117-1118.
- (166) Bernstein IM, Ziegler W, Badger GJ. Plasma volume expansion in early pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 2001; 97(5 Pt 1):669-672.
- (167) Berard A, Kahn SR, Abenhaim L. Is hormone replacement therapy protective for venous ulcer of the lower limbs? Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2001; 10(3):245-251.
- (168) Dschietzig T, Bartsch C, Richter C, Laule M, Baumann G, Stangl K. Relaxin, a pregnancy hormone, is a functional endothelin-1 antagonist: attenuation of endothelin-1-mediated vasoconstriction by stimulation of

endothelin type-B receptor expression via ERK-1/2 and nuclear factorkappaB. Circ Res 2003; 92(1):32-40.

- (169) Kristiansson P, Wang JX. Reproductive hormones and blood pressure during pregnancy. Hum Reprod 2001; 16(1):13-17.
- (170) Novak J, Danielson LA, Kerchner LJ, Sherwood OD, Ramirez RJ, Moalli PA et al. Relaxin is essential for renal vasodilation during pregnancy in conscious rats. J Clin Invest 2001; 107(11):1469-1475.
- (171) Vin F, Allaert FA, Levardon M. Influence of estrogens and progesterone on the venous system of the lower limbs in women. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1992; 18(10):888-892.
- (172) Ciardullo AV, Panico S, Bellati C, Rubba P, Rinaldi S, Iannuzzi A et al. High endogenous estradiol is associated with increased venous distensibility and clinical evidence of varicose veins in menopausal women. J Vasc Surg 2000; 32(3):544-549.
- (173) Laurikka J, Laara E, Sisto T, Tarkka M, Auvinen O, Hakama M. Misclassification in a questionnaire survey of varicose veins. J Clin Epidemiol 1995; 48(9):1175-1178.
- (174) Coon WW, Willis PW, III, Keller JB. Venous thromboembolism and other venous disease in the Tecumseh community health study. Circulation 1973; 48(4):839-846.
- (175) Fiebig A, Krusche P, Wolf A, Krawczak M, Timm B, Nikolaus S et al. Heritability of chronic venous disease. Hum Genet 2010; 127(6):669-674.
- (176) Burkitt DP, Townsend AJ, Patel K, Skaug K. Varicose veins in developing countries. Lancet 1976; 2(7978):202-203.
- (177) Geelhoed GW, Burkitt DP. Varicose veins: a reappraisal from a global perspective. South Med J 1991; 84(9):1131-1134.
- (178) Rougemont A. Varicose veins in the tropics. Br Med J 1973; 2(5865):547.
- (179) Sam RC, Hobbs SD, Darvall KA, Rehman A, Adam DJ, Silverman SH et al. Chronic venous disease in a cohort of healthy UK Asian men. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2007; 34(1):92-96.
- (180) Guberan E, Widmer LK, Glaus L, Muller R, Rougemont A, Da SA et al. Causative factors of varicose veins: myths and facts. An epidemiological study of 610 women. Vasa 1973; 2(2):115-120.
- (181) Seidell JC, Bakx KC, Deurenberg P, van den Hoogen HJ, Hautvast JG, Stijnen T. Overweight and chronic illness--a retrospective cohort study,

with a follow-up of 6-17 years, in men and women of initially 20-50 years of age. J Chronic Dis 1986; 39(8):585-593.

- (182) Gourgou S, Dedieu F, Sancho-Garnier H. Lower limb venous insufficiency and tobacco smoking: a case-control study. Am J Epidemiol 2002; 155(11):1007-1015.
- (183) Beebe HG, Bergan JJ, Bergqvist D, Eklof B, Eriksson I, Goldman MP et al. Classification and grading of chronic venous disease in the lower limbs. A consensus statement. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1996; 12(4):487-491.
- (184) Kakkos SK, Rivera MA, Matsagas MI, Lazarides MK, Robless P, Belcaro G et al. Validation of the new venous severity scoring system in varicose vein surgery. J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(2):224-228.
- (185) Meissner MH, Natiello C, Nicholls SC. Performance characteristics of the venous clinical severity score. J Vasc Surg 2002; 36(5):889-895.
- (186) Rutherford RB, Padberg FT, Jr., Comerota AJ, Kistner RL, Meissner MH, Moneta GL. Venous severity scoring: An adjunct to venous outcome assessment. J Vasc Surg 2000; 31(6):1307-1312.
- (187) Vasquez MA, Munschauer CE. Venous Clinical Severity Score and qualityof-life assessment tools: application to vein practice. Phlebology 2008; 23(6):259-275.
- (188) Vasquez MA, Rabe E, McLafferty RB, Shortell CK, Marston WA, Gillespie D et al. Revision of the venous clinical severity score: venous outcomes consensus statement: special communication of the American Venous Forum Ad Hoc Outcomes Working Group. J Vasc Surg 2010; 52(5):1387-1396.
- (189) The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). A guide to appropriate referral from general to specialist services. 2001.
- (190) The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). Guide to the methods of technology appraisal. 2008.
- (191) Department of Health. Guidance on the routine collection of Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) for the NHS in England 2009/10.
 292518. 2009.
- (192) The NHS Information Centre. How can PROMs information be used? <u>www.ic.nhs.uk/proms</u>. 2010.
- (193) Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'Cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T et al. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. BMJ 1992; 305(6846):160-164.

- (194) Streiner DL, Norman GR. Health Measurement Scales: a practical guide to their development and use. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.
- (195) Lamping DL, Schroter S, Kurz X, Kahn SR, Abenhaim L. Evaluation of outcomes in chronic venous disorders of the leg: development of a scientifically rigorous, patient-reported measure of symptoms and quality of life. J Vasc Surg 2003; 37(2):410-419.
- (196) Launois R, Mansilha A, Jantet G. International psychometric validation of the Chronic Venous Disease quality of life Questionnaire (CIVIQ-20). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010; 40(6):783-789.
- (197) Guex JJ, Zimmet SE, Boussetta S, Nguyen C, Taieb C. Construction and validation of a patient-reported outcome dedicated to chronic venous disorders: SQOR-V (specific quality of life and outcome response venous). J Mal Vasc 2007; 32(3):135-147.
- (198) Patrick DL, Deyo RA. Generic and disease-specific measures in assessing health status and quality of life. Med Care 1989; 27(3 Suppl):S217-S232.
- (199) Gloviczki P, Comerota AJ, Dalsing MC, Eklof BG, Gillespie DL, Gloviczki ML et al. The care of patients with varicose veins and associated chronic venous diseases: clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery and the American Venous Forum. J Vasc Surg 2011; 53(5 Suppl):2S-48S.
- (200) Kundu S, Lurie F, Millward SF, Padberg F, Jr., Vedantham S, Elias S et al. Recommended reporting standards for endovenous ablation for the treatment of venous insufficiency: joint statement of The American Venous Forum and The Society of Interventional Radiology. J Vasc Surg 2007; 46(3):582-589.
- (201) Stewart AL, Hays RD, Ware JE, Jr. The MOS short-form general health survey. Reliability and validity in a patient population. Med Care 1988; 26(7):724-735.
- (202) Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992; 30(6):473-483.
- (203) Hay JW, Ricardo-Campbell R. Rand Health Insurance study. Lancet 1986; 2(8498):106.
- (204) Tarlov AR, Ware JE, Jr., Greenfield S, Nelson EC, Perrin E, Zubkoff M. The Medical Outcomes Study. An application of methods for monitoring the results of medical care. JAMA 1989; 262(7):925-930.

- (205) Kaplan RM. Profile versus utility based measures of outcome for clinical trials. In: Staquet MJ, Hays RD, Fayers PM, editors. Quality of Life Assessment in Clinical Trials: Meathods and Practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998. 69-90.
- (206) Garratt AM, Ruta DA, Abdalla MI, Buckingham JK, Russell IT. The SF36 health survey questionnaire: an outcome measure suitable for routine use within the NHS? BMJ 1993; 306(6890):1440-1444.
- (207) McHorney CA, Ware JE, Jr., Rogers W, Raczek AE, Lu JF. The validity and relative precision of MOS short- and long-form health status scales and Dartmouth COOP charts. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. Med Care 1992; 30(5 Suppl):MS253-MS265.
- (208) McHorney CA, Ware JE, Jr., Raczek AE. The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): II. Psychometric and clinical tests of validity in measuring physical and mental health constructs. Med Care 1993; 31(3):247-263.
- (209) McHorney CA, Ware JE, Jr., Lu JF, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): III. Tests of data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability across diverse patient groups. Med Care 1994; 32(1):40-66.
- (210) von Neumann J, Morgenstern O. Theory of games and economic behaviour. Princeton NJ: Princeton University Press; 1944.
- (211) Torrance GW. Toward a utility theory foundation for health status index models. Health Serv Res 1976; 11(4):349-369.
- (212) Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Torrance GW, O'Bien BJ, Stoddart GL. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. Third ed. Oxford Medical Publications; 2005.
- (213) Bleichrodt H, Johannesson M. An experimental test of a theoretical foundation for rating-scale valuations. Med Decis Making 1997; 17(2):208-216.
- (214) Robinson A, Loomes G, Jones-Lee M. Visual analog scales, standard gambles, and relative risk aversion. Med Decis Making 2001; 21(1):17-27.
- (215) Torrance GW, Boyle MH, Horwood SP. Application of multi-attribute utility theory to measure social preferences for health states. Oper Res 1982; 30(6):1043-1069.
- (216) Torrance GW, Feeny DH, Furlong WJ, Barr RD, Zhang Y, Wang Q. Multiattribute utility function for a comprehensive health status

classification system. Health Utilities Index Mark 2. Med Care 1996; 34(7):702-722.

- (217) Torrance GW, Feeny D, Furlong W. Visual analog scales: do they have a role in the measurement of preferences for health states? Med Decis Making 2001; 21(4):329-334.
- (218) Holloway C. Decision making under uncertainty: models and choices. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1979.
- (219) Torrance GW, Thomas WH, Sackett DL. A utility maximization model for evaluation of health care programs. Health Serv Res 1972; 7(2):118-133.
- (220) The EuroQol Group. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy 1990; 16(3):199-208.
- (221) Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Med Care 1997; 35(11):1095-1108.
- (222) Brazier J, Jones N, Kind P. Testing the validity of the Euroqol and comparing it with the SF-36 health survey questionnaire. Qual Life Res 1993; 2(3):169-180.
- (223) Brooks R. EuroQol: the current state of play. Health Policy 1996; 37(1):53-72.
- (224) Brazier J, Usherwood T, Harper R, Thomas K. Deriving a preference-based single index from the UK SF-36 Health Survey. J Clin Epidemiol 1998; 51(11):1115-1128.
- (225) Brazier J, Roberts J, Deverill M. The estimation of a preference-based measure of health from the SF-36. J Health Econ 2002; 21(2):271-292.
- (226) Labropoulos N, Tiongson J, Pryor L, Tassiopoulos AK, Kang SS, Ashraf MM et al. Definition of venous reflux in lower-extremity veins. J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(4):793-798.
- (227) Coleridge-Smith P, Labropoulos N, Partsch H, Myers K, Nicolaides A, Cavezzi A. Duplex ultrasound investigation of the veins in chronic venous disease of the lower limbs--UIP consensus document. Part I. Basic principles. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 31(1):83-92.
- (228) Mercer KG, Scott DJ, Berridge DC. Preoperative duplex imaging is required before all operations for primary varicose veins Authors' reply. Br J Surg 1999; 86(4):571.

- (229) McMullin GM, Coleridge Smith PD. An evaluation of Doppler ultrasound and photoplethysmography in the investigation of venous insufficiency. Aust N Z J Surg 1992; 62(4):270-275.
- (230) Salaman RA, Fligelstone LJ, Wright IA, Pugh N, Harding KG, Lane IF. Handheld bi-directional Doppler versus colour duplex scanning in the pre-operative assessment of varicose veins. J Vasc Inv 1995; 1:183-186.
- (231) Blomgren L, Johansson G, Bergqvist D. Randomized clinical trial of routine preoperative duplex imaging before varicose vein surgery. Br J Surg 2005; 92(6):688-694.
- (232) Cavezzi A, Labropoulos N, Partsch H, Ricci S, Caggiati A, Myers K et al. Duplex ultrasound investigation of the veins in chronic venous disease of the lower limbs--UIP consensus document. Part II. Anatomy. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 31(3):288-299.
- (233) Nicolaides AN. Investigation of chronic venous insufficiency: A consensus statement (France, March 5-9, 1997). Circulation 2000; 102(20):E126-E163.
- (234) Rhodes JM, Gloviczki P, Canton L, Heaser TV, Rooke TW. Endoscopic perforator vein division with ablation of superficial reflux improves venous hemodynamics. J Vasc Surg 1998; 28(5):839-847.
- (235) Rooke TW, Heser JL, Osmundson PJ. Exercise strain-gauge venous plethysmography: evaluation of a "new" device for assessing lower limb venous incompetence. Angiology 1992; 43(3 Pt 1):219-228.
- (236) Struckmann JR. Assessment of the venous muscle pump function by ambulatory strain gauge plethysmography. Methodological and clinical aspects. Dan Med Bull 1993; 40(4):460-477.
- (237) Neglen P, Raju S. Intravascular ultrasound scan evaluation of the obstructed vein. J Vasc Surg 2002; 35(4):694-700.
- (238) Ibegbuna V, Delis KT, Nicolaides AN, Aina O. Effect of elastic compression stockings on venous hemodynamics during walking. J Vasc Surg 2003; 37(2):420-425.
- (239) Zajkowski PJ, Proctor MC, Wakefield TW, Bloom J, Blessing B, Greenfield LJ. Compression stockings and venous function. Arch Surg 2002; 137(9):1064-1068.
- (240) Partsch B, Partsch H. Calf compression pressure required to achieve venous closure from supine to standing positions. J Vasc Surg 2005; 42(4):734-738.

- (241) Palfreyman SJ, Michaels JA. A systematic review of compression hosiery for uncomplicated varicose veins. Phlebology 2009; 24 Suppl 1:13-33.
- (242) Hirai M, Iwata H, Hayakawa N. Effect of elastic compression stockings in patients with varicose veins and healthy controls measured by strain gauge plethysmography. Skin Res Technol 2002; 8(4):236-239.
- (243) Amsler F, Blattler W. Compression therapy for occupational leg symptoms and chronic venous disorders - a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35(3):366-372.
- (244) O'Meara S, Cullum NA, Nelson EA. Compression for venous leg ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009;(1):CD000265.
- (245) Partsch H, Flour M, Smith PC. Indications for compression therapy in venous and lymphatic disease consensus based on experimental data and scientific evidence. Under the auspices of the IUP. Int Angiol 2008; 27(3):193-219.
- (246) Labropoulos N, Leon M, Volteas N, Nicolaides AN. Acute and long-term effect of elastic stockings in patients with varicose veins. Int Angiol 1994; 13(2):119-123.
- (247) Kiev J, Noyes LD, Rice JC, Kerstein MD. Patient compliance with fitted compression hosiery monitored by photoplethysmography. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1990; 71(6):376-379.
- (248) Samson RH, Showalter DP. Stockings and the prevention of recurrent venous ulcers. Dermatol Surg 1996; 22(4):373-376.
- (249) Mayberry JC, Moneta GL, Taylor LM, Jr., Porter JM. Fifteen-year results of ambulatory compression therapy for chronic venous ulcers. Surgery 1991; 109(5):575-581.
- (250) Dale JJ, Gibson B. Information will enhance compliance. Informing clients about compression hosiery. Prof Nurse 1992; 7(11):755-760.
- (251) Nelson EA, Bell-Syer SE, Cullum NA. Compression for preventing recurrence of venous ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000;(4):CD002303.
- (252) Franks PJ, Moffatt CJ, Connolly M, Bosanquet N, Oldroyd MI, Greenhalgh RM et al. Factors associated with healing leg ulceration with high compression. Age Ageing 1995; 24(5):407-410.
- (253) Callam MJ, Ruckley CV, Dale JJ, Harper DR. Hazards of compression treatment of the leg: an estimate from Scottish surgeons. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987; 295(6610):1382.

- (254) Palfreyman S, Nelson EA, Michaels JA. Dressings for venous leg ulcers: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2007; 335(7613):244.
- (255) Michaels JA, Campbell WB, King BM, Macintyre J, Palfreyman SJ, Shackley P et al. A prospective randomised controlled trial and economic modelling of antimicrobial silver dressings versus non-adherent control dressings for venous leg ulcers: the VULCAN trial. Health Technol Assess 2009; 13(56):1-114, iii.
- (256) Barwell JR, Davies CE, Deacon J, Harvey K, Minor J, Sassano A et al. Comparison of surgery and compression with compression alone in chronic venous ulceration (ESCHAR study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 363(9424):1854-1859.
- (257) Gohel MS, Barwell JR, Taylor M, Chant T, Foy C, Earnshaw JJ et al. Long term results of compression therapy alone versus compression plus surgery in chronic venous ulceration (ESCHAR): randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2007; 335(7610):83.
- (258) Scriven JM, Hartshorne T, Thrush AJ, Bell PR, Naylor AR, London NJ. Role of saphenous vein surgery in the treatment of venous ulceration. Br J Surg 1998; 85(6):781-784.
- (259) Martinez MJ, Bonfill X, Moreno RM, Vargas E, Capella D. Phlebotonics for venous insufficiency. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;(3):CD003229.
- (260) Pittler MH, Ernst E. Horse chestnut seed extract for chronic venous insufficiency. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;(1):CD003230.
- (261) Jull A, Arroll B, Parag V, Waters J. Pentoxifylline for treating venous leg ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;(3):CD001733.
- (262) Coleridge-Smith P, Lok C, Ramelet AA. Venous leg ulcer: a meta-analysis of adjunctive therapy with micronized purified flavonoid fraction. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2005; 30(2):198-208.
- (263) Carradice D, Chetter I. Endovenous laser ablation in the management of varicose veins. In: Greenhalgh RM, editor. Vascular and Endovascular Consensus Update. BIBA; 2008. 581-584.
- (264) Edwards AG, Baynham S, Lees T, Mitchell DC. Management of varicose veins: a survey of current practice by members of the Vascular Society of Great Britain and Ireland. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2009; 91(1):77-80.
- (265) Hospital Episode Statistics Online. <u>http://hesonline</u> nhs uk [2010 [cited 2010 July 1];

- (266) Mackenzie RK, Allan PL, Ruckley CV, Bradbury AW. The effect of long saphenous vein stripping on deep venous reflux. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 28(1):104-107.
- (267) Hardy SC, Riding G, Abidia A. Surgery for deep venous incompetence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004;(3):CD001097.
- (268) Mackenzie RK, Paisley A, Allan PL, Lee AJ, Ruckley CV, Bradbury AW. The effect of long saphenous vein stripping on quality of life. J Vasc Surg 2002; 35(6):1197-1203.
- (269) Sam RC, Mackenzie RK, Paisley AM, Ruckley CV, Bradbury AW. The effect of superficial venous surgery on generic health-related quality of life. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 28(3):253-256.
- (270) Sam RC, Darvall KA, Adam DJ, Silverman SH, Bradbury AW. A comparison of the changes in generic quality of life after superficial venous surgery with those after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Vasc Surg 2006; 44(3):606-610.
- (271) Campbell WB, Kumar AV, Collin TW, Allington KL, Michaels JA. The outcome of varicose vein surgery at 10 years: clinical findings, symptoms and patient satisfaction. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2003; 85:52-57.
- (272) Lurie F, Kistner RL. Trends in patient reported outcomes of conservative and surgical treatment of primary chronic venous disease contradict current practices. Ann Surg 2011; 254(2):363-367.
- (273) Biswas S, Clark A, Shields DA. Randomised clinical trial of the duration of compression therapy after varicose vein surgery. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2007; 33(5):631-637.
- (274) Corder AP, Schache DJ, Farquharson SM, Tristram S. Wound infection following high saphenous ligation. A trial comparing two skin closure techniques: subcuticular polyglycolic acid and interrupted monofilament nylon mattress sutures. J R Coll Surg Edinb 1991; 36(2):100-102.
- (275) Critchley G, Handa A, Maw A, Harvey A, Harvey MR, Corbett CR. Complications of varicose vein surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1997; 79(2):105-110.
- (276) Hayden A, Holdsworth J. Complications following re-exploration of the groin for recurrent varicose veins. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2001; 83(4):272-273.
- (277) Hirsemann S, Sohr D, Gastmeier K, Gastmeier P. Risk factors for surgical site infections in a free-standing outpatient setting. Am J Infect Control 2005; 33(1):6-10.

- (278) Perkins JM. Standard varicose vein surgery. Phlebology 2009; 24 Suppl 1:34-41.
- (279) Mekako AI, Chetter IC, Coughlin PA, Hatfield J, McCollum PT. Randomized clinical trial of co-amoxiclav versus no antibiotic prophylaxis in varicose vein surgery. Br J Surg 2010; 97(1):29-36.
- (280) Lurie F, Creton D, Eklof B, Kabnick LS, Kistner RL, Pichot O et al. Prospective randomized study of endovenous radiofrequency obliteration (closure procedure) versus ligation and stripping in a selected patient population (EVOLVeS Study). J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(2):207-214.
- (281) Campbell WB, France F, Goodwin HM. Medicolegal claims in vascular surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2002; 84(3):181-184.
- (282) Holme JB, Holme K, Sorensen LS. The anatomic relationship between the long saphenous vein and the saphenous nerve. Relevance for radical varicose vein surgery. Acta Chir Scand 1988; 154(11-12):631-633.
- (283) Sam RC, Silverman SH, Bradbury AW. Nerve injuries and varicose vein surgery. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 27(2):113-120.
- (284) Holme JB, Skajaa K, Holme K. Incidence of lesions of the saphenous nerve after partial or complete stripping of the long saphenous vein. Acta Chir Scand 1990; 156(2):145-148.
- (285) Flu HC, Breslau PJ, Hamming JF, Lardenoye JW. A prospective study of incidence of saphenous nerve injury after total great saphenous vein stripping. Dermatol Surg 2008; 34(10):1333-1339.
- (286) Kostas TT, Ioannou CV, Veligrantakis M, Pagonidis C, Katsamouris AN. The appropriate length of great saphenous vein stripping should be based on the extent of reflux and not on the intent to avoid saphenous nerve injury. J Vasc Surg 2007; 46(6):1234-1241.
- (287) Morrison C, Dalsing MC. Signs and symptoms of saphenous nerve injury after greater saphenous vein stripping: prevalence, severity, and relevance for modern practice. J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(5):886-890.
- (288) Atkin GK, Round T, Vattipally VR, Das SK. Common peroneal nerve injury as a complication of short saphenous vein surgery. Phlebology 2007; 22(1):3-7.
- (289) van Rij AM, Chai J, Hill GB, Christie RA. Incidence of deep vein thrombosis after varicose vein surgery. Br J Surg 2004; 91(12):1582-1585.

- (290) Rudstrom H, Bjorck M, Bergqvist D. latrogenic vascular injuries in varicose vein surgery: a systematic review. World J Surg 2007; 31(1):228-233.
- (291) De Maeseneer MG, Vandenbroeck CP, Van Schil PE. Silicone patch saphenoplasty to prevent repeat recurrence after surgery to treat recurrent saphenofemoral incompetence: long-term follow-up study. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(1):98-105.
- (292) Dwerryhouse S, Davies B, Harradine K, Earnshaw JJ. Stripping the long saphenous vein reduces the rate of reoperation for recurrent varicose veins: five-year results of a randomized trial. J Vasc Surg 1999; 29(4):589-592.
- (293) Fischer R, Linde N, Duff C, Jeanneret C, Chandler JG, Seeber P. Late recurrent saphenofemoral junction reflux after ligation and stripping of the greater saphenous vein. J Vasc Surg 2001; 34(2):236-240.
- (294) Jones L, Braithwaite BD, Selwyn D, Cooke S, Earnshaw JJ. Neovascularisation is the principal cause of varicose vein recurrence: results of a randomised trial of stripping the long saphenous vein. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1996; 12(4):442-445.
- (295) Kofoed SC, Qvamme GM, Schroeder TV, Jakobsen BH. [Causes of need for reoperation following surgery for varicose veins in Denmark]. Ugeskr Laeger 1999; 161(6):779-783.
- (296) van Rij AM, Jiang P, Solomon C, Christie RA, Hill GB. Recurrence after varicose vein surgery: a prospective long-term clinical study with duplex ultrasound scanning and air plethysmography. J Vasc Surg 2003; 38(5):935-943.
- (297) Winterborn RJ, Foy C, Earnshaw JJ. Causes of varicose vein recurrence: late results of a randomized controlled trial of stripping the long saphenous vein. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(4):634-639.
- (298) Davies AH, Steffen C, Cosgrove C, Wilkins DC. Varicose vein surgery: patient satisfaction. J R Coll Surg Edinb 1995; 40(5):298-299.
- (299) Negus D. Recurrent varicose veins: a national problem. Br J Surg 1993; 80(7):823-824.
- (300) Royle JP. Recurrent varicose veins. World J Surg 1986; 10(6):944-953.
- (301) Eklof B, Perrin M, Delis KT, Rutherford RB, Gloviczki P. Updated terminology of chronic venous disorders: the VEIN-TERM transatlantic interdisciplinary consensus document. J Vasc Surg 2009; 49(2):498-501.

- (302) van Rij AM, Jones GT, Hill GB, Jiang P. Neovascularization and recurrent varicose veins: more histologic and ultrasound evidence. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(2):296-302.
- (303) Frings N, Nelle A, Tran P, Fischer R, Krug W. Reduction of neoreflux after correctly performed ligation of the saphenofemoral junction. A randomized trial. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004; 28(3):246-252.
- (304) Winterborn RJ, Foy C, Heather BP, Earnshaw JJ. Randomised trial of flush saphenofemoral ligation for primary great saphenous varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 36(4):477-484.
- (305) Heim D, Negri M, Schlegel U, De MM. Resecting the great saphenous stump with endothelial inversion decreases neither neovascularization nor thigh varicosity recurrence. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47(5):1028-1032.
- (306) De Maeseneer MG, Philipsen TE, Vandenbroeck CP, Lauwers PR, Hendriks JM, De Hert SG et al. Closure of the cribriform fascia: an efficient anatomical barrier against postoperative neovascularisation at the saphenofemoral junction? A prospective study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2007; 34(3):361-366.
- (307) De Maeseneer MG, Giuliani DR, Van Schil PE, De Hert SG. Can interposition of a silicone implant after sapheno-femoral ligation prevent recurrent varicose veins? Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2002; 24(5):445-449.
- (308) De Maeseneer MG, Vandenbroeck CP, Lauwers PR, Hendriks JM, De Hert SG, Van Schil PE. Early and late complications of silicone patch saphenoplasty at the saphenofemoral junction. J Vasc Surg 2006; 44(6):1285-1290.
- (309) Winterborn RJ, Earnshaw JJ. Randomised trial of polytetrafluoroethylene patch insertion for recurrent great saphenous varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2007; 34(3):367-373.
- (310) Goren G, Yellin AE. Invaginated axial saphenectomy by a semirigid stripper: perforate-invaginate stripping. J Vasc Surg 1994; 20(6):970-977.
- (311) Wall ML, Dealey C, Davies RS, Simms MH. Local versus general anaesthesia for varicose veins surgery: a prospective non-randomized controlled trial. Phlebology 2009; 24(2):61-66.
- (312) Rasmussen LH, Bjoern L, Lawaetz M, Blemings A, Lawaetz B, Eklof B. Randomized trial comparing endovenous laser ablation of the great saphenous vein with high ligation and stripping in patients with varicose veins: short-term results. J Vasc Surg 2007; 46(2):308-315.

- (313) Proebstle TM, Paepcke U, Weisel G, Gass S, Weber L. High ligation and stripping of the long saphenous vein using the tumescent technique for local anesthesia. Dermatol Surg 1998; 24(1):149-153.
- (314) Garde C. Cryosurgery of varicose veins. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1994; 20(1):56-58.
- (315) Menyhei G, Gyevnar Z, Arato E, Kelemen O, Kollar L. Conventional stripping versus cryostripping: a prospective randomised trial to compare improvement in quality of life and complications. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35(2):218-223.
- (316) Pittaluga P, Chastanet S, Rea B, Barbe R. Midterm results of the surgical treatment of varices by phlebectomy with conservation of a refluxing saphenous vein. J Vasc Surg 2009; 50(1):107-118.
- (317) Criado E, Lujan S, Izquierdo L, Puras E, Gutierrez M, Fontcuberta J. Conservative hemodynamic surgery for varicose veins. Semin Vasc Surg 2002; 15(1):27-33.
- (318) Mowatt-Larssen E, Shortell C. CHIVA. Semin Vasc Surg 2010; 23(2):118-122.
- (319) Carandina S, Mari C, De PM, Marcellino MG, Cisno C, Legnaro A et al. Varicose vein stripping vs haemodynamic correction (CHIVA): a long term randomised trial. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35(2):230-237.
- (320) Pares JO, Juan J, Tellez R, Mata A, Moreno C, Quer FX et al. Varicose vein surgery: stripping versus the CHIVA method: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2010; 251(4):624-631.
- (321) Cappelli M, Lova RM, Ermini S, Turchi A, Bono G, Bahnini A et al. Ambulatory conservative hemodynamic management of varicose veins: critical analysis of results at 3 years. Ann Vasc Surg 2000; 14(4):376-384.
- (322) Zamboni P, Cisno C, Marchetti F, Mazza P, Fogato L, Carandina S et al. Minimally invasive surgical management of primary venous ulcers vs. compression treatment: a randomized clinical trial. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2003; 25(4):313-318.
- (323) Merchant RF, Pichot O. Long-term outcomes of endovenous radiofrequency obliteration of saphenous reflux as a treatment for superficial venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg 2005; 42(3):502-509.
- (324) Almeida J, Mackay E, Javier J, Mauriello J, Raines J. Saphenous laser ablation at 1470 nm targets the vein wall, not blood. Vasc Endovascular Surg 2009; 43(5):467-472.

- (325) Corcos L, Dini S, De AD, Marangoni O, Ferlaino E, Procacci T et al. The immediate effects of endovenous diode 808-nm laser in the greater saphenous vein: morphologic study and clinical implications. J Vasc Surg 2005; 41(6):1018-1024.
- (326) Corcos L, Dini S, Peruzzi G, Pontello D, Dini M, De AD. Duplex ultrasound changes in the great saphenous vein after endosaphenous laser occlusion with 808-nm wavelength. J Vasc Surg 2008; 48(5):1262-1271.
- (327) van den Bos RR, Kockaert MA, Neumann HA, Nijsten T. Technical review of endovenous laser therapy for varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35(1):88-95.
- (328) Proebstle TM, Sandhofer M, Kargl A, Gul D, Rother W, Knop J et al. Thermal damage of the inner vein wall during endovenous laser treatment: key role of energy absorption by intravascular blood. Dermatol Surg 2002; 28(7):596-600.
- (329) Proebstle TM, Lehr HA, Kargl A, Espinola-Klein C, Rother W, Bethge S et al. Endovenous treatment of the greater saphenous vein with a 940-nm diode laser: thrombotic occlusion after endoluminal thermal damage by laser-generated steam bubbles. J Vasc Surg 2002; 35(4):729-736.
- (330) Bone C. Tratamiento endoluminal de las varices con laser de diodo estudio preliminary. Rev Patol Vasc 1999; 5:35-46.
- (331) Navarro L, Min RJ, Bone C. Endovenous laser: a new minimally invasive method of treatment for varicose veins--preliminary observations using an 810 nm diode laser. Dermatol Surg 2001; 27(2):117-122.
- (332) van den Bos R, Arends L, Kockaert M, Neumann M, Nijsten T. Endovenous therapies of lower extremity varicosities: a meta-analysis. J Vasc Surg 2009; 49(1):230-239.
- (333) Luebke T, Brunkwall J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of endovenous radiofrequency obliteration, endovenous laser therapy, and foam sclerotherapy for primary varicosis. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino) 2008; 49(2):213-233.
- (334) Spreafico G, Kabnick L, Berland TL, Cayne NS, Maldonado TS, Jacobowitz GS et al. Laser saphenous ablations in more than 1,000 limbs with longterm duplex examination follow-up. Ann Vasc Surg 2011; 25(1):71-78.
- (335) Marsh P, Price BA, Holdstock J, Harrison C, Whiteley MS. Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) after venous thermoablation techniques: rates of endovenous heat-induced thrombosis (EHIT) and classical DVT after radiofrequency and endovenous laser ablation in a single centre. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010; 40(4):521-527.

- (336) van den Bos RR, Neumann M, de Roos KP, Nijsten T. Endovenous laser ablation-induced complications: review of the literature and new cases. Dermatol Surg 2009; 35(8):1206-1214.
- (337) Timperman PE. Arteriovenous fistula after endovenous laser treatment of the short saphenous vein. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2004; 15(6):625-627.
- (338) Theivacumar NS, Gough MJ. Arterio-venous fistula following endovenous laser ablation for varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009; 38(2):234-236.
- (339) Ziporin SJ, Ifune CK, MacConmara MP, Geraghty PJ, Choi ET. A case of external iliac arteriovenous fistula and high-output cardiac failure after endovenous laser treatment of great saphenous vein. J Vasc Surg 2010; 51(3):715-719.
- (340) Kabnick LS. Outcome of different endovenous laser wavelengths for great saphenous vein ablation. J Vasc Surg 2006; 43(1):88-93.
- (341) Pannier F, Rabe E, Maurins U. First results with a new 1470-nm diode laser for endovenous ablation of incompetent saphenous veins.
 Phlebology 2009; 24(1):26-30.
- (342) Proebstle TM, Moehler T, Gul D, Herdemann S. Endovenous treatment of the great saphenous vein using a 1,320 nm Nd:YAG laser causes fewer side effects than using a 940 nm diode laser. Dermatol Surg 2005; 31(12):1678-1683.
- (343) Doganci S, Demirkilic U. Comparison of 980 nm laser and bare-tip fibre with 1470 nm laser and radial fibre in the treatment of great saphenous vein varicosities: a prospective randomised clinical trial. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010; 40(2):254-259.
- (344) Chang CJ, Chua JJ. Endovenous laser photocoagulation (EVLP) for varicose veins. Lasers Surg Med 2002; 31(4):257-262.
- (345) Mordon SR, Wassmer B, Zemmouri J. Mathematical modeling of 980-nm and 1320-nm endovenous laser treatment. Lasers Surg Med 2007; 39(3):256-265.
- (346) Schmedt CG, Meissner OA, Hunger K, Babaryka G, Ruppert V, Sadeghi-Azandaryani M et al. Evaluation of endovenous radiofrequency ablation and laser therapy with endoluminal optical coherence tomography in an ex vivo model. J Vasc Surg 2007; 45(5):1047-1058.
- (347) Prince EA, Soares GM, Silva M, Taner A, Ahn S, Dubel GJ et al. Impact of laser fiber design on outcome of endovenous ablation of lower-extremity

varicose veins: results from a single practice. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2011; 34(3):536-541.

- (348) Proebstle TM, Vago B, Alm J, Gockeritz O, Lebard C, Pichot O. Treatment of the incompetent great saphenous vein by endovenous radiofrequency powered segmental thermal ablation: first clinical experience. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47(1):151-156.
- (349) Creton D, Pichot O, Sessa C, Proebstle TM. Radiofrequency-powered segmental thermal obliteration carried out with the ClosureFast procedure: results at 1 year. Ann Vasc Surg 2010; 24(3):360-366.
- (350) Goode SD, Chowdhury A, Crockett M, Beech A, Simpson R, Richards T et al. Laser and radiofrequency ablation study (LARA study): a randomised study comparing radiofrequency ablation and endovenous laser ablation (810 nm). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010; 40(2):246-253.
- (351) van den Bos RR, Milleret R, Neumann M, Nijsten T. Proof-of-principle study of steam ablation as novel thermal therapy for saphenous varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2011; 53(1):181-186.
- (352) Jakobsen BH. The value of different forms of treatment for varicose veins. Br J Surg 1979; 66(3):182-184.
- (353) Hobbs JT. Surgery or sclerotherapy for varicose veins: 10-year results of a random trial. In: Tesi M, Dormandy JA, editors. *Superficial and Deep Venous Diseases of the Lower Limbs*. Turin: Panminerva Medica; 1984. 243-248.
- (354) Cabrera Garido JR, Cabrera Garcia Olmedo JR, Garcia Olmedo Dominguez. Nuevo método de esclerosis en las varices tronculares. Patol Vasculares 1995; 4(1):55-73.
- (355) Tessari L, Cavezzi A, Frullini A. Preliminary experience with a new sclerosing foam in the treatment of varicose veins. Dermatol Surg 2001; 27(1):58-60.
- (356) Yamaki T, Nozaki M, Iwasaka S. Comparative study of duplex-guided foam sclerotherapy and duplex-guided liquid sclerotherapy for the treatment of superficial venous insufficiency. Dermatol Surg 2004; 30(5):718-722.
- (357) Cabrera J, Cabrera J, Jr., Garcia-Olmedo MA. Sclerosants in microfoam. A new approach in angiology. Int Angiol 2001; 20(4):322-329.
- (358) Bradbury AW, Bate G, Pang K, Darvall KA, Adam DJ. Ultrasound-guided foam sclerotherapy is a safe and clinically effective treatment for superficial venous reflux. J Vasc Surg 2010; 52(4):939-945.

- (359) Smith PC. Chronic venous disease treated by ultrasound guided foam sclerotherapy. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 32(5):577-583.
- (360) Jia X, Mowatt G, Burr JM, Cassar K, Cook J, Fraser C. Systematic review of foam sclerotherapy for varicose veins. Br J Surg 2007; 94(8):925-936.
- (361) Sarvananthan T, Shepherd AC, Willenberg T, Davies AH. Neurological complications of sclerotherapy for varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2011.
- (362) Wright DD, Gibson KD, Barclay J, Razumovsky A, Rush J, McCollum CN. High prevalence of right-to-left shunt in patients with symptomatic great saphenous incompetence and varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2010; 51(1):104-107.
- (363) Morrison N, Neuhardt DL, Rogers CR, McEown J, Morrison T, Johnson E et al. Comparisons of side effects using air and carbon dioxide foam for endovenous chemical ablation. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47(4):830-836.
- (364) Mekako A, Hatfield J, Bryce J, Heng M, Lee D, McCollum P et al. Combined endovenous laser therapy and ambulatory phlebectomy: refinement of a new technique. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 32(6):725-729.
- (365) Shepherd AC, Gohel MS, Lim CS, Hamish M, Davies AH. The treatment of varicose veins: an investigation of patient preferences and expectations. Phlebology 2010; 25(2):54-65.
- (366) Proebstle TM, Krummenauer F, Gul D, Knop J. Nonocclusion and early reopening of the great saphenous vein after endovenous laser treatment is fluence dependent. Dermatol Surg 2004; 30(2 Pt 1):174-178.
- (367) Theivacumar NS, Dellagrammaticas D, Beale RJ, Mavor AI, Gough MJ. Factors influencing the effectiveness of endovenous laser ablation (EVLA) in the treatment of great saphenous vein reflux. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35(1):119-123.
- (368) Timperman PE, Sichlau M, Ryu RK. Greater energy delivery improves treatment success of endovenous laser treatment of incompetent saphenous veins. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2004; 15(10):1061-1063.
- (369) Proebstle TM, Moehler T, Herdemann S. Reduced recanalization rates of the great saphenous vein after endovenous laser treatment with increased energy dosing: definition of a threshold for the endovenous fluence equivalent. J Vasc Surg 2006; 44(4):834-839.
- (370) Timperman PE. Prospective evaluation of higher energy great saphenous vein endovenous laser treatment. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2005; 16(6):791-794.

- (371) Beale R, Theivacumar N, Mavor AID, Gough MJ. Endovenous Laser Treatment for varicose veins? A randomised controlled trial in patients with saphenous incompetence. Br J Surg 2006; 93(S2):50.
- (372) Mekako AI, Hatfield J, Bryce J, Lee D, McCollum PT, Chetter I. A nonrandomised controlled trial of endovenous laser therapy and surgery in the treatment of varicose veins. Ann Vasc Surg 2006; 20(4):451-457.
- (373) Green SB. How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis? Multivariate Behavioural Research 1991; 26:499-510.
- (374) Shapiro SS, Wilk MB. An analysis of variance test for normality. Biometrika 1965; 52 (3-4):591-611.
- (375) Altman DG. Principals of statistical analysis. Practical Statistics For Medical Research. London: Chapman & Hall; 1991. 152-178.
- (376) Student. The probable error of a mean. Biometrika 1908; 6(1):1-25.
- (377) Fisher RA. The correlation between relatives on the supposition of mendelian inheritance. Trans Royal Soc Edin 1918; 52:399-433.
- (378) Wilcoxon F. Individual comparisons by ranking methods. Biometrika 1945; 33(1):80-83.
- (379) Friedman M. The use of ranks to avoid the assumptions of normality implicit in the analysis of varience. J Amer Statist Assn 1937; 32:675-701.
- (380) Mann HB, Whitney DR. On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. Ann Math Stat 1947; 18:50-60.
- (381) Pearson K. On the criterion that a given system of deviations from the probable in the case of a correlated system of variables is such that it can be reasonable supposed to have arisen from random sampling. Philos Mag 1900; 50(5):157-175.
- (382) Fisher RA. On the interpretation of chi square from contingency tables, and the calculation of P. J Roy Stat Soc 1922; 85:87-94.
- (383) Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. J Amer Statist Assn 1958; 53:457-481.
- (384) Studenmund AH. Using econometrics: a practical guide. Pearson Education; 2005.
- (385) World Medical Association. WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. <u>http://www.wma.net</u>. 2008.

- (386) The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). Endovenous laser treatment of the long saphenous vein. N0499. 2004.
- (387) Consensus statement on mandatory registration of clinical trials. Br J Surg 2007; 94(4):511-512.
- (388) Angst F, Aeschlimann A, Stucki G. Smallest detectable and minimal clinically important differences of rehabilitation intervention with their implications for required sample sizes using WOMAC and SF-36 quality of life measurement instruments in patients with osteoarthritis of the lower extremities. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 45(4):384-391.
- (389) Samsa G, Edelman D, Rothman ML, Williams GR, Lipscomb J, Matchar D. Determining clinically important differences in health status measures: a general approach with illustration to the Health Utilities Index Mark II. Pharmacoeconomics 1999; 15(2):141-155.
- (390) The NHS Information Centre. Health Survey for England. The Information Centre for health and social care [2008 [cited 2011 Apr. 9]; Available from: URL:<u>http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/healthand-lifestyles-related-surveys/health-survey-for-england/health-surveyfor-england--2008-trend-tables</u>
- (391) Walters SJ, Brazier JE. What is the relationship between the minimally important difference and health state utility values? The case of the SF-6D. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003; 1:4.
- (392) Darvall KA, Bate GR, Adam DJ, Bradbury AW. Recovery after ultrasoundguided foam sclerotherapy compared with conventional surgery for varicose veins. Br J Surg 2009; 96(11):1262-1267.
- (393) Disselhoff BC, der Kinderen DJ, Kelder JC, Moll FL. Randomized clinical trial comparing endovenous laser with cryostripping for great saphenous varicose veins. Br J Surg 2008; 95(10):1232-1238.
- (394) Subramonia S, Lees T. Randomized clinical trial of radiofrequency ablation or conventional high ligation and stripping for great saphenous varicose veins. Br J Surg 2010; 97(3):328-336.
- (395) Darwood RJ, Theivacumar N, Dellagrammaticas D, Mavor AI, Gough MJ. Randomized clinical trial comparing endovenous laser ablation with surgery for the treatment of primary great saphenous varicose veins. Br J Surg 2008; 95(3):294-301.
- (396) Kalteis M, Berger I, Messie-Werndl S, Pistrich R, Schimetta W, Polz W et al. High ligation combined with stripping and endovenous laser ablation of the great saphenous vein: early results of a randomized controlled study. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47(4):822-829.

- (397) Kurz X, Lamping DL, Kahn SR, Baccaglini U, Zuccarelli F, Spreafico G et al. Do varicose veins affect quality of life? Results of an international population-based study. J Vasc Surg 2001; 34(4):641-648.
- (398) Min RJ, Khilnani NM. Endovenous laser treatment of saphenous vein reflux. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 2003; 6(3):125-131.
- (399) Theivacumar NS, Dellagrammaticas D, Mavor AI, Gough MJ. Endovenous laser ablation: does standard above-knee great saphenous vein ablation provide optimum results in patients with both above- and below-knee reflux? A randomized controlled trial. J Vasc Surg 2008; 48(1):173-178.
- (400) Desmyttere J, Grard C, Wassmer B, Mordon S. Endovenous 980-nm laser treatment of saphenous veins in a series of 500 patients. J Vasc Surg 2007; 46(6):1242-1247.
- (401) Shepherd AC, Gohel MS, Brown LC, Metcalfe MJ, Hamish M, Davies AH. Randomized clinical trial of VNUS ClosureFAST radiofrequency ablation versus laser for varicose veins. Br J Surg 2010; 97(6):810-818.
- (402) van den Bremer J, Joosten PP, Hamming JF, Moll FL. Implementation of endovenous laser ablation for varicose veins in a large community hospital: the first 400 procedures. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009; 37(4):486-491.
- (403) Darwood RJ, Walker N, Bracey M, Cowan AR, Thompson JF, Campbell WB. Return to work, driving and other activities after varicose vein surgery is very variable and is influenced little by advice from specialists. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009; 38(2):213-219.
- (404) Wright AP, Berridge DC, Scott DJ. Return to work following varicose vein surgery: influence of type of operation, employment and social status. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006; 31(5):553-557.
- (405) Berni A, Tromba L, Mosti G, Mele R, Tombesi T, Bedoni P et al. [Recurrence of varicose veins after treatment. Multicenter study by the Italian Doppler Club, Clinical and Technological Society]. Minerva Cardioangiol 1998; 46(4):87-90.
- (406) Egan B, Donnelly M, Bresnihan M, Tierney S, Feeley M. Neovascularization: an "innocent bystander" in recurrent varicose veins. J Vasc Surg 2006; 44(6):1279-1284.
- (407) Geier B, Stucker M, Hummel T, Burger P, Frings N, Hartmann M et al. Residual stumps associated with inguinal varicose vein recurrences: a multicenter study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 36(2):207-210.

- (408) Jiang P, van Rij AM, Christie R, Hill G, Solomon C, Thomson I. Recurrent varicose veins: patterns of reflux and clinical severity. Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 7(3):332-339.
- (409) Joshi D, Sinclair A, Tsui J, Sarin S. Incomplete Removal of Great Saphenous Vein Is the most Common Cause of Recurrent Varicose Veins. Angiology 2010.
- (410) Nyamekye I, Shephard NA, Davies B, Heather BP, Earnshaw JJ. Clinicopathological evidence that neovascularisation is a cause of recurrent varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1998; 15(5):412-415.
- (411) De Maeseneer MG, Vandenbroeck CP, Hendriks JM, Lauwers PR, Van Schil PE. Accuracy of duplex evaluation one year after varicose vein surgery to predict recurrence at the sapheno-femoral junction after five years. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2005; 29(3):308-312.
- (412) Gibbs PJ, Foy DM, Darke SG. Reoperation for recurrent saphenofemoral incompetence: a prospective randomised trial using a reflected flap of pectineus fascia. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 1999; 18(6):494-498.
- (413) Pittaluga P, Chastanet S, Guex JJ. Great saphenous vein stripping with preservation of sapheno-femoral confluence: hemodynamic and clinical results. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47(6):1300-1304.
- (414) Timperman PE. Endovenous laser treatment of incompetent below-knee great saphenous veins. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2007; 18(12):1495-1499.
- (415) Pichot O, Kabnick LS, Creton D, Merchant RF, Schuller-Petroviae S, Chandler JG. Duplex ultrasound scan findings two years after great saphenous vein radiofrequency endovenous obliteration. J Vasc Surg 2004; 39(1):189-195.
- (416) Theivacumar NS, Dellagrammaticas D, Beale RJ, Mavor AI, Gough MJ. Fate and clinical significance of saphenofemoral junction tributaries following endovenous laser ablation of great saphenous vein. Br J Surg 2007; 94(6):722-725.
- (417) Carradice D, Mekako AI, Mazari FA, Samuel N, Hatfield J, Chetter IC. Randomized clinical trial of endovenous laser ablation compared with conventional surgery for great saphenous varicose veins. Br J Surg 2011; 98(4):501-510.
- (418) Johnson JA, Coons SJ. Comparison of the EQ-5D and SF-12 in an adult US sample. Qual Life Res 1998; 7(2):155-166.

- (419) Carradice D, Mekako AI, Hatfield J, Chetter IC. Randomized clinical trial of concomitant or sequential phlebectomy after endovenous laser therapy for varicose veins. Br J Surg 2009; 96(4):369-375.
- (420) Goldman MP, Amiry S. Closure of the greater saphenous vein with endoluminal radiofrequency thermal heating of the vein wall in combination with ambulatory phlebectomy: 50 patients with more than 6-month follow-up. Dermatol Surg 2002; 28(1):29-31.
- (421) Keel D, Goldman MP. Tumescent anesthesia in ambulatory phlebectomy: addition of epinephrine. Dermatol Surg 1999; 25(5):371-372.
- (422) Gohel MS, Epstein DM, Davies AH. Cost-effectiveness of traditional and endovenous treatments for varicose veins. Br J Surg 2010; 97(12):1815-1823.
- (423) Ghauri AS, Taylor MC, Deacon JE, Whyman MR, Earnshaw JJ, Heather BP et al. Influence of a specialized leg ulcer service on management and outcome. Br J Surg 2000; 87(8):1048-1056.